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PART |
| tem 1. Business.

INTRODUCTION

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Tlgfoour subsidiaries, we currently own and/or ojgesatotal of nineteen adult nightclubs
offer live adult entertainment, restaurant and dgagrations. Six of our clubs operate under the ndRiek's Cabaret"; four operate under
name “Club Onyx”,upscale venues that welcome all customers but especially to urban professionals, businessmen paofbssione
athletes; five operate under the name "XTC Cabaost® club that operates as “Tootsie’s Cabaret” @ma that operates as “Cabaret North”
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin, San Antordallas and Fort Worth, Texas; Charlotte, Northdliaa; Minneapolis, Minnesota; N¢
York, New York; Miami Gardens, Florida; PhiladelphiPennsylvania and Las Vegas, Nevada. In ApriB20@: acquired a media divisit
including the leading trade magazine serving thétinmillion dollar adult nightclubs industry. As part the transaction we also acquired
industry trade shows, two other industry trade jgaltions and more than 25 industry websites.

We also own and operate premiere adult entertaihnieternet websites. Our online entertainment sitgs, CouplesTouch.co
NaughtyBids.com and xxxpassword.com. CouplesToaah.is a personals site for those in the swingifestyle. Naughtybids.com is ¢
online adult auction site. It contains consurimétiated auctions for items such as adult videggarel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and
erotica. There are typically approximately 10,0@fve auctions at this site at any given time. WWarge the seller a fee for each succe
auction. The site xxxPassword.com features adulterd licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Most ofr @ites use proprietary softwi
platforms written by us to deliver the best expeeto the user without being constrained by offshelf software solutions.

Our website address is www.Ricks.cordpon written request, we make available freeharge our Annual Report on Form KQ-Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Forky &nd all amendments to those reports as sooeas®mably practicable after such mat
is electronically filed with the SEC under SecestiExchange Act of 1934, as amended. Informatiortagmed in the website shall not
construed as part of this Form 10-K.

References to “us,” “Rick’s” or the “Company” am@ Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. and include ©&00%-owned, 85%-owned and 51%-
owned consolidated subsidiaries.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaret1883 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclub rmss was characterized by st
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were dfignthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance arsdmality were not maintained and it was custonfaryperformers to alternate betw:
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and gualitbar service was low and food was not frequeotfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jock®gually, only cash was accepted. Many businesselémricomfortable in such environme
Recognizing a void in the market for a firdasss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartdrget the more affluent customer by providi
unique quality entertainment environment. The folltg summarizes our areas of operation that distgtgus:

Female EntertainersOur policy is to maintain high standards for bp#irsonal appearance and personality for the airters an
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performerityalbo present herself attractively and to talktlwcustomers. We prefer tl
performers who work at our clubs be experiencedreainers. We make a determination as to whettparticular applicant is suitat
based on such factors of appearance, attitudes,dcesnmunication skills and demeanor. At all cluescept for our Minnesc
location, the entertainers are independent comtra.ctVe do not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the toplesdustry, as well as from large restaurant and chdirgs, in the belief th
management with experience in the sector adds rt@loility to grow and attract quality entertaineidanagement with experience
able to train new recruits from outside the industr

Compliance Policies/EmployeedVe have a policy of ensuring that our businesypirated in conformity with local, state and fed
laws. In particular, we have a "no tolerance" polés to illegal drug use in or around the premigassters placed throughout
nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do periodi@aonounced searches of the entertainers' locketsrt&imers and waitresses who ar
for work are not allowed to leave the premises atththe permission of management. If an entertadoes leave the premises, st
not allowed to return to work until the next dayeWontinually monitor the behavior of entertainexsitresses and customer:
ensure that proper standards of behavior are obderv
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Compliance Policies/Credit CardsWe review all credit card charges made by outamsrs. We have in place a formal po
requiring that all credit card charges must be ayga, in writing, by management before any chaayesaccepted. Managemer
trained to review credit card charges to ensurettieaonly charges approved for payment are fod faoink and entertainment.

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our mdraetult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &gloy service managers who recruit and traingasibnal wait staff and ens
that each customer receives prompt and courteawicee We employ chefs with restaurant experier@ar bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a reacgcomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of jwemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thatd¢ustomer perceives and obt
good value. At most locations, our restaurant dpmra provide business lunch buffets and full luacidl dinner menu service with
and cold appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, astklo An extensive selection of quality winesvaikable at most locations.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essetatiiie successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar busine
At each location, we have designed and implememttnal procedures and controls to ensure theaiityeof our operational ar
accounting records. Wherever practicable, we sépananagement personnel from all cash handlindhgbrhanagement is isola
from and does not handle any cash. We use a cotitiraf accounting and physical inventory contr@ahanisms to maintain a h
level of integrity in our accounting practices.dnhation technology plays a significant role in tajmg and analyzing a variety
information to provide management with the inforimatnecessary to efficiently manage and controhedghtclub. Deposits of ca
and credit card receipts are reconciled each daydaily income report. In addition, we review odaily basis (i) cash and credit ¢
summaries which tie together all cash and creditl teansactions occurring at the front door, theskia the club and the casft
station, (i) a summary of the daily bartendersgdatout reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalgsis which reconciles t
previous day's cash on hand to the requirementthénext day's operations. These daily computesrte alert local managemen
any variances from expected financial results baseldistorical norms. We conduct a monthly overvivour financial condition ar
operating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faediand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrfghtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music selett entertainer and waitress appearance and adices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wguet of the businessmen’s market, some of our digigdnclude a VI
room, which is open to individuals who purchase merships. A VIP room provides a higher level ofvé=r and luxury.

Advertising and PromotionOur consumer marketing strategy is to position“®ick's Cabaretbrand clubs as premiere entertainr
facilities that provide exceptional topless entarteent in a fun, yet discreet, environment. We aisariety of highly targeted methc
to reach our customers including hotel publicatidnsal radio, cable television, newspapers, bils, taxieab reader boards, and
Internet, as well as a variety of promotional caigps. These campaigns ensure that the Rick's Catamee is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumhedia exposure over the years in national magazneh as Playboy, Penthol
Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time &age, Time Out New York, and Texas Monthly MagaziSegments abc
Rick's have aired on national and local televigiwograms such as “20/20"EXtra" and "Inside Edition", and we have provi
entertainers for Pay-P&fiew features as well. Business stories about Ri€ldbaret have appeared in Forbes, Newsweek, THi
Street Journal, The New York Times, The New YorktPhos Angeles Times, Houston Business Journdl namerous other natiol
and regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Rickdbatet”in Houston, San Antonio and Fort Worth, Texas; Miapolis, Minnesota; Ne
York, New York; and Las Vegas, Nevada. We also anRick's Cabaret in Austin, Texas which is curretiited for sale. We also operal
similar nightclub under the name “Tootsie’s CabiametMiami Gardens, Florida. We also operate a totdbur nightclubs (one in Houston, ¢
in Dallas, one in Charlotte, North Carolina and am@hiladelphia, Pennsylvania), as “Club Onyupscale venues that welcome all custol
but cater especially to urban professionals, basimen and professional athletes. Additionally, we dive nightclubs that operate axTC
Cabaret”in San Antonio, Austin, Dallas, and two in Houstdexas. We sold our New Orleans, Louisiana nightétu March 1999, but
continues to use the name “Rick’s Cabaret” undereasing agreement.
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RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On November 30, 2007, we entered into a Stock RwehAgreement for the acquisition of 100% of theuésl and outstandi
common stock of Stellar Management Corporationlioaida corporation (the "Stellar Stock") and 100%he issued and outstand
common stock of Miami Gardens Square One, Inc.Josida corporation (the "MGSO Stock") which ownsdaoperates an ad
entertainment cabaret known as "Tootsie’'s Cabdf€tiotsie’s") located at 150 NW 183rd Street, Miami Gardéiigrida 33169 (th
"Transaction"). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase é&gemnt, we acquired the Stellar Stock and the MG&0kSrom Norman Hickmol
("Hickmore") and Richard Stanton (“Stanton") fortadal purchase price of $25,000,000 payable $150@@0in cash and paya
$10,000,000 pursuant to two Secured PromissorysNiatehe amount of $5,000,000 each to Stanton aokintbre (the "Notes"). Tt
Notes will bear interest at the rate of 14% peruantwith the principal payable in one lump sum pagtr@n November 30, 2012,
amended. Interest on the Notes will be payable hipnin arrears, with the first payment being dhiety (30) days after the closing
the Transaction. We cannot ppay the Notes during the first twelve (12) monthereafter, we may prepay the Notes, in whole
part, provided that (i) any prepayment by us froec@mber 1, 2008 through November 30, 2009, shabimk at a rate of 110% of 1
original principal amount and (ii) any prepaymentus after November 30, 2009, may be prepaid witenalty at a rate of 100%
the original principal amount. The Notes are sedurg the Stellar Stock and MGSO Stock under a Rleattgd Security Agreeme
Additionally, as part of the Transaction, we entdeingto Assignment to Lease Agreements with the llznddfor the property whe
Tootsies is located. The underlying Lease Agreementsherproperty provide for an original lease term tigio June 30, 2014, w
two option periods which give us the right to letdtse property through June 30, 2034. The termscanditions of the transaction wi
the result of extensive arm's length negotiaticetsvben the partie

2. On March 31, 2008, our wholly owned subsidiary, FEDtertainment (Philadelphia), Inc. (t“Purchase’) completed the acquisiti
of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares ofrcamstock (the “TEZ Sharest)f The End Zone, Inc., a Pennsylvania corpor:
(the “Corporation”) which owns and operated a nigit previously known as “Crazy Horse Too Caba(#té “Club”) located at 29C
South Columbus Blvd., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania4B(the “Real Property”) from Vincent Piazza (tf&eller”). As part of th
transaction, our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holgh, Inc. (“RCI Holdings”acquired from the Piazza Family Limited Partner
(the “Partnership Seller”) 51% of the issued antb@nding partnership interest (the “Partnershiprests”)in TEZ Real Estate, LP
Pennsylvania limited partnership (the “Partnershigrid 51% of the issued and outstanding membeiatgpest (the Membershi
Interests”)in TEZ Management, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited iliop company, which is the general partner of f&rtnership (tt
“General Partner”’)The Partnership owns the Real Property where thd @ located. At closing, we paid a purchase pot
$3,500,000 in cash for the Partnership InterestsMembership Interests, and issued 195,000 shéresraestricted common stac
(the“Rick’s Share”) valued at $23 per share for the TEZ She

As part of the transaction and as amended in A%19, we entered into a Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreement with the Seller pursuar
which, on or after one year after the closing dtte,Seller shall have the right, but not the ddlign, to have Ricls purchase fro
Seller not more than 3,000 Rick’s Shares per méthia “Monthly Shares”), calculated at a price peare equal to $23.00\alue o
the Rick’s Shares™until March 31, 2010 and at the rate of 5,000 shaer month thereafter until the Seller has recki$4,485,00
from the sale of the shares. At our election duany given month, we may either buy the Monthlyi®k or, if we elect notto b
the Monthly Shares from the Seller, then the Sellall sell the Monthly Shares in the open marlkety deficiency between tl
amount which the Seller receives from the salehefMonthly Shares and the Value of the RécEhares shall be paid by us wi
three (3) business days of the date of sale oMbethly Shares during that particular month. Ohligation to purchase the Montl
Shares from the Seller shall terminate and ceasedt time as the Seller has received a total @f8H000 from the sale of the Rigk’
Shares and any deficiency. As of September 309,2€@e 177,000 shares of restricted common stocte vetassified on tf
consolidated balance sheet as temporary equitgdordance with ASC Topic 48Classification and Measurement of Redeerr
Securities In April 2009, we renegotiated the terms of thpat options. Under the new terms, we have extepdgback and reduc
the number of shares that can be put back to wscoNsideration was required by us to renegotieedrms of the put options.

Additionally, at closing, the Seller and the Parshép Seller entered a fiwgear agreement not to compete with us within a tywé€20)
mile radius of the Club. Finally, the Corporatiantered into a new lease agreement with the Paktipegéving it the right to lease t
Real Property for twenty (20) years (“Original T&fnwith an option for an additional nine (9) yearsvele (11) eleven mont
(“Option Term”) with rent payable at the rate of (i) $50,000 penthpsubject to adjustment for increases in thesGorer Price Inde
(CPI) every five years during the Original Term a&hd Option Term, or (ii) 8% of gross sales, whigreis higher. The maximu
increase in the CPI for any five (5) year periodlsbhe 15%.

3. On March 31, 2008, our subsidiary, RCI Entertaint{@ustin), Inc. “RCI"), completed the acquisition of 49% of the membel
interest of Playmates Gentlemen’s Club, LLC (“Playes”) from Behzad Bahrami (“Sellerfesulting in 100% ownership by us
RCI. Playmates owns an adult entertainment calpaestously known as “Playmates” (the “Cluldtjcated at 8110 Springdale Rc
Austin, Texas 78724 (the “PremisesUnder the terms of the Purchase Agreement, RCI paiotal purchase price of $1,401,
which was paid $701,711 in cash and debt forgiveaeshe time of closing and the issuance of 35d0@0es of our restricted comn
stock valued at $20.00 per share (the “Sharésd)).accounting purposes, our investment in 20@gig $751,000, due to the previt
losses of the minority interest which have beereegpd. The investment has been assigned to goc
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Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreemenasiggnended in April 2009, on or after one yeaerdfie closing date, the Se
shall have the right, but not the obligation to éiaxs purchase from Seller not more than 2,500 Shaee month (the Monthly
Shares”), calculated at a price per share equ2@®00 (“Value of the Shares"Beller shall notify us during any given month &
election to “Put'the Monthly Shares to us during that particular thorAt our election during any given month, we nadtyher buy th
Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy the MdytBhares from the Seller, then the Seller shdlltee Monthly Shares in the op
market. Any deficiency between the amount whiah $teller receives from the sale of the Monthly 88and the Value of the She
shall be paid by us within three (3) business ddythe date of sale of the Monthly Shares durirag ffarticular month. Our obligati
to purchase the Monthly Shares from the Sellerl sbahinate and cease at such time as the Selterdweived a total of $700,C
from the sale of the Shares. As of September 8092the 20,000 shares of restricted common stoeke velassified on ti
consolidated balance sheet as temporary equitgdnrdance with ASC Topic 48Classification and Measurement of Redeen
Securities. In April 2009, we renegotiated the terms of thasd other put options. No consideration was reguby us to renegotie
the terms of these put options. Under the newdeme have extended payback and reduced the nwhbbares that can be put b
to us. In the event the Seller elects not to “Rb# Shares to us, the Seller shall not sell mose 10,000 Shares during any @y
period in the open market, provided that Seller gles with Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1938,amended, in connection v
his sale of the Shares. The full results of openatof this entity are included in our resultoperations since March 31, 2008.

4. On April 11, 2008, our wholly owned subsidiary, RBlitertainment (Dallas), Inc., completed the adtjais of 100% of the issued a
outstanding partnership interest (the "Partnershiprest”) of Hotel Development Fexas, Ltd, a Texas limited partnership
"Partnership") and 100% of the issued and outstendiembership interest (the "Membership Interest"HD-Texas Manageme!
LLC, a Texas limited liability company, the genepartner of the Partnership (the "General Partriedh Jerry Golding, Kenne
Meyer, and Charles McClure (the "Sellers"). ThetiRaship owns and operates an adult entertainmadydret previously known
"The Executive Club" (the "Club™), located at 8580rth Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75247 (treal'Rroperty”). As part
the transaction, our wholly owned subsidiary, R@Idihgs, Inc. ("RCI"), also acquired the Real Pmyp&om DPC Holdings, LLC,
Texas limited liability company ("DPC"

At closing, we paid a total purchase price of $8,609 for the Partnership Interest and Membershigrést, which was paid throt
the issuance of 50,694 shares of our restrictedroammstock to each of Messrs. Golding, Meyer and M for an aggregate total
152,082 shares (collectively, the "Rick's Club #B8r to be valued at $23.30 per share ($3,544,808) $46,490 in cash. .
consideration for the purchase of the Real Prop&®©/ paid total consideration of $5,599,721, whigds paid (i) $4,250,000, paya
$610,000 in cash and $3,640,000 through the issuaha five year promissory note (the "PromissonteN) and (ii) the issuance
57,918 shares of our restricted common stock (Riek’s Real Property Shares") to be valued at B3 share ($1,349,721). 7
Promissory Note bears interest at a varying rateexgreater of (i) two percent (2%) above the BriRate or (ii) seven and ommedf
percent (7.5%), and is guaranteed by Rick's andl [EBmgan, our Chief Executive Officer, individualkt Closing, the Parties ente
into an Amendment to Purchase Agreement solelyrdwige for the Sellers to set aside 10,500 RickidoGhares under an Escr
Agreement for the offset of certain liabilities thie Partnership. We also incurred costs in theuarnof $37,848, which was paid
cash.

At Closing and as amended in May 2009, the Sebetered into Lock-Up/Lealdut Agreements pursuant to which on or after
year after the closing date, the Sellers shall lihgeight, but not the obligation to have Rickisghase from Sellers not more thai
aggregate of 2,172 Shares per month (the "Monthiyp Ghares"), calculated at a price per share equd®5.00 per share ("Value
the Rick's Club Shares") from April 11, 2009 ustpril 11, 2010, at the rate of 4,347 shares pertménom April 11, 2010 until Apr
11, 2012 and thereafter at the rate of 3,621 stmemonth until each of the individual Sellers haceived a total of $1,267,350 fr
the sale of the Rick's Club Shares. At our electioring any given month, we may either buy the MonClub Shares or, if we ele
not to buy the Monthly Club Shares from the Sejl¢ghen the Sellers shall sell the Monthly Club ®isain the open market. A
deficiency between the amount, which the Sellecgive from the sale of the Monthly Club Shares @& Value of the Rick's Ch
Shares shall be paid by us within three (3) busirdsys of the date of sale of the Monthly Club 8kaduring that particul
month. Our obligation to purchase the Monthly CiHmres from the Sellers shall terminate and catasech time as the Sellers h
received an aggregate total of $3,802,050 frons#he of the Rick's Club Shares and any deficiency.

Additionally, at Closing and as amended in May 2DPC entered into a Lock-Up/Le&kdt Agreement pursuant to which on or ¢
one year after the closing date, DPC shall haveigig, but not the obligation to have Rick's puasé from DPC not more than ¢
Shares per month (the "Monthly Real Estate Sharealgulated at a price per share equal to $25d0Gpare ("Value of the Ricl
Real Estate shares") from April 11, 2009 until Adrd, 2010, at the rate of 1,653 shares per mawth April 11, 2010 until April 11
2012 and thereafter at the rate of 1,379 sharempath until DPC has received a total of $1,447,86fh the sale of the Rick's R
Estate Shares. At our election during any giventimome may either buy the Monthly Real Estate Shareif we elect not to buy t
Monthly Real Estate Shares from DPC, then DPC sedllithe Monthly Real Estate Shares in the operkebtaAny deficiency betwet
the amount which DPC receives from the sale oMbethly Real Estate Shares and the Value of th&'RReal Estate Shares shal
paid by us within three (3) business days of thee dd sale of the Monthly Real Estate Shares dutitag particular month. O
obligation to purchase the Monthly Real Estate &hdrom DPC shall terminate and cease at such asnBPC has received
aggregate total of $1,447,950 from the sale oRinl's Real Estate Shares and any deficiency.
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Finally, at Closing each of the Sellers enteredva year Non€ompetition Agreement with us pursuant to whichythgreed not 1
compete with us in Dallas County or any adjacenntp.

5. On June 18, 2008, our wholly owned subsidiary R@teEainment (Northwest Highway), Inc. (tI*Purchase’) completed th
acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchased A¥sef North by East Entertainment, Ltd., a Texasted partnership (the “SellerBy
and through its general partner, Northeast Platinulb®, a Texas limited liability company (the “Geaé Partner”)pursuant to ¢
Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 10, 2008. Ther ®&/ned and operated an adult entertainmentreallmown as Platinun
Club 1I” (the“Cluk™), located at 10557 Wire Way (at Northwest HighwayaJl&s, Texas 75220 (ttReal Propert”).

At closing, we paid a total purchase price of $0,800 cash for the Purchased Assets. At Closirgptincipal of the Seller entel
into a fiveyear agreement not to compete with the Club byaipey an establishment with an urban theme thdt betves liquor ar
provides live female nude or semitde adult entertainment in Dallas County, Tar@atinty, Texas or any of the adjacent cou
thereto.

As part of the transaction, our wholly owned sulasigd RCI Holdings, Inc. (“RCI”)also acquired the Real Property from Wire V
LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“Wire Way"Pursuant to a Real Estate Purchase and Sale rAgnegthe Real Estat
Agreement”)dated May 10, 2008, RCI paid total consideratiors6f000,000, which was paid $1,650,000 in cash $h850,00
through the issuance of a five (5) year promissmte (the “Promissory Note"Y.he Promissory Note bears interest at a varyirg a
the greater of (i) two percent (2%) above the Privage or (ii) seven and orealf percent (7.5%), which is guaranteed by us lay
Eric Langan, our Chief Executive Officer, individiyaWe also incurred $69,998 in costs, which waglpn cash.

6. On September 5, 2008, our wholly owned gliagi RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), Inc. (the ‘thaser’)completed the acquisiti
of certain assets (the “Purchased Assets”) of id~& Beverage of Las Vegas, LLC, a Nevada limiiability company (the “Selle)’
pursuant to a Third Amended Asset Purchase Agree(tien “Third Amendment”) between Purchaser, Ric€abaret Internation
Inc. (“Rick’s”), Seller, and Harold Danzig (“DanZig Frank Lovaas (“Lovaas”) and Dennis DeGori (“D&@) who are all membe
of Seller. The Seller owned and operated an adu#ér@inment cabaret previously known as “Scorés2 (Club”), located at 33t
Procyon Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102“Real Propert”).

At Closing, Purchaser paid Seller an aggregate atasifollows (the “Purchase Price”):
(i) $12,000,000 payable by wire transt

(ii) $3,000,000 pursuant to a promissory nétke( Rick’s Promissory Note”), executed by and gating Ricks, bearing interest
eight percent (8%) per annum with a five (5) yeaoetization, with monthly payments of principal aimterest, with the initi
monthly payment due in April 2009 with a balloorypeent of all then outstanding principal and intédkge upon the expiration
two (2) years from the execution of the F's Promissory Note; ar

(iii) 200,000 shares of restricted common stock, paevélu0l1 of Ric's (the"Rick’s Share”) issued to the Selle

As part of the transaction and as amended in A9, we entered into a Lock-Up/Le&kt Agreement with the Seller pursuar
which, on or after seven (7) months after the dgslate, the Seller shall have the right, but hetabligation, to have Ric&’'purchas
from Seller a total of 150,000 of the Rick’s Sha&ick’'s Put Share”)in an amount and at a rate of not more than theviig
number of the Rick’s Put Shares per month (the “MynShares”) calculated at a price per share equ@R0.00 per share\falue o
the Rick’s Shares”):

from April 5, 2009 until May 4, 2009, up to a tot#l 15,000 share:

from May 5, 2009 until November 5, 2009 at a r&t8,000 shares per mont
from November 5, 2009 until May 4, 2010 at a rétd,000 shares per mont
from May 5, 2010 until November 4, 2010 at a rdt8,000 shares per month; a
from November 5, 2010 until October 4, 2011 atta od 6,000 shares per mon

OO0Oo0o0oo

At our election during any given month, we may eitbuy the Monthly Shares or, if we elect not ty the Monthly Shares from t
Seller, then the Seller shall sell the Monthly ®isain the open market. Any deficiency between theuant which the Seller recei
from the sale of the Monthly Shares and the Valuth® Rick's Shares shall be paid by us within three (3) lssirdays of the date
sale of the Monthly Shares during that particulanth. Our obligation to purchase the Monthly Shdres the Seller shall terming
and cease at such time as the Seller has receiwedl ®f $3,000,000 from the sale of the Rehares and any deficiency. Undel
terms of the Lock-Up/Leak-Out Agreement, Seller nmog sell more than 25,000 Rick’'s Shares perd@@-period, regardless
whether the Seller “Puts” the Rick’s Put ShareRitk’s or sells them in the open market or otheewis
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Upon closing of the transaction, we entered a tearyNon-Compete Agreement with DeGori (the “DeGNion-Compete
Agreement”) pursuant to which DeGori agreed notcéonpete with the Club by operating an establishnsamving liquor and
providing live female nude or semi-nude adult eaiament in Clark County, Nevada or in a radiu26fmiles of Clark County,
Nevada; provided, however, that the Non-Competifdgneement specifically excluded the Penthouse @lud the Bada Bing Club
located in Clark County, Nevada. We agreed to pag@ri cash consideration of $66,667 for enterirtg ithhe Non-Competition
Agreement. Additionally, at Closing, we also enter@to a 12-month Consulting Agreement with DeG¢itie “Consulting
Agreement”) for a total aggregate of $133,333 insudting fees payable in eighteen (18) equal mgnpalyments of $7,407.38 per
month with the first payment due October 15, 2008.

Upon closing of the transaction, we entered a aa-iNon-Compete Agreement with Lovaas (the “Lovwdas-Compete Agreement”
pursuant to which Lovaas agreed not to compete th¢hClub by operating an establishment servingolicand providing live fema
nude or semi-nude adult entertainment in Clark ®@gudevada, or any of its surrounding countiesyvted, however, that this Non-
Competition Agreement shall specifically exclude #enthouse Club and the Bada Bing Club locat&lark County, Nevada.

2009 Acquisition

7. On September 30, 2009, the Company’s subgidRCI Entertainment (North FW), Inc. (the “Puaskr”), purchased 100% of t
outstanding common shares of Cabaret North, Indexas corporation (“CNI”).CNI owns and operates an adult entertaini
cabaret known as “Cabaret North” (the “Clubcated at 5316 Superior Parkway, Fort Worth, Tes&E06. The Company paid
Sellers total aggregate consideration of $2,300(6%" Purchase Pri("). The Purchase Price was payable as follc

0] $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for the paynm#rdgutstanding liabilities
(i) $2,000,000 to the Sellers; a

(iii) $160,000 to be held in an escrow account to payliabjlities or obligations of CNI which were inged bu
unpaid as of Closing and to be held in connectidh the outcome of certain pending litigatic

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered infive year Noncompetition Agreement, and CNI obtained a consemhfits landlor:
to the sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellethéopurchaser and entered into an addendum tedse lagreement by and betweel
CNI and the landlord of the premises where the @ubcated.

RECENT MEDIA ACQUISITIONS

8. On April 15, 2008, our wholly owned subsidiary, REhtertainment (Media Holdings), Inc., a Texas ooation ("RCI Media")
acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding comshack (the "ED Stock") of ED Publications, Inc.;Texas corporation ("ED'
100% of the issued and outstanding common stook TTEEZE Stock") of TEEZE International, Inc., a |Bweare corporatic
("TEEZE") and 100% of the issued and outstandinghbership interest (the "Membership Interest") oLik&tore Buyers Magazir
LLC, a Georgia limited liability compan'

ED Publications, Inc.

Under the terms of a Purchase Agreement betweenViZaitt ("Waitt"), RClI Media and Rick's Cabaret Imational, Inc. ("Rick's’
dated April 15, 2008 (the "ED Purchase Agreement8,agreed to pay Waitt the following considerationthe purchase of the
Stock:

(i) $300,000 cash at closing;

(i) $200,000 cash payable in 6 months; and

(iii) The issuance of 8,696 shares of restrictehmmn stock valued at $23.00 per share (the "CloStmayes").

(See the explanation below of the subsequent réiagigo of these terms).

Additionally, during the three (3) year period flling the Closing Date (the "Earn Out Period"), Wahall be entitled to es
additional consideration (the "Additional Considea") of up to $2,000,000 (the "Maximum Amount'9rsisting of $500,000 ca
(the “Cash™and 65,217 shares of restricted common stock vat&@3.00 per share (the "Earn Out Shares"), baged the earnin
before income tax, depreciation and amortizatideB(TDA") of RCI Media. RCI Media will pay the Maxiom Amount of th
Additional Consideration to the Seller if RCI Medi&BITDA during the three (3) year period followithe Closing Date totals
aggregate of $2,400,000. At the end of each twgl2¢ month period after the Closing Date, RCI Mestiall determine its EBITD
and shall pay to Waitt any such portion of the Aiddial Consideration as has been earned. The @®&rares and Earn Out Sh:
are collectively referred to as the "Rick's Shares"
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At Closing, Waitt entered into a Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreement with us pursuant to which on or aftee year after the closing d
with respect to the Closing Shares, or on or &éeen (7) months from the date of issuance witha&sto the Earn Out Shares, if ¢
Waitt shall have the right, but not the obligationhave with respect to the Earn Out Shares, if #gitt shall have the right, but 1
the obligation to have Rick's purchase from WaiB0b Rick's Shares per month (the "Monthly Sharesiculated at a price per sk
equal to $23.00 per share ("Value of the Rick'sr&ia until Waitt has received an aggregate of 2,000 (i) from the sale of t
Rick's Shares sold in the open market or in a iuansaction or otherwise, and (ii) the paymédrany deficiency (as defined in 1
ED Purchase Agreement) by Rick's. At our electiarirdy any given month, we may either buy the MontBhares or, if we elect r
to buy the Monthly Shares from Waitt, then Waitaklsell the Monthly Shares in the open market. Aejiciency between the amo
which Waitt receives from the sale of the Monthljages and the Value of the Rick's Shares shalldig fpy us within three (:
business days of the date of sale of the Monthigr&hduring that particular month. Our obligatiopurchase the Monthly Sha
from Waitt shall terminate and cease at such tim&\Vaitt has received an aggregate total of $1,000ftbm the sale of the Ric
Shares and any deficiency (as defined in the ERHase Agreement).

In April 2009, we renegotiated the terms of itsghase agreements with the former owners of ED Palfidins, Teeze and Adult St
Buyer (“ASB”) publications. The new agreement with the former emaf ED Publications provides for the executiorad$200,00
promissory note payable over two years with intee#s4% per annum in lieu of the issuance of 8,6Béres. We simultaneou
purchased 6,522 shares that had been issued iedmwith the Teeze transaction by means of &$0® promissory note paya
over two years with interest at 4% per annum.

At Closing, Waitt also entered a three (3) year Eypent Agreement with RCI Media (the "Employmergréement”) pursuant
which he will serve as President. The Employmente&gent extends through April 15, 2011, and pravide an annual base sal
of $250,000. Pursuant to the Employment Agreenmidnt,Waitt is also eligible to participate in all mefit plans maintained by ¢
salaried employees. Under the terms of the Employm@reement, Mr. Waitt is bound to a confidentialprovision and cann
compete with us upon the expiration of the Emplogt#ggreement.

TEEZE/ADULT STORE BUYER

Under the terms of a Purchase Agreement betwean Qometta ("Cornetta™), Waitt, RCl Media and Riclated April 15, 2008 (il
"TEEZE/ASB Purchase Agreement”), we agreed to payfollowing consideration to Cornetta and Waitt fbe purchase of tl
TEEZE Stock and the Membership Interest:

(i) an aggregate of $200,000 cash at closing; and

(ii) the issuance of 6,522 shares of restrictedroom stock to each of Messrs. Waitt and Cornettaafioaggregate of 13,044 share
restricted common stock to be valued at $23.0Gpare (the "Rick's TEEZE Shares").

Pursuant to the TEEZE/ASB Purchase Agreement, @iter one year after the closing date, each ofskesVaitt and Cornetta st
have the right, but not the obligation to have Riglurchase the Rick's TEEZE Shares calculatedpdate per share equal to $23
per share ("Value of the Rick's TEEZE Shares")liM#ssrs. Waitt and Cornetta have each receive® 808 (i) from the sale of t
Rick's TEEZE Shares sold by them, regardless ofthanesold to Rick's, sold in the open market oraimprivate transaction

otherwise, and (ii) the payment of any deficienay (efined in the TEEZE/ASB Purchase Agreemeniibk's. At our election durir
any given month, we may either buy the Rick's TEEtares or, if we elect not to buy the Rick's TEEttares, then Cornetta ant
Waitt shall sell the Rick's TEEZE Shares in theropsarket. Any deficiency between the amount whidrn@tta or Waitt receiv:
from the sale of the Rick's TEEZE Shares and theé/af the Rick's TEEZE Shares shall be paid bwitisin three (3) business de¢
of the date of sale of the Rick's TEEZE Sharesndutiat particular month. Our obligation to pureh#he Rick's TEEZE Shares s
terminate and cease at such time as Waitt and Garnave each received $150,000 from the salesoRibk's TEEZE Shares and i
deficiency.

At Closing, Cornetta entered a five year Nbampetition Agreement with us pursuant to whictageeed not to compete with us ei
directly or indirectly with TEEZE, ASB, RCI Medi®&ick's or any of their affiliates by publishing asgxually oriented industry tra
print publications, with the exception of a pubtioa known as "Xcitement" which is currently ownaad operated by Cornetta.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT W  EB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet website operati@ns xxxPassword.com website features adult codigensed through Voice Media, i
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingcattring to those in the swinging lifestyle. In 80@e purchased CouplesClick.ne
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireottd broaden our membership throughout the Uriitiadies. As part of this transaction,
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operatgsan addition to our internet operations, to aeqGouplesClick.net from ClickMatc
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouamdo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactice obtained an 85% interest in |
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.
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Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from thirdsarty adult sites or Internet domain owners andptirehase of banr
advertisements or "key word" searches from Inteseatch engines. In addition, the bulk of our icaffow comes from search engines on w
we don't pay for preferential listings. There atemerous adult entertainment sites on the Intehratdompete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otliedtamaterials that are purchased in a &ilf- method. We charge the seller a fee for
successful auction. Where previously we operated isdividual auctions sites, now we have combinéeésé into one main si
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagniof this site. The site contains new and useédltaoriented consumer initiat
auctions for items such as adult videos, appaheltgsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBids leasmapproximately 10,000 items for sa
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pamgbmasters an opportunity to create residual incéroe web surfers through t
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing ausida in which the buyer origina
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenareerous auction sites on the Internet that afflerit products and erotica.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES — MEDIA GROUP

Our Media Group is the leading trade magazine sgrthe multibillion dollar adult nightclubs industry. It alsavas two industry trade shov
two other industry trade publications and more tR&nindustry websites. Founded in 1991, Exotimda is the only national busin
magazine serving the 3,800 adult nightclubs in Ndéunerica, which have annual revenues in excesdjillion, according to AVN Med
Network. ED Publications currently publishes thenAal VIP Guide of adult nightclubs, touring entéréas and industry vendors, ancClub
Bulletin" , a bimonthly news magazine for the owsand operators of adult nightclubs. ED Publicaialso produces the ann@éntlemen
Club Owners Expo , the only national conventiontfar adult nightclub and feature entertainment stidess, and offers the exclusid VIP
Club Card honored at more than 850 adult nightclubs

COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgbljicompetitive with respect to price, service dmchtion. All of our nightclubs compe
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somentfose hames may have name recognition that ethetiof ours. While there may
restrictions on the location of a satled "sexually oriented business", there arebawriers to entry into the adult cabaret entert@nnmarke
The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret", “Tootsi€abaret”, "XTC Cabaret” and “Club Onyxre proprietary. We believe that
combination of our existing brand name recogniton the distinctive entertainment environment tiathave created will allow us to comg
effectively in the industry and within the citiehare we operate. The sexually oriented busineassindis highly competitive with respeci
price, service and location, as well as the pradesdism of the entertainers. Although we beliehattwe are well positioned to comg
successfully, there can be no assurance that weevdble to maintain our high level of name reétign and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and liawes affecting our business activities. In partizyin Texas the authority to issue a perrr
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC"vhich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBederage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. Previosghject to annual renewal, the TA
recently changed to a renewal every two years,ipedvwe have complied with all rules and regulaigoverning the permits. Renewal
permit is subject to protest, which may be made ltyw enforcement agency or by the public. In thené of a protest, the TABC may hol
hearing at which time the views of interested parire expressed. The TABC has the authority sftel hearing not to issue a renewal o
protested alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's hasenéeen the subject of a protest hearing agaiesteahewal of Permits. Minnesota, Nc
Carolina, Nevada, Pennsylvania, Florida, and NewkYave similar laws that may limit the availahilibf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
or that may provide for suspension or revocatioragdermit to sell alcoholic beverages in certaimtwhnstances. It is our policy, prior
expanding into any new market, to take steps tarensompliance with all licensing and regulatorguigements for the sale of alcohe
beverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholiseverages, in many cities where we operate, tregitotof a toples
cabaret is subject to restriction by city ordinan€er example, topless nightclubs in Houston, Tex@ssubject to "The Sexually Orien
Business Ordinance", which contains prohibitionstloa location of an adult cabaret (sedeedal Proceedings” herein). The prohibitions

generally with distance from schools, churches, atigbr sexually oriented businesses and contaimiatgsns based on the percentag:
residences within the immediate vicinity of the s&tky oriented business. The granting of a Sexu@liignted Business Permit is not subje:
discretion; the Business Permit must be grantdatefproposed operation satisfies the requiremeitseoOrdinance. In all states where
operate, management believes we are in compliaitteapplicable city, county, state or other localvé governing the sale of alcohol

sexually oriented businesses.
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TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick’'s", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx” and “XTC Catet” are established under comn
law, based upon our substantial and continuousofigeese tradenames in interstate commerce sindeaat as early as 1987. We h
registered our service markRICK'S AND STARS DESIGN", with the United Statest&# and Trademark Office. We have also obte
service mark registrations from the Patent and @maatk Office for the "RICK'S CABARET", “CLUB ONYXand “XTC CABARET” servic¢
marks. We also own the rights to humerous tradesaassociated with our media division. There camdeassurance that the steps we
taken to protect our service marks will be adeqt@tieter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2009, we had approximately QL @®ployees, of which approximately 100 are in ngan@ent positions, includil
corporate and administrative and Internet operatamd approximately 900 of which are engaged iereaibment, food and beverage sen
including bartenders, waitresses, and entertaitNage of our employees are represented by a ulienconsider our employee relations tc
good. Additionally, as of September 30, 2009, we imalependent contractor relationships with apprately 2,500 entertainers, who are self-
employed and conduct business at our locationsranaxclusive basis as independent contractors. Oerteiriers in Minneapolis, Minnes:
act as commissioned employees. We believe thaadioé entertainment industry standard of treatintetainers as independent contrac
provides us with safe harbor protection to preclpdgroll tax assessment for prior years. We haepared plans that we believe will pro
our profitability in the event that the sexuallyemted business industry is required in all sttdesonvert entertainers who are now indeper
contractors into employees.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aiztd us to repurchase up to $5,000,000 worth otommon stock. During the fiscal y
ending September 30, 2008, no shares were purchemskt this program. During the fiscal year endegt&nber 30, 2009, we purcha
303,959 shares of common stock in the open matketiees ranging from $2.64 to $8.60. Under theuBits authority, we have $4,171,.
remaining to purchase additional shares.

| te m 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higigrete of risk. You should carefully consider theksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any ofethents, contingencies, circumstances or conditit@scribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resaoft operations could be seriously harmed. Tharngagdrice of our Common Stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Regulatogeldainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing Nightclu
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesggislaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedéra place and manner restrictions. The adult eaitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefojeysesome protection under the First Amendmenth® United States Constitutit
However, the protection is limited to the expressiand not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileraghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assuthatéocal, state and/or federal licensing andeotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

As discussed in the section entitled “Legal Prooegsd herein, we are subject to litigation regarding 8exually Oriented Business license
Houston, Texas. In 1997, the City of Houston passedmprehensive new ordinance regulating the itotatf and the conduct within sexue
oriented businesses (the “Ordinanceihich became the subject of litigation which affeotur Sexually Oriented Business licenses in Ha,
Texas. After extensive litigation, the Trial CoimtHouston rendered its judgment in favor of théyGif Houston in January, 2007. Afte
lengthy series of court battles, the Fifth CirdQiaurt of Appeals ruled in favor of the City of Hoois in September 2007. Despite efforts
further appeal, the United States Supreme Couwrseefto hear the matter.

Additionally, on behalf of three of our club locatis in Houston, we filed state court lawsuits segkudicial review of the results of 1
amortization process contained within the Ordinankethe conclusion of the trial for this matténe Court ruled that the amortization awi
were proper and requested that findings of fact@mtlusions of law be submitted to the Court al asea judgment in the case. A stay so
by the clubs during the appeal was denied. Asaltreve, as well as every other similarly situasedually oriented business located withir
incorporated area of Houston, Texas, has eitheseckgroviding nude or semiide entertainment or developed alternate methd
operating. We have already taken steps to clothieentertainers in a manner to eliminate the needidenses and not to be subject to
Ordinance. The Compars/four Houston clubs had revenues of approximedlyt million and a loss before income taxes of eppnately
$10,000 for the twelve months ended September B0).2t is unknown at this time whether this widve a material effect on the Company’
operations.
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Beginning January 1, 2008, our Texas clubs becamjed to a new state law requiring each club ttecband pay a $5 surcharge for e\
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erihinment Association (“TEA”)an organization to which we are a member, allegfiegfet
amounts to be an unconstitutional tax. On March22®8, a State District Court Judge in Travis Qgumiexas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateedfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gaulithg. In Texas, when cities or the State givtice of appeal, it supersedes and suspen
judgment, including the injunction. Therefore, fhdgment of the District Court cannot be enforcedl! the appeals are completed. Giver
suspension of the judgment, the State has optedltect the tax pending the outcome of its appéalJune 2009, the Texas Third Cour
Appeals upheld the judgment that the surchargadsnstitutional. The State has appealed the judgioehe Texas Supreme Court. We t
paid the tax for the first five calendar quartergler protest and expensed the tax in the accompgiriyiancial statements, except for
locations in Dallas where the taxes have not beégh put we are accruing and expensing the ligbilikor the quarters ended June 30, 200¢
September 30, 2009, as a result of the Third Ceul¥cision, the Company accrued the fee, but didbap the State. As of September
2009, we have approximately $1.16 million in accrliabilities for this tax. We have paid more tHgdhmillion to the State of Texas since
inception of the tax. The Company’s Texas clubseHded a separate lawsuit against the State hoashel repayment of the taxes. If the State’
appeal ultimately fails, the Compasyturrent amount paid under protest would be repaidpplied to future admission tax and other T
state tax liabilities.

Our Business has been, and may Continue to be,réelyeAffected by Conditions in the U.S. Finandidhrkets and Economic Conditic
Generally

Our nightclubs are often acquired with a purchaseepbased on historical EBITDA. This results irtaa nightclubs carrying a substan
amount of intangible value, mostly allocated t@tises and goodwill. Generally accepted accountiimgiples require an annual impairm
review of these indefinite lived assets. If difficmarket and economic conditions continue overrtbgt year and/or we experience a dect
in revenue at one or more nightclubs, we could rirecwecline in fair value of one or more of ourhiigubs. This could result in futt
impairment charges of up to the total value ofititefinite lived intangible assets.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespansion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash o cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securitiee,percentage ownership of our theisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstiia
you that additional financing will be available taxms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia@ by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesuw business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Abilitip Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these agtitgys may have greater financial and managenesources than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitiventts and competition for general entertainmentadallThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramdl ®ar industry has been an extremely volatile $trgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatrwbeonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainimelustry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnieshiistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecoisosensitivity are the trendy perso
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliregh We continuously monitor trends in our cugtantastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriategasamwhich will allow us to remain one of the premiadult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditimmsuncertainties regarding future economic protpétat affect consumer spending c¢
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddlition, we have historically catered to a cliémtease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts ofeztainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salesstomers dependent upon corporate expense dascoun

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. States in whigloperate may have laws which may |
the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beages or which may provide for suspension or retiogaf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
in certain circumstances. The temporary or permiagsiggpension or revocations of any such permitddvioave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openat of the Company. In all states where we openat@nagement believes we are
compliance with applicable city, county, state threw local laws governing the sale of alcohol.
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Activities or Conduct at our Nightclubs may Causeta Lose Necessary Business Licenses, Expose Lmldity, or Result in Advers
Publicity, Which may Increase our Costs and Dilanagemerns Attention from our Business

We are subject to risks associated with activitiesonduct at our nightclubs that are illegal alaie the terms of necessary business lice
Our nightclubs operate under licenses for sexuaignted businesses and some protection underitsteAmendment to the U.S. Constituti
While we believe that the activities at our nightsd comply with the terms of such licenses, antittteaelement of our business that consti
an expression of free speech under the First Amentno the U.S. Constitution is protected, actgtand conduct at our nightclubs ma
found to violate the terms of such licenses or mgrotected under the U.S. Constitution. This prtideds limited to the expression and not
conduct of an entertainer. An issuing authority nsagpend or terminate a license for a nightclumdoto have violated the license ter
lllegal activities or conduct at any of our nightist may result in negative publicity or litigatidBuch consequences may increase our ¢
doing business, divert managemsrdttention from our business and make an investmeawur securities unattractive to current andepti
investors, thereby lowering our profitability andrestock price.

We have developed comprehensive policies aimedsatring that the operation of each nightclub isdumted in conformance with local, st
and federal laws. We have a “no tolerangslicy on illegal drug use in or around the fam@kt We continually monitor the actions
entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensatrénbper behavior standards are met. However, patibies, no matter how well desigr
and enforced, can provide only reasonable, notlatescassurance that the policiedjectives are being achieved. Because of the émh
limitations in all control systems and policieseith can be no assurance that our policies willgredeliberate acts by persons attemptir
violate or circumvent them. Notwithstanding theefgoing limitations, management believes that odicigs are reasonably effective
achieving their purposes.

Our Acquisitions may Result in Disruptions in ourdthess and Diversion of Managenierttention

We have made and may continue to make acquisitbrcomplementary nightclubs, restaurants or relateérations. Any acquisitions w
require the integration of the operations, prodacts personnel of the acquired businesses andatinénty and motivation of these individui
Such acquisitions may disrupt our operations angertdimanagement’s attention from dayeday operations, which could impair
relationships with current employees, customers padners. We may also incur debt or issue equityusties to pay for any futu
acquisitions. These issuances could be substgndidlitive to our stockholders. In addition, ouofitability may suffer because of acquisition-
related costs or amortization, or impairment cdstsacquired goodwill and other intangible assHtsnanagement is unable to fully integt
acquired business, products or persons with egigiperations, we may not receive the benefits efatquisitions, and our revenues and ¢
trading price may decrease.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Contéd Listing Requirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently listed for trading the NASDAQ Global Market. We must continue to $gtiSASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaaverse effect on our business. If our securitiesezer ddisted from NASDAQ, it ma
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mag bess liquid market. In such case, our sharehela@dility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock evdnal severely limited because of lower trading g and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and largggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestitig requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Com@aryQOur Management Will Be Requi
to Devote Substantial Time to New Compliance lhi@s

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-OxlepfA2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act'ds
well as new rules subsequently implemented by tR€,Shave imposed various new requirements on pwolnpanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Our geament and other personnel will need to devotebataantial amount of time to these r
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financiaingdiance costs and will make some activ
more timeeonsuming and costly. For example, we expect theserules and regulations to make it more diffi@ritd more expensive for us
obtain director and officer liability insurance,cawe may be required to incur substantial costadmtain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbané3xley Act requires, among other things, that we nmzn effective internal controls for financial mting anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particdammencing in fiscal 2008, we have been requirggerdorm system and process evalue
and testing on the effectiveness of our internaitrmds over financial reporting, as required by t®et 404 of the Sarbané3xley Act
Subsequently in fiscal 2010, our independent remist public accounting firm will report on the effieeness of our internal controls o
financial reporting, as required by Section 404h&f Sarbane®xley Act. Our testing, or the subsequent testingpbr independent registel
public accounting firm, may reveal deficienciesinr internal controls over financial reporting tlaaé deemed to be material weaknesses
compliance with Section 404 will require that weun substantial accounting expense and expendisi@mi management efforts. We curre
do not have an internal audit group, and we wilkkdheo hire additional accounting and financial fstafth appropriate public compa
experience and technical accounting knowledge. blage if we are not able to comply with the reqmients of Section 404 in a tim
manner, or if we or our independent registeredipwaicounting firm identifies deficiencies in omtérnal controls over financial reporting t
are deemed to be material weaknesses, the maiketgrour stock could decline, and we could bgexttio sanctions or investigations by
SEC or other regulatory authorities, which woulduiee additional financial and management resources

13




Table of Content
Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedaapersonal injury and property damage to whighbusiness of the Company ma;
subject. However, there can be no assurance tlidunad liabilities in excess of the coverage piedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusengilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law thesof liability in other states where
operate or expand. For example, the Texas "Dranp'S$tatute provides a person injured by an intdeidgerson the right to recover dam:
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldichibeverages to such person if it was appareti@oserver that the individual being s
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wasausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgém@elear danger to himself and others
employer is not liable for the actions of its enmyde who overserves if (i) the employer requires its employeesttend a seller trainil
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee hatially attended such a training program; arijl tie employer has not directly
indirectly encouraged the employee to violate . lIt is our policy to require that all serversad€ohol working at our clubs in Texas
certified as servers under a training program agady the TABC, which certification gives statytégmmunity to the sellers of alcohol frc
damage caused to third parties by those who hawsuosed alcoholic beverages at such establishmasugnt to the Texas Alcoha
Beverage Code. There can be no assurance, howkaeyninsured liabilities may not arise in the keas in which we operate which co
have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’'s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx”, and “XTC @aret” are established under
common law based upon our substantial and contsuse of these tradenames in interstate commarce at least as early as 1987. "RIC
AND STARS DESIGN" logo, "RICK'S CABARET", “CLUB ONX” and “XTC CABARET” are registered through service mark registra
issued by the United States Patent and TrademditeOfWe also own the rights to numerous tradersaassociated with our media divisi
There can be no assurance that these steps takbe ompany to protect its Service Marks will lleguate to deter misappropriation o
protected intellectual property rights. Litigatioray be necessary in the future to protect our sifffatm infringement, which may be costly
time consuming. The loss of the intellectual propeghts owned or claimed by us could have a nigtadverse affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspetai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in onmane series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigind preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock byBitard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock.
example, such issuance could result in a clase@frities outstanding that would have preferencéls respect to voting rights and dividel
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cdulgbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock coultalirage potential takeover attempts and couldyd®lgprevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy comesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitolachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foisgiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toésB8teferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Common rgkan the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any divideodsour common stock and we do not anticipate pagimg dividends in the foresees
future. We expect that future earnings, if any) bd used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress Cagk3®rice

The market price of our common stock could declisa result of sales of substantial amounts ofoommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldirodo addition, these factors could make it moiféatilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatihe Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagm#icantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

our performance and prospec

the depth and liquidity of the market for our sétbes;

sales by selling shareholders of shares issuesboable in connection with certain convertible ag
investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiems by analyst:

general financial and other market conditions;

domestic economic conditior
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Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexme, extreme price and trading volume volatilifhese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

Our Management Controls a Significant PercentagewfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Theerbdts May Conflict With Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 3, 2009, our Directors and executifieers and their respective affiliates colleetiy and beneficially owned approximat
14.0% of our outstanding common stock, includingwarrants exercisable within 60 days. This coneitn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectiffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evértheir interests may conflict with those of ottehareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of dreotvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromrafténg to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market prioceur common stock or prevent our shareholdemnfrealizing a premium over the tf
prevailing market prices for their shares of comratatk.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large partetining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedtdent and Chief Executive Officer. |
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive krgaavéaur industry. While Mr. Langan has no pregadahs to leave or retire in the n
future, his loss could have a negative effect on aperating, marketing and financial performancevéd are unable to find an adeqt
replacement with similar knowledge and experienddhin our industry. We maintain keyan life insurance with respect to Mr. Lan¢
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agrednfes described herein), there can be no assuthatdr. Langan will continue to
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hamegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available to Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commastistmay elect all of our Directors. Managemsngrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to miaititeir positions as such and thus control oflusiness and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilithé Have Rights to Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Doextand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtd@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and tissilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bigrDirectors or officers unless, in s
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdermanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Daecand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stodérs|

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tantlé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent peechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyismns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenorgg other things: (i) specification of the methotl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independentns®l that will in some cases make such deternoimatii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinatiomsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlii@)establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinghder the Securities Act may be permitted to oweadors, officers and controlling pers
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have l@@bsised that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SgearAct and is therefore unenforceable.

Other Risk Factors May Adversely Affect Our Finadd?erformance

Other risk factors that could cause our actualltega differ materially from those indicated inettiorwardiooking statements by affectir
among many things, pricing, consumer spending amsumer confidence, include, without limitationaoges in economic conditions
financial and credit markets, credit availabilithcreased fuel costs and availability for our ergpks, customers and suppliers, he
epidemics or pandemics or the prospects of thesatey(such as reports on avian flu), consumer pgwmes of food safety, changes
consumer tastes and behaviors, governmental mgnptdicies, changes in demographic trends, teiraits, energy shortages and rol
blackouts, and weather (including, major hurricaawed regional snow storms) and other acts of God.
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Ite m 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located at 1095@tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, and consistés 000 square feet office/warehc
building. We purchased this property in Decembe¥42for $512,739, payable with $86,279 cash at etpsind $426,460 in a promissory r
carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The mgrmhyment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2009bthence of the mortgage was $335,
The last mortgage payment is due in 2019. We beltbat our offices are adequate for our presentdsamd that suitable space will
available to accommodate our future needs.

We own the real property for four locations of RikCabaret (in Houston, San Antonio, Minneapolid &ort Worth), three Club On
locations, one in Houston, one in Dallas and orehitadelphia and three locations of XTC (in Ausfirallas and San Antonio). In Houston,
own the property where we will open a club knowri@sib Q” in the first quarter of our 2010 fiscal year. Wade property for our XTC Sot
(Houston), XTC North (Houston), Rick’s Cabaret-N¥ark and Las Vegas, Club Onyx Charlotte, Rick’'s @aAustin (currently closed al
held for sale), Cabaret North-Fort Worth and Ta@d$sCabaret (Miami Gardens, Florida) locations.

ADDITIONAL PROPERTIES WE OWN:

1. Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, la@saggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In Dexe2d4, we paid off the ¢
mortgage and obtained a new one with an initishieg of $1,270,000 and an interest rate of 10%apeum over a 10 year term. ~
money received from this new note was used to imahe acquisition of the New York club. As of Sepber 30, 2009, the balanct
the mortgage was $1,151,272. During fiscal year920@e paid $12,256 in monthly principal and inténeayments. The montt
payment is calculated based on a 20 year amodizatihedule. The last mortgage payment is dueis.:

2. The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt DriveHouston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Noger@®04, we obtained
mortgage using this property as collateral. Thegypal balance of the new mortgage was $1,042,8i@, an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The money received frasinibw note was used to finance the acquisitiothefNew York club. As «
September 30, 2009, the balance of the mortgage$®48,403. The monthly payment of principal anceiiest is $10,056. T
monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 yeartazation schedule. The last mortgage paymentiésid 2014

3. The Rick's Cabaret located in Minneapolis has 1Ggfuare feet of space. The balance, as of Septe38b2009, that we owe on-
mortgage is $1,000,000 and the interest rate is\WW&pay $7,500 in monthly interest payments. Tisé hiaortgage payment is due
2013.

4. The property for our XTC Cabaret nightclub in Aanstias 8,600 square feet of space, which sits oadr&s of land. In August 20t

we restructured the mortgage by extending the teri® years. The balance of the this mortgage &epfember 30, 2009 is $179,.
with an interest rate of 11% and monthly principad interest payments of $3,445. We also have diti@thl mortgage on tl
property which we obtained in November 2004. Thiegjpal balance of the additional mortgage was $300, with an annual intert
rate of 11% over a 10 year term. In June and JOB62we obtained additional funds in the amour$290,000, which we combin
with the $900,000 mortgage, and in August 2005 estructured this additional mortgage. The monthiggipal and interest payme
is $15,034. As of September 30, 2009, the balahtieecadditional mortgage was $782,062. The lagtemts for both mortgages
due in 2015

5. We own the property for our XTC Cabaret nightclabSan Antonio, which has 7,800 square feet of spacBlovember 2004, v
obtained a mortgage using this property as coliat@he principal balance of the new mortgage we80$000, with an annual inter
rate of 10% over a 10 year term. The money recdiad this new note was used to finance the acijiisand renovation of the N¢
York club. As of September 30, 2009, the balanceéhif mortgage was $533,606. The monthly princigradl interest payment
$5,694. The last mortgage payment is due in 2

6. We own an 8,000 square foot Houston property whias been leased for $8,500 per month through Dezeg0il2. In Novemb
2004, this property, together with property in Anstvas used as additional collateral to secure$8@0,000 mortgage referencet
paragraph 4 abov

7. On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, RE&oldings, Inc. completed the acquisition of readgerty located at 9009 Airpt
Blvd., Houston, Texas where we previously oper&ad Onyx South and Divas Latinas. Pursuant tot¢hnes of the agreement,
paid a total sales price of $1,300,000, which ciadi of $500,000 in cash and 160,000 shares ofestnicted common stock. T
property is currently held for sal
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8.

10.

11.

12.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings;. lacquired 100% of the interest in the improveal property upon which ¢
Rick’'s-San Antonio is located. The total purchase pricetfe business and real property was $2,900,00@etJterms of th
agreement, the Company paid the owners of theahabproperty $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory nc
for the remaining balance. As of September 30, 208@9balance of the promissory notes was $874,Thts note matures in 201

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., our whollyvoed subsidiary, acquired the real property locatedl01 Calmont, Fort Wor
Texas for a total purchase price of $2,500,000ckvitionsisted of $100,000 in cash and $2,400,00a@kayn a six year promissc
note to the sellers which will accrue interestrad tate of 7.25% for the first two years, 8.25% years three and four and 9.2
thereafter. The promissory note is secured by adl@éeTrust and Security Agreement. Further, RClditwgs, Inc. entered into
Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement withgellers to assume the lease agreement for éhgnaperty. We current
operate this property as R’s Cabaret. As of September 30, 2009, the balantteeqdfromissory note was $1,903,4

As part of the acquisition of The End Zone in Pirdphia, Pennsylvania, we acquired 51% of the sl outstanding partners
interest of the partnership that owns the real grgpat 2908 S. Columbus Blvd., Philadelphia, Pglvasia. At closing, we paid
purchase price of $3,500,000 in cash for the pestrig interests

As part of the transaction to acquire Hotel Deveiept, Ltd. which operated the Executive Club inl@alRCI Holdings, Inc. acquir
the related real property located at 8550 N. Stenmriereeway, Dallas, Texas from DPC Holdings, LLClexas limited liabilit
company. As consideration for the purchase of &a property, RCI Holdings, Inc. paid total consat®n of $5,599,721, which w
paid (i) $4,250,000, payable $610,000 in cash @&)84R,000 through the issuance of a five year pseamy note and (ii) the issual
of 57,918 shares of our restricted common stodbetvalued at $23.30 per share ($1,349,721). Thaipsory note bears interest
varying rate at the greater of (i) two percent (2%dve the Prime Rate or (ii) seven and bak-percent (7.5%), and is guarantee:
us and Eric Langan, our Chief Executive Officediundually. As of September 30, 2009, the balant¢he promissory note w
$3,526,096

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Clubinl Dallas, we acquired the real property located.@57 Wire Way Place |
Northwest Highway), Dallas, Texas from Wire Way,QLa Texas limited liability company. Pursuant tReal Estate Purchase |
Sale Agreement dated May 10, 2008, we paid totabideration of $6,000,000, which was paid $1,650,80cash and $4,350,0
through the issuance of a five (5) year promissaie. The promissory note bears interest at a ngrgate at the greater of (i) t
percent (2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) sevenarehalf percent (7.5%), which is guaranteed by uslanéric Langan, our Chi
Executive Officer, individually. As of September,2D09, the balance of the promissory note was34]41.

PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

1.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereXdi@ North is located. The lease term was for fiwans, beginning March 20(
and is currently on a month-toenth lease. The monthly rent was $8,000 until Ai@i, 2006, at which time the monthly base
increased to $9,00

We lease the property in New York City, New Kowhere our Ricls Cabaret NYC is located. We assumed the existiagel, whic
will terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent isicently $45,645. Under the term of the existingske, the base rent will increase
approximately 3% each yei

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Caroliwagre our Club Onyx Charlotte is located. We exedian amended lease
February 2007, which will terminate in February 20The monthly rent is $17,500 until February 2040which time the month
base rent will increase to $18,500 until Februd@¥3 at which time the rent will escalate to $20,00til February 2017

We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, evhar XTC South is located. The lease term is fombnths, beginning May
2006, and terminates in December 2022. The momdny is $3,000 until December 2012, then $3,5000 dcember 2014 the
$4,000 until December 2019 and $4,500 for the ramgithree years of the lea

We lease the property in Austin, Texas, where dok’s Cabaret Austin is located. This club is curgentbsed and held for sale. 1
lease term is for 10 years, beginning November2006, with monthly payments of $29,000. This leass amended in Februe
2009 and the rent was decreased to $23,000 pehrfaritvelve months. We also have the option tevefor an additional ten yea

We lease the property in Miami Gardens, Floridhere Tootsies Cabaret is located with monthly rent of $70,988der th
Assignment of Lease, the original lease term coetinthrough June 30, 2014, with two option periet&h give us the right to lee
the property through June 30, 20

We lease the property in Las Vegas, Nevadarevber new Ricks Cabaret Las Vegas club is located with monthiy o $100,00(

The original lease term continues through Januarg011 with an option period beginning on that déw®ugh January 1, 2016
$180,000 per month. We also have an option to aedké property through January 1, 2016 for $23 @@
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8. We acquired a club in Forth Worth, Texas on Septand®, 2009. The property is leased from a thadypfor $30,000 per mor
until 2018. We also received an option to purchtasefive-acre property on which the club sits within 19 nienfor approximate
$2.4 million.

| tem 3. Legal Proceedings.

Beginning January 1, 2008, our Texas clubs becamjed to a new state law requiring each club ttecband pay a $5 surcharge for e\
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erthinment Association (“TEA”)an organization to which we are a member, allegfiregfes
amounts to be an unconstitutional tax. On March22®8, a State District Court Judge in Travis Qgpumexas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateedfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gauling. In Texas, when cities or the State givéice of appeal, it supersedes and suspen
judgment, including the injunction. Therefore, fhdgment of the District Court cannot be enforced! the appeals are completed. Giver
suspension of the judgment, the State has optedilect the tax pending the outcome of its app€at. June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeals
the Third District (Austin) affirmed the District dDirt’'s judgment that the Sexually Oriented Busing$0.B.") Fee violated the Fir
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The Attorneyn€al of Texas has asked the Texas Supreme Cowavitew the case. No mandate will
issued until the Supreme Court of Texas eithersesuthe review or takes and decides the case.aftiep are waiting on the decision of
Supreme Court of Texas either to grant review dr @m August 26, 2009, the Texas Supreme Courtreddeoth sides to submit briefs on
merits, while not yet deciding whether to grant 8tate’s Petition for review. The Stagdirief was filed on September 25, 2009 and thea?
Entertainment Associatios’brief was filed on October 15, 2009. We haviel plae tax for the first five calendar quarters engrotest ar
expensed the tax in the accompanying financiaéstants, except for two locations in Dallas whekee thixes have not been paid, but we
accruing and expensing the liability. For the ¢ei@ended June 30, 2009 and September 30, 2083 easlt of the Third Coud’decision, th
Company accrued the fee, but did not pay the Staseof September 30, 2009, we have approximatglg@&million in accrued liabilities fi
this tax. We have paid more than $2 million to 8tate of Texas since the inception of the tax. Teenpanys Texas clubs have filec
separate lawsuit against the State to demand regayof the taxes. If the State’s appeal ultimafalis, the Companyg current amount pe
under protest would be repaid or applied to fuadgmission tax and other Texas state tax liabilities

Ite m 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of SecugtHolders.

We held our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Aud@&s 2009. Eric S. Langan, Robert L. Watters, &telv. Jenkins, Alan Bergstrom, Tra
Reese and Luke Lirot were nominated and electé&irastors with the following vote results at theastholder meeting:

For Withheld
Eric S. Langar 7,424,10¢ 658,660
Robert L. Watter: 7,964,154 118,611
Steven L. Jenkin 7,966,14¢ 116,617
Alan Bergstrorn 7,202,61¢ 880,146
Travis Rees: 7,405,562 677,202
Luke Lirot 7,962,877 119,888

At the Annual Meeting, the Shareholders ratifieditfélp Penn LLP as the Compasylndependent Registered Public Accounting Firmilie
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, with theolig vote results:

7,960,49! Votes FOR Ratificatiol
50,74( Votes AGAINST Ratificatior
71,53 Votes ABSTAINING

The meeting was adjourned when all matters of ssithad been discussed.

PART Il

| te m 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Rdated Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of duity Securities.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global kéaunder the symbol "RICK". The following tabletséorth the quarterly high a
low of sales prices per share for the common stocthe last two fiscal years.
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COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2

First Quartel $ 9.6¢ $ 3.5€
Second Quarte $ 56¢ $ 2.4¢4
Third Quartel $ 75¢ $ 4.52
Fourth Quarte $ 9.0 $ 5.7
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2

First Quarte! $ 29.7¢ % 11.01
Second Quarte $ 27471 % 19.0C
Third Quartel $ 26.7¢ % 14.8(
Fourth Quarte $ 18.1¢ $ 9.6

On December 3, 2009, the last sales price for éimenwon stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Mavkas $7.11. On December 3, 2(
there were approximately 211 stockholders of recdmur common stock (excluding shares held byedtaglders in street name).

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commooksi® American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 58idén Lane, New York, New Yo
10038.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend tg gash dividends on our common stock in the foraskeefuture. Our current policy is
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds f@eoation and expansion of our business. The deidaraf dividends, if any, will be subject
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which n@ynsider such factors as our results of operafioancial condition, capital needs ¢
acquisition strategy, among others.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

On September 29, 2008, our board of directors aiztbnb us to repurchase up to $5,000,000 worth ofcomnmon stock During the fisce
year ending September 30, 2008, no shares werbgsed under this program. During the fiscal yeaedrSeptember 30, 2009, we purch
303,959 shares of common stock in the open matheices ranging from $2.64 to $8.60.

During the three months ended September 30, 2069uchased 34,500 shares of common stock fronoptidn holders at prices rang
from $6.68 to $8.60 per share. Following is a samynof our purchases by month:

Period: €) (b) (c) (d)

Month Ending Total Number of Shareqd Average Price Paid per| Total Number of Shareg Maximum Number (or

(or Units) Purchased Share (or Units) Purchased a4 Approximate Dollar Value) of
Part of Publicly Shares (or Units) that May Yet e
Announced Plans or Purchased Under the Plans o
Programs Programs
Jul-09 11,500 $ 7.1 - $ 4,171,4
Aug-09 11,500 $ 8.0 - $ 4,171,4
Septo9 11,500 $ 8.0 = $ 4,171,4
Total for the three
months ended

Sept 30, 2009 34,500 $ 7.7 201,21¢ $ 4,171,4
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compeisaiplans as of September 30, 2009:

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options, warrants

Weighted-average exercise pricg
of outstanding options, warrants

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under equity compensation
plans (excluding securities

and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category €)) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 120,000 $7.53 378,000

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andirriety qualified personnel, we believe that oumufatsuccess will depend in part on

continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our épilo attract and retain skilled personnel. Weéadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfsf)
employees and directors. The purpose of the P&atwsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in

form of stock options to key employees and directeho contribute materially to our success andifadoifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@nd will give such persons a proprietary inteieaus, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Plaes also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees

directors. The Plans are administered by the Bo&firectors. The Board of Directors has the exglipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdcatdeeach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise

equal to at least 85% of the fair market valueh&f tommon stock covered by the option on the ghateé and to make all determinati
necessary or advisable under the Plans.

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Opti@m Pthe “1999 Plan™vith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusmler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Alment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentfich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1,000,000. In July 2007, shareholdproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amresmd”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1,500,000. As ofe®eiper 30, 2009, 120,000 stock options were oudgtgrunder the 1999 Plan.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2009, welsted no transactions in reliance upon exemptimoma registration under the Securil
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") as provide&éttion 4(2) thereof, except as follows:

On August 6, 2009, the Company completed the salenoaggregate of $7.2 million in 10 % Convertiblebentures (the “Debenturesd
certain accredited investors (the “HoldersThe Debentures bear interest at the rate of 10%apeum and mature on August 4, 2012.
Debentures are payable with one initial paymeribifrest only due February 4, 2010, and, there#itezn equal quarterly principal payme
plus accrued interest thereon. At the option ef ttolders, the Debentures may be converted intceshaf the Compang’ common stock
$8.75 per share. The Debentures are redeemalkes liyompany at any time if the closing price ofciéenmon stock for 20 consecutive trac
days is at least $11.50 per share. The Debenpuosdéde that an event of default occurs if: the @amy should fail to pay any principal
interest when due; the Company should fail to canaey Debenture when required; the Company shaltd observe or perform any cover
or agreement contained within the Debenture; thaeeecross defaults to other indebtedness in exafe$%,000,000; there is a reorganizat
liquidation, voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy orsolvency proceedings or other bankruptcy defarta final unsatisfied judgment |
covered by insurance aggregating an excess of $000 occurs against the Company and is not stdymdled or discharged within seventy-
five (75) days.

In connection with the sale of the Debentures,Gbenpany also issued an aggregate of 164,569 wargdmg “Warrants”Yo the Holders, on
prorata basis. The Company issued each Holder a nuofifgarrants equal to 20% of the number of shafesommon stock into which ea
Holder’s Debenture is convertible. The Warrants havexancese price of $8.75 and expire on August 5, 20L8e Warrants provide that
Company has the right to require exercise of thersivis if the closing price of the Compasigommon stock for 20 consecutive trading da
at least $12.25.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debentures andlaWta are intended to be utilized to make futweussitions, and may be utilized
working capital and general corporate purposes.
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| te m 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth certain of the Comypa historical financial data. The selected histdrimansolidated financial data as
September 30, 2009 and 2008 and for the years eBéptember 30, 2009 and 2008 have been derived fhemCompanys audite
consolidated financial statements and the relat@dsnincluded elsewhere herein. The selected fdatoconsolidated financial data as
September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and for the peaiesd September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 havedeei®ed from the Company’audite:
financial statements for such years, which areimduded in this Annual Report on Form KO-The selected historical consolidated finar
data set forth are not necessarily indicative efrsults of future operations and should be reazbnjunction with the discussion under
heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofRcial Condition and Results of Operatiorent the historical consolidated finan
statements and accompanying notes included hefaim.historical results are not necessarily indieatf the results to be expected in
future period.

(In thousands, except per share informat

Year Ended September 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Revenue $ 75,15( $ 57,90¢ $ 29,89. $ 24,000 $ 14,63:
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 6,62¢ $ 8,62: $ 437¢ $ 2,02¢ $ (361)
Fully diluted income (loss) from continuing opecais

per common shai $ 0.7C % 1.0z $ 0.7C $ 04C $ (0.09)
Total asset $ 145,077 $ 137,06¢ $ 42,58t $ 29,74:  $ 24,75(
Total stockholders' equit $ 70,09 $ 63,00 $ 24,04: $ 13,90¢ $ 8,90(
Long-term debt $ 37,811 $ 33,557 $ 14,387 $ 13,92. $ 13,24°

Please read the following selected consolidatednfital data in conjunction with “ManagementDiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operatioraid our consolidated financial statements andédlzted notes appearing elsewhere in this AnnuabH
on Form 10-K for a discussion of information thall enhance understanding of this data.

| te m 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis ofiffancial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjiorcivith our audited consolidated financial stataetseand the related notes to the finar
statements included in this Form 10-K.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemienthis Form 10K to make applicable and take advantage of thetsafigor provision of tt
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 my forward-looking statements made by us or emalf of us. Forwardboking statemen
include statements concerning plans, objectivesalsgstrategies, future events or performance adenlying assumptions and other statem
which are other than statements of historical fa€tsrtain statements in this Form 10-K are forwaking statements. Words such
"expects," "believes," "anticipates,” "may," andtimates" and similar expressions are intendedi¢atify forwardlooking statements. Su
statements are subject to risks and uncertaintias dould cause actual results to differ materiflym those projected. Such risks

uncertainties are set forth below. Our expectatibefiefs and projections are expressed in godt &id we believe that they have a reasol
basis, including without limitation, our examinatiof historical operating trends, data containedun records and other data available 1
third parties. There can be no assurance thatxqectations, beliefs or projections will result, &ehieved, or be accomplished. In additio
other factors and matters discussed elsewhereisnFtirm 10K, the following are important factors that in oview could cause mater
adverse affects on our financial condition and ltesof operations: the risks and uncertaintiesteeldo our future operational and finan
results, the risks and uncertainties relating to loternet operations, competitive factors, theirignof the openings of other clubs,

availability of acceptable financing to fund corate expansion efforts, our dependence on key peesote ability to manage operations
the future operational strength of management thadaws governing the operation of adult ententeint businesses. We have no obligatic
update or revise these forward-looking statementsftect the occurrence of future events or cirstances.

GENERAL INFORMATION
We operate in three businesses in the adult eirteréent industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsirsgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghtaiubs offer live adu
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Thrawr subsidiaries, we currently own and/or opemattotal of nineteen ad
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment,taesant and bar operations. Six of our clubs opesatler the name "Rick's Cabar
four operate under the name “Club Onyxijscale venues that welcome all customers but esjgecially to urban profession
businessmen and professional athletes; five clplesate under the name "XTC Cabaret", one club ¢t@ees “Tootsie’s Cabarethd
effective as of September 30, 2009, one club operas “Cabaret NorthOur nightclubs are in Houston, Austin, San Antoda/las
and Fort Worth, Texas; Charlotte, North CarolinajnMeapolis, Minnesota; New York, New York; Miami @ans, Floride
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Las Vegas, NevadaeXual contact is permitted at any of our locei
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2. We have extensive Internet activiti

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Wailes at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword.ctVe
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholese

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBigis.cThis site provides our customers with the oppoty to purchas
adult products and services in an auction formag. &8rn revenues by charging fees for each transactinducted on tl
automated site

3. In April 2008, we acquired a media division, indhgl the leading trade magazine serving the r-billion dollar adult nightcluk
industry. As part of the transaction we also aaguiwo industry trade shows, two other industrgéraublications and more than
industry websites

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicpfor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover cesrgnembership fees, indepeni
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amslchines, valet parking and other products andicgss. Our Internet revenues
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intérwebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comroissiearned on the sale of products
services through Internet auction sites, and otfogivities. Media revenues include sale of adviegiscontent and revenues from an an
Expo convention. Our fiscal year end is SeptemBer 3

For several years, we have greatly reduced oureusbgromotional pricing for membership fees for adult entertainment web sites. 1
reduced our revenues from these web sites.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffhat eertain reported amounts in the financialtesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousraBsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatesssougnations may vary under different assumptionsoaditions. We evaluate our estimi
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadt@unting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition and resi
of operations.

On July 1, 2009, the Financial Accounting StandéBdard (“FASB”)issued FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Saadsl No. 16¢
FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the &fielhy of Generally Accepted Accounting Princip, which is included in FAS
Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”) 1@enerally Accepted Accounting Principledhis new guidance approved the FASB AS
the single source of authoritative nongovernme@@®AP. The FASB ASC is effective for interim or aral periods ending after September
2009. All existing accounting standards have bseperseded and all other accounting literatureimdtded in the FASB ASC will t
considered nomuthoritative. The ASC is a restructuring of GAAPBsigned to simplify access to all authoritatiteriture by providing
topically organized structure. The adoption of BASSC did not impact the Compayfinancial condition or results of operations.cfiieica
references to GAAP included in these notes to thiesGlidated Financial Statements are provided uthdenew FASB ASC structure.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub opemnat primarily comprised of credit card chargebjcl are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The maeiglisiah’s accounts receivable is primarily comprised okneables for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receajatther is comprised of employee advances and ottseellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termseddgheement and based upon managesientiiuation that the notes receivable and int
income will be collected. The Company recognizdswadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or noteswalke will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @wmpany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prowsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatierments that extend the useful lives are daggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditeztén the accompanying consolidated statemeintaafme of the respective period.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350,Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assetddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB A
350, goodwill and intangible assets with indefiflitees are no longer amortized, but reviewed oraanual basis for impairment. All of 1
Companys goodwill and intangible assets relate to the teigb segment, except for $567,000 related to tleeliamsegment. Definite liv:
intangible assets are amortized on a straightiagis over their estimated lives. Fully amortizsdets are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.

Impairment of LoneLived Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment andhdilide assets with definite lives for impairment emever events or changes
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of @etasay not be recoverable. Recoverability of theesseets is measured by comparison «
carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash fltvesassets are expected to generate. If propedyegnipment and intangible assets
definite lives are considered to be impaired, thpdirment to be recognized equals the amount bghwthie carrying value of the asset exc
its fair value. Assets are grouped at the lowegell for which there are identifiable cash flowsngpipally at the club level, when asses:
impairment. Cash flows for our club assets aretifled at the individual club level. The Compasyannual evaluation was performed a
September 30, 2009, based on a projected discoeattdflow method using a discount rate determlmechanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhodlee Company determined that there is no goodwipairment at September 30, 2C
except for the impairment taken in the second guaftfiscal 2009 relating to the discontinued @pien in Austin.

Certain of our recent acquisitions, specificallysNegas, Philadelphia and the Media Group, hava bederperforming, principally due to-
recent general economic downturn, especially in\@egas, but also due to certain specific operatimsaes, such as the change of conce
Philadelphia and the cab fare marketing issuesaim Vegas. Our assumptions for the projected dasis ffor these units include a grac
recovery for the economy and gradual improvemeitiiéncab fare issue in Las Vegas. With these gsons, the cash flows from these u
are adequate to show no need for impairment atithes. We will continue to monitor these unitstiive future in case our assumptions dc
prove to be appropriate.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its asaettliabilities which qualify as financial instremts and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemerfterwthe fair value is different than the carryirajue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiadug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since tlesguments be.
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargseld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8ABcounting for Derivative Financial Instruments éxd to, and Potentially Settled ir
Company’s Own StockUnder certain circumstances that would requieeGompany to settle these equity items in cagthwathout regard t
probability, FASB ASC 815 would require the clagsifion of all or part of the item as a liabilitpéthe adjustment of that reclassified am
to fair value at each reporting date, with suclustipents reflected in the Compasygonsolidated statements of income. The firgtunsent t
meet the requirements of FASB ASC 815 for derivatiecounting occurred in the quarter ended Jun2®® when the Company renegoti:
the payback terms of certain put options and agtre@tedge as collateral to certain holders a sgtien on certain property.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other vmsand services at the pointsai
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membershipscordance with FASB ASC 605-Z8evenue Recognitiohy deferring memberst
revenue and recognizing over the estimated memiperstage period. Management estimates that thehtesigaverage useful lives
memberships are 12 and 24 months for annual agtiiié memberships, respectively. The Company doesrack membership usage by t
of membership, however it believes these lives appropriate and conservative, based on managesnkmtwledge of its client base ¢
membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgrgthbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emingd estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.
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Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertisingent are recognized when the issue is publisimedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo atioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liguor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes agicevenues and an equal expense in accordanceFABB ASC 605,How Taxe
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Goverrahéithorities Should Be Presented in the InconaeStent . Total sales and liqu
taxes aggregated $4,544,160 and $3,815,648 foretlveended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respgctivel

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primariljngosed of costs related to public advertisemenid giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing ezyges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiainethod in accordance with FASB ASC 748;counting for Income Taxe Deferre
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for tteiré tax consequences attributable to differetdween the financial statement carn
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrthespective tax bases. Deferred tax assets apitlities are measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanwhith those temporary differences are expectedetoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changevinrates is recognized in income in the period theludes the enactment date. In additic
valuation allowance is established to reduce arfigros tax asset for which it is determined thas iore likely than not that some portior
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presorda minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being re@ay in the financial statements. FASB ASC 74® @sovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaldesounting in interim periods, disclosure andhgiton. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consadéinancial statements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttiactemmon shares as partial consideration for aitipuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderuchsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrsis or, if management elects not to do so, théehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accounteth&se shares in accordance with the guidance lissiadh by FASB ASC 480 as
reclassification of the value of the shares frormpment to temporary equity. As the shares beatmee the Company transfers the valu
the shares back to permanent equity, less any arpaidhto the holder. Also see “Derivative Finahdnstruments” above.

Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdaith FASB ASC 260Earnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per sHaasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income availabl
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Diluearnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shardlie earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of sharéathg arise from outstanding dilutive common stogitions and warrants (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock metheadtit!t from outstanding convertible debentures (thmabar of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thaemtial dilution that could occur if the Compasydutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventedcommon stock that then shared in the Commaegrnings (as adjusted for inte
expense, that would no longer occur if the debestwere converted).

Stock Options

Effective October 1, 2006, the Company adopteddhesalue recognition provisions of FASB ASC 7T&mpensation—Stock Compensation
using the modified prospective application method.
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The compensation cost recognized for the year e@gdember 30, 2009 and 2008 was $96,171 and ®(h7r8spectively. There we
300,000 stock options exercises for the year edgdember 30, 2009.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, wecbasolidated total revenues of $75,149,596, coethto consolidated total revenue:
$57,907,727 for the year ended September 30, 2008 was an increase of $17,241,869 or 29.8%. mbeease in total revenues was prims
due to revenues generated in our new clubs andadees in revenues from certain of our existings;lespecially from our New York locatis
Revenues from nightclub operations for same-looatameperiod decreased by 4.1% and for Internet busisedsereased by a negligi
amount.

Our operating margin (income from operations didithy total revenues) was 17.8% for the year endgdetnber 30, 2009 compared to 26
for the prior year. The decrease was due pringigalthe poor U.S. economy in 2009 and the poaslt®$rom our Las Vegas club, due to
steep dive in the Las Vegas economy.

Our income from continuing operations before incamees for the year ended September 30, 2009 wa943,335 compared to $12,495,
for the year ended September 30, 2008. The decreas@rimarily due to the same factors discussetieénprevious paragraph. Our incc
from continuing nightclub operations (excluding porate overhead and before income taxes) was $,.8(® for the year ended Septen
30, 2009 compared with $18,556,590 for the yeaedriskeptember 30, 2008. Our income from operationedr Internet businesses (excluc
corporate overhead) was $162,071 for the year eBdptember 30, 2009 compared with $148,194 foyéae ended September 30, 2008.
income from operations for our nightclub operatiforsthe same-location-same-period decreased [3/4.8.

Our cost of goods sold for the year ended Septe@®e2009 was 11.7% of total revenues compared 18%4 of related revenues for the
ended September 30, 2008. Our cost of goods solthé nightclub operations for the year ended &aper 30, 2009 was 11.5% of our t
revenues from club operations compared to 11.3%hieryear ended September 30, 2008. Cost of gaddsfar same-location-sangerioc
decreased to 11.6% for the year ended Septemb@080,compared to 11.7% for the year ended Septedih008. We continued our effc
to achieve reductions in cost of goods sold ofdl operations through improved inventory managem@/e are continuing a program
improve margins from liquor and food sales and feedvice efficiency. Our cost of sales from ouretnet operations for the year en
September 30, 2009 was 1.5% compared to 2.6% aterkrevenues for the year ended September 30, Z20@8 overall increase in costs
goods sold as a % of revenues was due to exteralgaly hours and overall price discounting to attead¢tigher volume of customers. -
Company believes it will continue these practicgs 2010.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endqute®eber 30, 2009 were $16,135,304 compared to 623804 for the year ended Septen
30, 2008. The increase was primarily due to theeim®e in payroll in our new clubs and the incréagke minimum wage. Our payroll for ¢
nightclub operations for same-location-sapsgiod decreased by 2.9%. The decrease was pynuard to more diligent review of our staff
by management. Our payroll for Internet operatioesreased by 7.7%. We believe that our labor aadagement staff levels are
appropriate levels.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenthe20®9 was $3,416,911 compared to $2,640,987hoyear ended September 30, 2
The increase was primarily due to the increaseeint ¢h relation to the purchase of new clubs durimid-2008, including approximately
million in bank financing of real property and tH,200,000 in new convertible debt issued in JO§R We have increased our long term
to $37,812,582 as of September 30, 2009 compareeltbof $33,557,406 as of September 30, 2008.

Our net income was $5,208,097 for the fiscal yealed September 30, 2009 compared to $7,660,6@Rdqurevious year. The decrease in
net income was primarily a result of the factorscdssed in the paragraphs above.
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Following is a comparison of the Compasiyicome statement for the years ended Septemb@&080 and 2008 with percentages compar
total revenue:

2009 % 2008 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 28,298,09 37.1% $ 21,168,79 36.€%
Sales of food and merchand 6,174,76. 8.2% 5,043,52 8.7%
Service revenue 36,083,70 48.(% 28,024,45 48.4%
Internet revenue 640,66 0.€% 715,75¢ 1.2%
Media 1,404,23! 1.% 801,21! 1.4%
Other 2,548,12 3.4% 2,153,97! 3.7%

Total revenue 75,149,59 100.(%  57,907,72 100.(%
Cost of goods sol 8,773,31. 11.7% 6,539,18! 11.2%
Salaries & wage 16,135,30 21.5% 12,963,80 22.{%
Stocl- based compensati 96,17 0.1% 157,08( 0.2%
Taxes and permil 9,172,48. 12.2% 7,021,95! 12.1%
Credit card fee 1,603,04- 2.1% 1,048,90: 1.6%
Rent 3,415,55 4.5% 2,051,01! 3.5%
Legal & professiona 2,947,03. 3.S% 1,619,28 2.8%
Advertising and marketin 8,091,74! 10.8% 2,231,00! 3.£%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,205,20! 4.2% 2,222,96! 3.8%
Insurance 1,084,72! 1.4% 820,08¢ 1.4%
Utilities 1,594,601 2.1% 1,153,06:! 2.C%
Other 5,618,43! 7.5% 4,856,21. 8.4%
Total operating expens 61,737,61 82.2%  42,684,56 73.1%

Income from continuing operatiol 13,411,98 17.€% 15,223,16. 26.2%
Interest incomt 16,38¢ 0.C% 134,15¢ 0.2%
Interest expens (3,416,91) -4.5% (2,640,98) -4.€%
Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrums 145,37 0.2% - 0.C%
Minority interests (294,000 -0.4% (147,000 -0.2%
Gain on sale of assets and ot 180,50t 0.2% (73,896) -0.1%
Income from continuing operations before incomesax $ 10,043,33 13.2% $ 12,495,43 21.€%

Following is an explanation of significant variasde the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,ovigimes and other vending and certain promotios) éearged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenuesamnites at the poi-of-sale upon receipt of cash, check, or credit caadgeh



Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-@coholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/bindil
media postage and internet traffic purchases anbimaster payouts. The cost of goods sold for th dperations for the year eni
September 30, 2009 was 11.5% compared to 11.3%hdoyear ended September 30, 2008. The cost afsgemld from our internet operatic
for the year ended September 30, 2009 was 1.5% a@uo 2.6% for the year ended September 30, 2088.cost of goods sold from «
media operations for the year ended September®® ®as 23.5%, compared to 15.7% for the year eSdgdember 30, 2008. The cos
goods sold for same-location-sameriod of club continuing operations for the yeaded September 30, 2009 was 11.6%, compared t&6
for the same period ended September 30, 2008.

The increase in payroll and related costs, statetiSalaries & Wages” above, was primarily due te #ddition of the new clubs in mid-
2008. The decrease in percentage to total regeisuprincipally due to managementontinued monitoring of payroll costs in 2009idg
these tougher economic times. Payroll for saneatlon-samegeriod of club continuing operations decreasedsi6@L,640 for the year enc
September 30, 2009 from $6,796,784 for the previeer. Management currently believes that its dedomd management staff levels
appropriate.
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Taxes and permits consists principally of payrakes, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxes\sigeand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. Patron taxes amounted to851060 and $1,293,075 for the years ended Septe®@h@009 and 2008, respectively.

The increase in the percentage to revenues oftaad fees relates to increased chargebacks feotaie credit card companies in 2009.
Rent expense increased principally due to sigmificew leases in Las Vegas and Philadelphia.

Legal and professional expenses increased pritgigaé to addition of new clubs and costs relatelitigation involving claims under the F
Labor Standards Act.

The increase in the percentage of advertising aadketing to total revenue is principally due to #ualition of our new club in Las Vegas
increases in our overall marketing campaign tagtteto increase volume of customer traffic to adidtions..

Depreciation and amortization increased approxiiymzk882,000 from the year ended September 30, 2008,to the new clubs purcha
during the 2008 fiscal year.

The increase in interest expense was attributabéit obtaining new debt during the year endede®eper 30, 2009 and 2008 to finance
purchase of the new clubs and related real esfeteof September 30, 2009, the balance of lterg: debt was $38,321,806 compare
$33,557,406 a year earlier, but a substantial moxi the new debt was entered into during thetgu@anded September 30, 2009.

See “Derivative Financial Instrument” above forarrhation on the Company’s derivative financial ingtent at September 30, 2009.

Losses, before income taxes, at clubs losing maheyng the year ended September 30, 2009 approadnd8,200,000, compared
$1,100,000 for the year ended September 30, 2088se clubs do not include discontinued operatidrie significant losing club in 2009 v
Rick's Cabaret in Las Vegas. Subsequent to DeceBhe008, the Company took the following stepestoedy losses in certain clubs:

The Rick’s Cabaret in Minneapolis lost approximately $420,@0 2009 after a profit in 2008 as a result of tbgal fees and settlem
amounting to approximately $600,000 in the lawmgntioned above.

The Rick’s Cabaret in Dallas lost $418,000 before incomedaduring the period before the location was changeXTC during 2009 and Ic
$452,000 during the period ended September 30, 26@8 its purchase in April 2008. In January 20@® converted the location to X
Cabaret Dallas. This location, as XTC Cabaretd3alinade a $423,000 pretax profit for the year éS#ptember 30, 2009.

The Rick’s Cabaret in Philadelphia lost $276,000 beforenmetaxes during the quarter ended December 31, 20@8st $385,000 during |
period ended September 30, 2008 after its purchaddarch 31, 2008. We have converted the locatio@lub Onyx Philadelphia in Janu.
2009 and the club made a profit of $195,000 fortthkance of the year ended September 30, 2009.

Club Onyx Dallas did not have a liquor license dgrthe quarter ended December 31, 2008 until Deee®b2008 and lost $188,000 be!
income taxes during the quarter. This location enagrofit of $47,000 for the remainder of the yeaded September 30, 2009.

Rick’s Cabaret Las Vegas lost approximately $2,018,@90ré income taxes for the year ended Septembe2(®®. Due to the economy
Las Vegas, we expect to continue to lose monekistidcation until the Las Vegas economy improved,we have made expense reduci
and modifications to our marketirmgmpaign in this location subsequent to March 8D92and we have seen a large improvement in opee
since that time, resulting in a loss before incdaxes of $700,000 for the six months ended SepteBhe2009.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefisct the following as discontinued operationofand for the year ended Septembe
20009.

The Rick’s Cabaret in Austin was held for sale beginningthia first quarter of our 2009 fiscal year and isluded in discontinue
operations. A sale of the club was scheduled iy 1209, but the sale was never closed. The Compagggnized an impairment of the
assets of the club of $823,090 as of March 31, 2086 club is still held for sale at this time.

The Company sold one of its nightclubs, Encountean Antonio, on March 1, 2009 for $40,000, indihg $5,000 in cash and a $35,000

payable monthly for one year. The Company recaghian impairment of $221,563 for this club durihg fuarter ended December
2008. The actual loss at date of sale was $226,175
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The Company closed its Divas Latinas club in Hoogtoring September 2009. This club is also reczaghin discontinued operations.

Following is summarized information regarding thgcdntinued operations:

Year Endec
September 3(
2009 2008
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (1,089,90) $ (1,394,79)
Loss on sale of discontinued operati (1,049,26)) -
Income tax - discontinued operations 718,66 433,60°
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of $ (1,420,500 $  (961,18)

Major classes of assets and liabilities includedss®ets and liabilities of discontinued operatiassf:
Septembe Septembe

30, 30,
2009 2008
Current asset $ 176,33: $ 250,90(
Property and equipme 1,181,37! 1,641,24
Other asset 1,007,99! 1,907,291
Current liabilities (129,149 (237,449
Long-term liabilities (277,95 (255,176
Net assets (liabilities) $ 1,958,600 $ 3,306,381

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2009, we had working capitf6686,047 compared to working capital of $3,5%4,8s of September 30, 2008. Beci
of the large volume of cash we handle, stringeshazontrols have been implemented. The increaseiking capital was primarily due
working capital provided by operations and finagcactivities, net of uses of working capital fovésting purposes. At September 30, 2
our cash and cash equivalents were $12,751,423arechpo $5,429,219 at September 30, 2008.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @09 2vas $2,899,130 compared to $2,006,884 for &a¢ gnded September 30, 2008.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 2249$306,075 compared to $216,076 for the peridéeiseptember 30, 2008.

The following table presents a summary of our dasks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Years ended September .

2009 2008
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 8,926,331 $ 14,769,24
Net cash used in investing activiti (3,808,59) (38,711,80)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,204,47: 26,496,42.
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 7,32220. $ 2,553,86!

The decrease in cash provided by operating a&$vitias primarily due to the decrease in net incantefrom paying more liabilities in 20
due to the cash levels in the business. The dexirasash used in investing activities and cashkigea by financing activities relates prima
to acquisitions of businesses.

We require capital principally for the acquisitiof new clubs, renovation of older clubs and invesita in technology. We may also uti
capital to repurchase our common stock as partio§bare repurchase program.

Debt Financing:

On October 12, 2007, we borrowed $1,000,000 fromnarstment company under terms of a 10% convertitdbenture. Interest only
payable quarterly until the principal plus accruetgrest is due in nine equal quarterly paymentgriveng in October 2008. The debentur
subject to optional redemption at any time afte 8&ys from the date of issuance at 100% of thecjpél face amount plus accrued intel
The debenture plus any outstanding convertiblerésteis convertible by the holder into shares af @mmon stock at any time prior to
maturity date at the conversion price of $12 parsh
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On November 30, 2007, we entered into a Stock Rselhgreement for the acquisition of 100% of tiseésl and outstanding common stoc
Stellar Management Corporation, a Florida corporafthe "Stellar Stock”) and 100% of the issued antstanding common stock of Mia
Gardens Square One, Inc., a Florida corporatioa (MGSO Stock") which owns and operates an aduiéreainment cabaret known
"Tootsie’s Cabaret" ("Tootsie”) located at 150 NW 183rd Street, Miami Garddfisrida 33169 (the "Transaction"). Pursuant to 8tecl
Purchase Agreement, we acquired the Stellar Stoak the MGSO Stock from Norman Hickmore ("Hickmoretild Richard Stant
("Stanton") for a total purchase price of $25,000,payable $15,000,000 in cash and payable $1@00@ursuant to two Secured Promis:
Notes in the amount of $5,000,000 each to StantonHickmore (the "Notes"). The Notes bear inteegghe rate of 14% per annum with
principal payable in one lump sum payment on Novem8D, 2010 (amended to November 30, 2012). Irtereshe Notes will be payal
monthly, in arrears, with the first payment beingedhirty (30) days after the closing of the Tranti®en. We cannot preay the Notes during t
first twelve (12) months; thereafter, we may preffay Notes, in whole or in part, provided thataiily prepayment by us from Decembe
2008 through November 30, 2009, shall be paidrateaof 110% of the original principal amount aiidgny prepayment by the Company a
November 30, 2009, may be prepaid without pendlty eate of 100% of the original principal amouhhe Notes are secured by the St
Stock and MGSO Stock under a Pledge and Securitgekgent.

Effective February 1, 2008, the Company borrowe®®1,000 from a lender. The funds were utilizegay off certain other Company deb
the amount of $1,797,529. The new debt bears sttete9% and interest is payable monthly until Baby 1, 2013 at which time the principe
due in full. The note is collateralized by cert@ampany-owned property in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

In February 2008, the Company borrowed $1,561,56f fa lender. The funds were used to purchaserarafti The debt bears interes
6.15% with monthly principal and interest paymenft$11,323 beginning March 12, 2008. The note neston February 12, 2028.

As part of the acquisition of the Executive ClubDallas, we acquired the related Real Property floRC Holdings, LLC, a Texas limit
liability company ("DPC"). As consideration for tipeirchase of the Real Property, RCI paid total iration of $5,599,721, which was g
(i) $4,250,000, payable $610,000 in cash and $3080through the issuance of a five year promissoitg (the "Promissory Note") and (ii)
issuance of 57,918 shares of our restricted constumk (the "Rick's Real Property Shares") to beedlat $23.30 per share ($1,349,721).
Promissory Note bears interest at a varying ratheagreater of (i) two percent (2%) above the BriRate or (ii) seven and ohedf percer
(7.5%), and is guaranteed by Rick's and Eric Langmetdividually.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Clubiril Dallas, we acquired the Real Property from Wivay, LLC, a Texas limited liabilit
company (“Wire Way”). Pursuant to a Real EstatecRase and Sale Agreement (the “Real Estate Agre&nmdasted May 10, 2008, we pi
total consideration of $6,000,000, which was pdig$0,000 in cash and $4,350,000 through the issuaha five (5) year promissory note |
“Promissory Note”)The Promissory Note bears interest at a varyirgaathe greater of (i) two percent (2%) aboveRhime Rate or (ii) sew
and one-half percent (7.5%), which is guaranteethbyCompany and by Eric Langan, the Company’s f&hiecutive Officer, individually.

As part of the acquisition of the Las Vegas clubrtpof the purchase price was $3,000,000 pursuarg promissory note (“the Rick’
Promissory Note”), executed by and obligating Ricldearing interest at eight percent (8%) per annitin a five (5) year amortization, w
monthly payments of principal and interest, witk thitial monthly payment due in April 2009 withballoon payment of all then outstanc
principal and interest due upon the expirationnaf {2) years from the execution of the PromissoogeN

In May 2008, we borrowed $150,000 from two unredatedividuals under terms of a 10% convertible debee. Interest only is payal
quarterly beginning in August 2008 and the noteumgat and was paid in May 2009.

On August 6, 2009, we completed the sale of aneagde of $7.2 million in 10% Convertible Debentu(dse “Debentures’Yo certail
accredited investors (the “Holders"Jhe Debentures bear interest at the rate of 10%meum and mature on August 4, 2012. The Debea
are payable with one initial payment of interediyaiue February 4, 2010, and, thereafter in terakquarterly principal payments, plus accr
interest thereon. At the option of the Holders fhebentures may be converted into shares of tiep@oys common stock at $8.75 |
share. The Debentures are redeemable by us aimaeyif the closing price of its common stock fdd 2onsecutive trading days is at It
$11.50 per share. The Debentures provide thavemt ®f default occurs if: we should fail to payyaprincipal or interest when due; we shc
fail to convert any Debenture when required; weusthdail to observe or perform any covenant or agrent contained within the Debenti
there are cross defaults to other indebtednessciess of $1,000,000; there is a reorganizationjd&tion, voluntary or involuntary bankrup
or insolvency proceedings or other bankruptcy defawr a final unsatisfied judgment not covered ibgurance aggregating an exces
$1,000,000 occurs against us and is not stayedidsbor discharged within seventy-five days.

In connection with the sale of the Debentures, \8e &sued an aggregate of 164,569 warrants (therfakts”) to the Holders, on a prate
basis. We issued each Holder a number of Wareanal to 20% of the number of shares of commorkstdo which each Holdes' Debentur
is convertible. The Warrants have an exerciseepoic$8.75 and expire on August 5, 2012. The Whsrarovide that we have the righ
require exercise of the Warrants if the closingg@of our common stock for 20 consecutive tradiagsds at least $12.25.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debentures andlaWta are intended to be utilized to make futweussitions, and may be utilized
working capital and general corporate purposes.
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Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaniythe form of operating leases and debt obligetiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate masrias well as future minimum rent payments. Fuiaterest payments related to varii
interest rate debt were estimated using the inteaés in effect at September 30, 2009.

Payments Due by Peric

Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereaftel
Long-term debt $ 3832180 $ 6,05823 $ 4,73885 $ 3,752,69 $ 19,63841 $ 422,92¢ $ 3,710,69
Interest payment 11,178,322 3,551,86. 3,082,78 2,687,091 1,202,79: 344,31 309,47:
Operating lease 22,338,14 3,721,84! 2,744,54! 2,450,13 2,443,16: 2,238,20 8,740,25!

Put Options

As part of certain of our acquisition transactions, have entered into Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreements with the sellers pursuant to whichol
after a contractual period after the closing dtte,seller shall have the right, but not the oltlaya to have us purchase from seller a ce
number of our shares of common stock issued inréresactions in an amount and at a rate of not i@ a contractual number of the sh
per month (the “Monthly Shares”) calculated at meper share equal to a contractual value petestigialue of the Rick’s Shares”At our
election during any given month, we may either they Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy therithly Shares from the seller, then
seller shall sell the Monthly Shares in the openketa Any deficiency between the amount which tke#es receives from the sale of

Monthly Shares and the value of the shares shablae by us within three (3) business days of thte @f sale of the Monthly Shares du
that particular month. Our obligation to purchalse Monthly Shares from the Seller shall terminatd aease at such time as the sellel
received a contractual amount from the sale oRtit&’s Shares and any deficiency. Under the terfrieLock-Up/LeakOut Agreements, ti
seller may not sell more than a contractual nunaberur shares per 30-day period, regardless of vendhe seller “Putsthe shares to us
sells them in the open market or otherwise.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotintdf terms of certain of our long term debt ansigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumigattion that could be owed if our stock were valsdzero was $13,935,020 and
recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temp&quity. After the renegotiation, the maximwafligation that could be owed if ¢
stock were valued at zero is $11,671,000 at Semer@b, 2009. If we are required to buy back anythafse put options, the bipack
transaction will be purely a balance sheet tramsacaffecting only Temporary Equity or Derivatilz@ability and StockholdersEquity and wil
have no income statement effect. The only incotatement effect from these put options is the “marknarket”valuation quarterly of tt
derivative liability as explained in Note B of Netto Consolidated Financial Statements. Following schedule of the annual obligation (i
the renegotiation) we would have if our stock priemains in the future at the closing market paneSeptember 30, 2009 of $8.60 per shau
which there can be no assurance: (This includesi¢higative financial instruments recognized in oansolidated balance sheet at Septe
30, 2009.)

For the Year Ended September

2010 $ 2,397,600
2011 2,820,001
2012 1,945,81i
2013 130,19(
Total $ 7,293,60!

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock priseahaaggregate effect of $509,000 on the totagabitn.

We are not aware of any other event or trend tlmatldvpotentially affect liquidity. In the event $ue trend develops, we believe our worl
capital and capital expenditure requirements vélldolequately met by cash flows from operationgunopinion, working capital is not a ti
indicator of our financial status. Typically, bussses in our industry carry current liabilitieekcess of current assets because businesses
industry receive substantially immediate paymemtsiles, with nominal receivables, while inventsrand other current liabilities norme
carry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyf@enoremain flexible with payment terms, providibgsinesses in our industry w
opportunities to adjust to short-term business dtwvns. We consider the primary indicators of ficiah status to be the lortgrm trend c
revenue growth, the mix of sales revenues, oveaalh flow, profitability from operations and thedéof long-term debt.
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The following table presents a summary of suchciaitirs:

Increase Increase

Year Ended September 2009 (Decrease 2008 (Decrease 2007

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 28,298,09 33.6(% $ 21,168,79 74.7¢% $ 12,111,34.
Sales of food and merchand 6,174,76. 22.4% 5,043,52! 58.3"% 3,185,49.
Service revenue 36,083,770 28.7¢% 28,024,45 88.3(% 14,883,20
Internet revenue 640,66° -10.4% 715,75¢ -2.04% 730,62¢
Media revenue 1,404,23! 75.26% 801,21 - -
Other 2,548,12 18.3(% 2,153,97! 95.24% 1,103,26:
Total revenue $ 75,149,59 29.7% $ 57,907,722 80.8¢% $ 32,013,94
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 8,926,33 -39.5¢% $ 14,769,24 236.9%6 $ 4,383,12.
Net income $ 5,208,09 -32.02% $ 7,660,66 150.7% $ 3,054,89!
Long-term debt $ 38,321,80 16.2¢% $ 32,957,40 129.00% $ 14,387,33

We have not established lines of credit or finagonther than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidinaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlhtshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aiznéd us to repurchase up to $5,000,000 worth ocommon stock. During the fiscal y
ending September 30, 2008, no shares were purchemskt this program. During the fiscal year endegt&nber 30, 2009, we purcha
303,959 shares of common stock in the open matheices ranging from $2.64 to $8.60.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamhfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increassts through price increases and may continue sodblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasabfs. Historically, we have experienced reduaamues from April through Septem
with the strongest operating results occurringmw®ctober through March. Our experience indictias there are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after market analysis, ¢ldquire existing clubs in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahatlvappear receptive to the upscale club form@dave developed, as is the case wit
acquisition of the New York club and clubs in Clo#t¢, South Houston, Dallas/Fort Worth, San Andoriustin and Miami, (c) to form joi
ventures or partnerships to reduce stgrtand operating costs, with us contributing eqinitghe form of our brand name and manage
expertise, (d) to develop new club concepts thatcansistent with our management and marketindgsskihd/or (e) to acquire real estat
connection with club operations, although someiumay be in leased premises.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired a media division dototal cost of $1,069,754. This acquisition ireded primarily through issuance of
restricted common stock valued at $369,754, and $00 in cash. This media operation had total regsrof approximately $1,404,000 i
$801,000 for fiscal years 2009 and 2008, respdgtaved net losses of approximately $242,000 andCEXB

During fiscal 2008, we acquired five existing niglob operations and 49% of an existing nightcluleragon for a total cost of $69,768,9
including real property of $14,761,766. These asitjohs were funded primarily through indebtednes$20,990,000, including real prope
debt of $7,990,000, issuance of our restricted comstock valued at $12,964,465, $701,711 in detgifeness, and $35,461,116 in ci
These nightclub operations had total revenues pfosgmately $40,674,000 and $22,554,000 for figesrs 2009 and 2008, respectively
net income of approximately$6,708,000 and $7,418,00
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During fiscal 2009, we acquired one nightclub ofierafor cash of approximately $2,385,000.. Thesiig occurred on September 30, 2!
therefore, there are no operations of the acquiostpany in the accompanying consolidated stateofesperations.

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquing nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatithmet fit our business model as we t
done in the past. The acquisition of additionabslwill require us to obtain additional debt owiasce of our common stock, or both. There
be no assurance that we will be able to obtaintexhdil financing on reasonable terms in the futifrat all, should the need arise. An inab
to obtain such additional financing could have dwesise effect on our growth strategy.

In our Internet division, we plan to focus on higlargin Internet activities that leverage our marigeskills while requiring a low level of start-
up cost and ongoing operating costs and refinetane our Internet sites for better positioning nmgamic search rankings amongst the nr
search providers. We will restructure affiliate grams to provide higher incentives to our currdfiligtes to better promote our Internet si
while actively seeking new affiliates to send tiafb our Internet sites.

In addition to their strong cash flow, the acqudsitof the Media Division will enable us to creaew marketing synergies with major indu:
product suppliers and new national advertising ojymities. It also provides us with additional disiication of our revenue and inco
streams while remaining within our core competency.

Ite m 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
The information required by this Item begins on €34.
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RE PORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgheets of Rick’ Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiariegf&eptember 30, 20
and 2008, and the related consolidated statemdritecome, changes in permanent stockholdergiity, and cash flows for the years t
ended. These financial statements are the resplitysdf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expressmnian on thes
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reporting. .
audit includes consideration of internal controbo¥inancial reporting as a basis for designingitaptbcedures that are appropriate in
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compainyésnal control over financial reportir
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptimgiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrechbove present fairly, in all material respedtg tonsolidated financial position of Rigk’
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries, aSeytember 30, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidaesedts of their operations and their ¢
flows for the years then ended in conformity witit@unting principles generally accepted in the &bhiStates of America.

/s Whitley Penn LLI
Dallas, Texas
December 17, 2009
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RIC K'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable
Trade, ne
Other, ne
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Assets of discontinued operatic
Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Other asset:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible
Definite lived intangibles, ne
Other

Total other asse!
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Texas patron tax liabilit

Current portion of derivative liabilitie

Current portion of lon-term deb!

Liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities

Deferred tax liability

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Long-term dek-related partie

Long-term debi

Derivative liabilities at fair value, less curregrdrtion
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Minority interest
Temporary equit- Common stock, subject to put rights 317,000 arid ®10 shares, respective

Permanent stockholders' equi
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares aa#ithrnone outstandir
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000,000 shares autthr®,879,566 and 9,689,315 shares issued,
respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Retained earning

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in trgas 2008, at cost
Total stockholders' equi

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ
See accompanying notes to consolidated finanGments.
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September 30
2009 2008

$ 12,751,42 $ 5,429,221
774,84: 625,00!
136,61! 227,62.
1,222,04. 1,668,53:
839,78t 553,22(
2,365,70. 3,799,44.
18,090,41 12,303,04
47,265,55 48,398,33
77,399,48 74,703,17
1,088,511 1,194,59:
1,233,39 469,66
79,721,39 76,367,43

$ 145,077,35 $ 137,068,80
$ 784,57 $ 1,161,24
2,345,38i 3,966,63:
1,125,98! 440,93
885,60( -
5,855,72 2,644,54
407,09¢ 492,62
11,404,36 8,705,96!
18,303,39 16,616,30
641,80( 537,96

- 600,00(

31,956,85 30,312,86
2,455,99. -
64,762,40 56,773,10
3,352,091 3,358,091
6,871,00! 13,935,02
88,79¢ 96,89:
54,530,31 53,948,17
- (13,34

15,472,74 10,264,65
70,091,86 64,296,36

- (1,293,780

70,091,86 63,002,58

$ 145,077,35 $137,068,80
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RI CK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenues
Sales of alcoholic beverag
Sales of food and merchand
Service revenue
Internet revenue
Media revenue
Other

Total revenue

Operating expense
Cost of goods sol
Salaries and wagt
Stoclk-based compensatic
Other general and administrati\
Taxes and permit
Charge card fee
Rent
Legal and profession
Advertising and marketin
Depreciation and amortizatic
Insurance
Utilities
Other
Total operating expenses

Income from operation

Other income (expense
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Gain on change in fair value of derivative instruns
Minority interests
Gain on sale of property and ott

Income from continuing operations before income=&

Income taxes

Income from continuing operatiol
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxesaof $718,663 and $433,6

Net income

Basic earnings (loss) per sha
Income from continuing operatiol
Loss from discontinued operatio
Net income

Diluted earnings (loss) per sha

Income from continuing operatiol
Loss from discontinued operations

Net income

Weighted average number of common shares outsigr
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sients.
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Year Ended September 30

2009 2008
$ 28,298,009 $ 21,168,79
6,174,76: 5,043,52
36,083,70 28,024,45
640,66 715,75¢
1,404,23; 801,21
2,548,12 2,153,97"
75,149,59 57,907,72
8,773,31: 6,539,18"
16,135,30 12,963,80
96,17 157,08(
9,172,48. 7,021,95
1,603,04- 1,048,90:
3,415,55 2,051,01"
2,947,03; 1,619,28.
8,091,74 2,231,00!
3,205,20! 2,222,961
1,084,72! 820,08
1,594,601 1,153,06i
5,618,43 4,856,21;
61,737,61 _ 42,684,56
13,411,98 15,223,16
16,38« 134,15¢
(3,416,91)  (2,640,98)
145,37: -
(294,00() (147,00()
180,501 (73,89¢)
10,043,33 12,495,43
3,414,73 3,873,58!
6,628,60. 8,621,85:
(1,420,50) (961,18
$ 520809 $ 7,660,66
$ 0.7: $ 1.0¢
(0.15) (0.12)

$ 056 $ 0.97
$ 0.7¢C $ 1.02
(0.15) (0.11)

$ 05¢ $ 0.91
9,265,78. 7,931,12.
9,427,39 8,413,18:
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RI CK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years Ended September 30, 2009 and 2008

Common Stock Treasury Stock
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Number of Paid-In  Comprehensive Retained Number of Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Shares Amount Equity
Balance at September 30,
2007 6,903,35- $ 69,03¢ $22,643,59 $ 20,027 $ 2,603,98: 908,53( $(1,293,78)$ 24,042,85
Shares issue 3,182,70: 31,827 43,560,81 - - - - 43,592,64
Change in temporai
equity (396,740 (3,968 (12,481,65) - - - - (12,485,62)
Beneficial conversiol - - 68,33 - - - - 68,33
Stoclk-basec
compensatiol - - 157,08( - - - - 157,08(
Net income - - - - 7,660,66 - - 7,660,66
Change in availab-for-
sale securities - - - (33,369 - - - (33,36
Comprehensive incorn - - - - - - - 7,627,29
Balance at September &
2008 9,689,31! 96,89 53,948,17 (13,347 10,264,65 908,53( (1,293,78) 63,002,58
Stock options exercise 300,00( 3,00 744,74! - - - - 747,74!
Change in temporary
equity - - 547,13t - - - - 547,13t
Issuance of warran - - 539,17¢ - - - - 539,17¢
Purchase of treasury
shares - - - - - 303,95¢ (1,486,20i) (1,486,20)
Retired treasury shar (1,109,74) (11,097 (2,768,89) - - (1,212,48) 2,779,98 -
Stock-based
compensatiol - - 96,17: - - - - 96,17:
Record derivative liabilit - - 1,423,80! - - - - 1,423,80:
Change in available-for-
sale securitie - - - 13,347 - - - 13,34%
Net income - - - - 5,208,09 - - 5,208,09
Comprehensive incorn - - - - - - - 5,221,44.
Balance at September &
2009 8,879,56! $ 88,79¢ $54,530,31 $ - $15,472,74 - 95 - $ 70,091,86

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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RI CK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Loss from discontinued operatio

Income from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash praviole operating activities

Bad debt:s
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred taxe
Gain on sale of asse
Amortization of note discout
Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrums
Beneficial conversiol
Minority interests
Deferred rent:
Common stock issued for interest paymr
Stock compensation exper
Common stock issued for n-employee service
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Cashprovided by operating activities of continuing cgtesns
Cash used in operating activities of discontinupérations

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of prope

Additions to property and equipme

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu

Payments from notes receivable

Cash used in investing activities of continuing ragiens
Cash used in investing activities of discontinupdrations
Net cash used in investing activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of common st

Proceeds from stock options exerci:

Proceeds from lor-term debt

Purchase of put options and payments on derivaisteument
Payments on lor-term debt

Purchase of treasury sto

Proceeds from warrant conversi

Distribution to minority interest

Cash provided by financing activities of continuimgerations

NET INCREASE IN CASF
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOL

CASH AT END OF PERIOL

CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR
Interest

Income taxes
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FOR THE YEAR ENDEL
SEPTEMBER 30

2009 2008
$ 520809 $ 7,660,66
1,420,50. 961,18!
6,628,60 8,621,85:

- 83,20¢

3,205,20! 2,222,96
853,33 1,170,51:
(180,501) -
29,95¢ 29,62
(145,37 -
22,77 37,73
294,00 147,00(
103,83: 117,55:

- 106,96¢

96,17 157,08(

- 137,70

13,34’ -
(58,29¢) 91,30«
470,26 (870,48
(1,041,93) (248,43
(1,267,01) 3,508,26:
9,024,371 15,312,84
(98,04() (543,59}
8,026,33  14,769,24
728,80 36,00(
(2,114,65)  (3,102,61)
(2,433,57)  (35,613,12)
25,08: 63,99
(3,794,34)  (38,615,74)
(14,257) (96,05°)
(3,808,59)  (38,711,80)

- 27,352,50

747, 74% 347,70
7,200,001 2,150,001
(1,148,68) -
(2,808,37)  (3,353,77)
(1,486,20) -

- 150,00(

(300,001() (150,001)
220447 _ 26,496,42
7,322,20. 2,553,86!
5,429 21! 2,875,35

$ 1275142 $ 542921
$ 321554 $ 2,239,99:
$ 283297 $ 171,03
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Non-cash transactions:

In June 2009, the Company retired its treasuryksameounting to $2,779,988 by a charge to additipaid-in capital.
In April 2009, the Company acquired 15,218 of hares subject to put options with notes payabkita; $350,000.

In April 2009, the Company transferred $5,175,088hT temporary equity and recorded the fair valughef resulting derivative financ
instrument of $3,751,192. The difference was raeczegl in additional paid-in capital.

In March 2009, the Company sold 100% of the comistock of Texas S&I which owned and operated theoEnters nightclub for $40,0(
including a note for $35,000.

In August 2009, the Company issued $7,200,000 ivedible debentures and issued common stock wartanthe creditors. The warra
were valued at $539,178 and the unamortized poigioacognized as a discount on the related debieimccompanying balance sheet.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Caynparchased Stellar Management Corporation andnM{aardens Square One, I
owner/operator of Tootsig'Cabaret in Florida for $25,486,000 (which inclidfeventories and other assets), payable to thers&15,486,0C
in cash, $10,000,000 pursuant to two secured psarnysotes in the amount of $5,000,000 each, @timated transaction costs of $175,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Coynmarchased an aircraft through the issuancenota payable of $1,561,500.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, in cdimmewith the acquisition of the remaining 49% daynates Gentlemes'Club LLC, th
Company issued 35,000 common shares valued atCE¥@O,

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Caoynparchased The End Zone, Inc., owner/operatoCrmaizy Horse Too Cabaret
Philadelphia for $7,985,000 payable to the sel3$00,000 in cash and $4,485,000 pursuant toseance of 195,000 shares of restri
common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Coynparchased Hotel Development Ltd., owner/operafdrhe Executive Club in Dall
Texas for a total purchase price of $3,590,609ctwhvas paid through the issuance of 152,082 shafrdse Companys restricted comme
stock and $46,490 in cash. The Company also puechd® real property associated with the club,afdotal consideration of $5,599,7
which was paid (i) $4,250,000, payable $610,00@ash and $3,640,000 through the issuance of ayfae promissory note and (ii)
issuance of 57,918 shares of the Company'’s restrimbmmon stock to be valued at $23.50 per share.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Coyrpequired three entities to form a media dividimna total consideration of $1,069,7
consisting of $700,000 in cash and 21,740 sharesstficted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the olfeconvertible debentures converted $825,000rinicipal into 125,953 shares of
Company'’s restricted common stock.
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During the year ended September 30, 2008, the holdla convertible debenture converted $784,92profcipal and interest into 156,1
shares of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Coynparchased the assets of North by East Entergminratd., owner/operator of t
Platinum Club Il in Dallas, Texas for a total puask price of $1,500,000 cash. As part of the teiitsa the Company also acquired the
property associated with the club for a total cdesition of $6,000,000, which was paid $1,650,00@ash and $4,350,000 through
issuance of a five-year promissory note. The Comp@dso incurred acquisition costs of $69,998, whials paid in cash.

During the year ended September 30, 2008, the Caoynparchased the assets of DI Food & Beverage sf\legas, LLC, owner/operator
the Scores Club in Las Vegas, Nevada for a totathase price of $18,147,498, payable through theaisce of a promissory note in
amount of $3,000,000, the issuance of 200,000 sharthe Company restricted common stock, and $12,066,667 in CHsd.Company al
incurred acquisition costs of $326,830, which waisl in cash.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisstents.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

A. Nature of Business

Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companig)a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Then@any currently owns and oper
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment,taegsant, and bar operations. These nightclubs aoatéd in Houston, Austin, San Antol
Dallas and Fort Worth, Texas, as well as Minneapdlinnesota, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Charldttath Carolina, New York, New Yot
Miami Gardens, Florida, and Las Vegas, Nevada. Company also owns and operates several adult aiment Internet websites an
media division. The Company’s corporate officeslacated in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conféymith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffhat eertain reported amounts in the financialtesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousraBsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatesssougnations may vary under different assumptionsoaditions. We evaluate our estimi
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadt@unting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition and resi
of operations.

On July 1, 2009, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) issued FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Saadsl No. 16¢
FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Biiehy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principleshich is included in FAS
Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”) 1@enerally Accepted Accounting Principledhis new guidance approved the FASB AS
the single source of authoritative nongovernme@®RhP. The FASB ASC is effective for interim or aral periods ending after September
2009. All existing accounting standards have bseperseded and all other accounting literatureimdtded in the FASB ASC will t
considered nomuthoritative. The ASC is a restructuring of GAAPBsigned to simplify access to all authoritatiteriiture by providing
topically organized structure. The adoption of BASSC did not impact the Compamyfinancial condition or results of operations.chieica
references to GAAP included in these notes to thiesGlidated Financial Statements are provided uthdenew FASB ASC structure.

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidatesdial statements have been prepared using theahdasis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. St intercompany accounts
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsfinett@ertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying notes. Ac
results could differ from these estimates and apsioms.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasdd to be cash equivalents.
September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company had ioisuestments. The Company maintains depositeversal financial institutions, whi

may at times exceed amounts covered by insurarméded by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Caitpoor ("FDIC"). The Company h
not experienced any losses related to amountsdassxof FDIC limits.

41




Table of Content

RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub opemnat primarily comprised of credit card chargebjcl are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The magiaigh’'s accounts receivable is primarily comprised otnegbles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receajatther is comprised of employee advances and ottseellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termsedigheement and based upon managesentluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdswadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaloke will not be collected.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of common stock. FASEC 320,Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg@ecurities require
certain investments be recorded at fair value coréimed cost. The securities were written downemzat September 30, 2008. The approg.
classification of the investments in marketableigqis determined at the time of purchase anévatluated at each balance sheet date.

September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company’s matkesaiourities were classified as availabledale, which are carried at fair value, v
unrealized gains and losses reported as other edrapsive income within the stockholdeesjuity section of the accompanying consolid
balance sheets. The cost of marketable equity siesusold is determined on a specific identifioatbasis. The fair value of marketable ec
securities is based on quoted market prices. Thave been no realized gains or losses related tketadle securities for the years er
September 30, 2009 or 2008. Marketable securitdd &t September 30, 2009 and 2008 have a cos baapproximately $13,000. Due
lack of market transaction, the value of marketaeleurity was written off from the Company’s balarsteet as of September 30, 2008.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @mnpany merchandise. Inventories are carried ataher of cost (on a first-in, firsbui
(“FIFO”) basis), or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prowsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatitrments that extend the useful lives are daggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditeztén the accompanying consolidated statemeintaafme of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Impairment of Lag-Lived Assets

FASB ASC 350Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assetgldresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB A
350, goodwill and intangible assets with indefidites are no longer amortized, but reviewed oraanual basis for impairment, or soons
there is an indication of impairment. The Compaayiews property and equipment and intangible ass#ts definite lives for impairme
whenever events or changes in circumstances imdibatcarrying amount of an asset may not be reable= Recoverability of these asse
measured by comparison of its carrying amountsutaré undiscounted cash flows the assets are egdot generate. If property ¢
equipment and intangible assets with definite liges considered to be impaired, the impairmentetodzognized equals the amount by w
the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fditevaissets are grouped at the lowest level for whiadrdhare identifiable cash flows wt
assessing impairment, principally at the club le@dsh flows for our club assets are identifiedhat individual club level. The Compansy’
annual evaluation was performed as of Septembe2@®I), based on a projected discounted cash flothodeusing a discount rate determi
by management to be commensurate with the riskémtén the current business model. The Compatsriaéned that there is no impairm
for the year ended September 30, 2009, excepthforihpairment taken in the second quarter of fi9 relating to the discontint
operation in Austin. All of the Comparg/'goodwill and intangible assets relate to the tieigh segment, except for $567,000 related t
acquisition of the media division. Definite liventéangible assets are amortized on a strdightbasis over their estimated lives. Fully anmzent
assets are written-off against accumulated amaidiza
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — caimued
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its asaettliabilities which qualify as financial instremts and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertierwthe fair value is different than the carryimgjue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiatug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since thesguments be.
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargdeld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8A8¢counting for Derivative Financial Instruments &ad to, and Potentially Settled ir
Company’s Own StockUnder certain circumstances that would requiee@ompany to settle these equity items in caghwathout regard t
probability, FASB ASC 815 would require the clagsifion of all or part of the item as a liabilitp@the adjustment of that reclassified am
to fair value at each reporting date, with suclusitents reflected in the Compasgonsolidated statements of income. The firgtunsent tc
meet the requirements of FASB ASC 815 for derivatiecounting occurred in the quarter ended Jun2®® when the Company renegoti:
the payback terms of certain put options and agre@iedge as collateral to certain holders a seédien on certain property.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities whelmet securities became derivatives were estimatdz t$3,751,192 in accordance with FA
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuressing a Black-Scholes optigmicing model using the following weighted aver
assumptions:

Volatility 73%
Expected life 3.42 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.34%

The related put options were recognized in temyoeguity in the amount of $5,175,000 at the timeytlvere issued. The difference betw
that amount and the value of the derivative of $3,792, amounting to $1,423,808, was included ditawhal paid-in capital.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities as®€ptember 30, 2009 were estimated to be $3,341n58&ordance with FASB ASC 820, usir
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogrweighted average assumptions:

Volatility 76%
Expected life 3.00 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.45%
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued

Derivative Financial Instruments - continued

The gain for the year ended September 30, 2008gnézed in earnings amounted to $145,374.
Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income in acooedavith the provisions of FASB ASC 22Beporting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income anmsdésses) on available-fegele marketable securities and is presented indhsolidate
statements of changes in permanent stockholdeustyeq

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other vmseand services at the pointsafi
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membershipscordance with FASB ASC 605-Z8evenue Recognitiohy deferring memberst
revenue and recognizing over the estimated memiperstage period. Management estimates that thehtezigaverage useful lives
memberships are 12 and 24 months for annual agtiiié memberships, respectively. The Company doesrack membership usage by t
of membership, however it believes these livesappropriate and conservative, based on managesnkmbwledge of its client base ¢
membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from myprahbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdgem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyideeot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emined estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertisingent are recognized when the issue is publisimedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo atioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes gmictvenues and an equal expense in accordancd-A8B ASC 605. Total sales ¢
liguor taxes aggregated $4,544,160 and $3,815 &4 é years ended September 30, 2009 and 20¢@@atesely.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primariljngosed of costs related to public advertisemenid giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includeaperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiainethod in accordance with FASB ASC 748;counting for Income TaxeDeferret
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for tteré tax consequences attributable to differermgaeen the financial statement carn
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrthespective tax bases. Deferred tax assets apitlities are measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanwhith those temporary differences are expectedetoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changenrates is recognized in income in the period thaudes theenactment date. In additior
valuation allowance is established to reduce arfigros tax asset for which it is determined thas iore likely than not that some portior
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Income Taxes - continued

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presargha minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being re@ef in the financial statements. FASB ASC 74® gsovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaltiesounting in interim periods, disclosure anddiion. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consadifinancial statements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttiactemmon shares as partial consideration for aitipuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderushsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedeppier share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrsis or, if management elects not to do so, théehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhise shares in accordance with the guidance lisbiat by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equitas a reclassification of the value of the sharesfpermanent to temporary equity. As the shareerhe
due, the Company transfers the value of the shrrrelsto permanent equity. Also see “Derivativedhitial Instruments” above.

Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdaith FASB ASC 260Earnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniam@dmputed by dividing income availabls
common stockholders by the weighted average numbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Diutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shamethe earnings of the Company. Potential commockssbares consist of shares that may
from outstanding dilutive common stock options avatrants (the number of which is computed using“tteasury stock method’and fron
outstanding convertible debentures (the number lithvis computed using the “if converted method)luted EPS considers the poter
dilution that could occur if the Comparsydutstanding common stock options, warrants andertible debentures were converted into com
stock that then shared in the Company’s earningadaisted for interest expense, that would nodoogcur if the debentures were converted).
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - catinued
Earnings Per Common Share - continued

Net earnings applicable to common stock and thghted average number of shares used for basidiandd earnings per share computat
are summarized in the table that follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30
2009 2008
Basic earnings per shal

Income from continuing operatiol $ 6,628,60. $ 8,621,885
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxesa (1,420,509 (961,18
Net income $ 520809 $ 7,660,66
Average number of common shares outstanding 9,265,78 7,931,12.
Basic earnings per share - income from continujperations $ 07z $ 1.0¢
Basic earnings per share - discontinued operations $ (0.15) $ (0.12)
Basic earnings per share - net income $ 0.5¢ $ 0.97
Diluted earnings per shat

Income from continuing operatiol $ 6,62860 $ 8,621,85
Adj. to net earnings from assumed conversion oedalres (1) - -
Adjusted income from continuing operatic 6,628,60. 8,621,85.
Discontinued operations (1,420,50) (961,18
Adjusted net income $ 5,20809 $ 7,660,66
Average number of common shares outstanc

Common shares outstandi 9,265,78. 7,931,12.
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercisavarrants and options (. 161,61: 367,06:
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversiéraebentures (3) - 115,00(
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 9,427,39 8,413,18.
Diluted earnings per sha- income from continuing operatiol $ 0.7C $ 1.0Z
Diluted earnings per sha- discontinued operatior $ (0.15) $ (0.11)
Diluted earnings per sha- net income $ 058 $ 0.91

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive atithe debentures, that would not occur if they avassumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options weresidered for the EPS computation.

(3) Convertible debentures (principal and accrimerest) outstanding at September 30, 2009 a8 2ftaling $7,892,940 and $1,100,¢
respectively, were convertible into common stockaaprice of $8.75 and $12.00 in 2009 and $12.00 $2&32 per share in 2008.
debentures were dilutive in 2009 and debentureseartible into 115,000 shares were dilutive in 2(@8&sed on average balances outstanding).

*EPS may not foot due to rounding.
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B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Stock Options

At September 30, 2009, the Company has stock aptimtstanding, which are described more fully ineNb As of October 1, 2006, 1
Corporation began accounting for these plans utiderecognition and measurement principles ofvaiue set forth in FASB ASC Topic 7:
Compensation-Stock Compensatign which replaced FASB No. 123R, and FASB ASC Sectih8-10-S99, Compensatiorstocl
Compensation Overall: SEC Materials, formerly SAB 107. Thengmensation cost recognized for the year ended Séyete30, 2009 ar
2008 was $96,171 and $157,080, respectively. Tivere 300,000 and 125,000 stock option exerciseth®dyears ended September 30, .
and 2008, respectively.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

On July 1, 2009, the FASB issued Statement of FiahrAccounting Standards No. 16BASB Accounting Standards Codification and
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Prinel, which is included in FASB ASC 10Benerally Accepted Accounting Principled his
new guidance approved the FASB ASC as the singleesmf authoritative nongovernmental GAAP. TheSBAASC is effective for interim
annual periods ending after September 15, 2008exdting accounting standards have been supedsaukd all other accounting literature
included in the FASB ASC will be considered rauthoritative. The ASC is a restructuring of GAABsigned to simplify access to
authoritative literature by providing a topicallyganized structure. The adoption of FASB ASC dat mpact the Compang’financia
condition or results of operations. Technical refees to GAAP included in these notes to the AQaeed Financial Statements are provi
under the new FASB ASC structure.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16bibsequent EvenfEASB ASC Topic 855), which establishes generatddads of accountir
for, and requires disclosure of, events that oafter the balance sheet date but before finant@éments are issued or are available 1
issued. The Company adopted the provisions of FASE Topic 855 as of June 30, 2009. The adoptiothese provisions did not hawv
significant impact on the Company’s consolidateadificial statements.

In December 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (B3@), Fair Value MeasurementsSFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition of fair val
describes methods used to appropriately measurevdhie, and expands fair value disclosure requérgs) but does not change exis
guidance as to whether or not an instrument isSezhat fair value. For financial assets and ligiedi, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal ye
beginning after November 15, 2007, which requifegl Company to adopt these provisions in fiscal 26@® nonfinancial assets and liabilit
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years begimnafter November 15, 2008, which will require then@pany to adopt these provision:
fiscal 2010.

SFAS No. 157 establishes a thtem-fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes thepirts used in the valuation methodologies in meaguifait
value:

« Level 1 — Observable inputs that reflect quotedexi(unadjusted) for identical assets or liabgifreactive markets.
« Level 2 — Include other inputs that are directlyratirectly observable in the marketplace.
« Level 3 — Unobservable inputs which are supporielittle or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entityn@ximize the use of observable inputs and minintiee use of unobservable inputs w
measuring fair value.
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B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards - eginued
The Company'’s derivative liabilities have been nueag principally utilizing Level 2 inputs.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (886), The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fingl Liabilities Including
an Amendment of FASB Statement No.(REC 825). The fair value option permits entitieschoose to measure eligible financial instrurr
at fair value at specified election dates. Thetgmtill report unrealized gains and losses on teens on which it has elected the fair vi
option in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective beginnindiscal year 2008. The adoption of SFAS 159 dal have a material impact on
Companys financial position or results of operations. Twmpany does not expect that the adoption of theselards would have a mate
impact on its financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement NoR1Blsiness Combination6SFAS 141"), and Statement No. 168pn-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Stateme, an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160’ASC 805). SFAS 141R modifies the accour
and disclosure requirements for business combimaimd broadens the scope of the previous statalapply to all transactions in which ¢
entity obtains control over another business. SHAS establishes new accounting and reporting stdad@ar noneontrolling interests |
subsidiaries. The Company was required to applyptbgisions of the new standards in the first qeraof fiscal 2010. Early adoption was
permitted for these new standards. The Company doegxpect that the adoption of these standardddvoave a material impact on
financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disates about Derivative Instruments and Hedgingviies, an Amendment of FAS
Statement No. 133. SFAS No. 161 amends SFAS Noaf83equires entities to enhance their disclosaiesit (2) how and why an entity u
derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instrurtse and related hedged items are accounted forruBBAS No. 133 and its relat
interpretations, and (c) how derivative instrumeand related hedged items affect an ergififiancial position, financial performance, andh
flows. The adoption of this standard did not haveaderial impact on the Company ’s financial steats.

C. Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiehform to the current year presentation, paeityin relation to discontinued operations.
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D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

Buildings and lant
Leasehold improvemen
Furniture

Equipment

Total property and equipme
Less accumulated depreciati

Property and equipment, net

E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thio¥ahg:

Indefinite useful lives
Goodwill
Licenses

Definite useful lives
Discounted lease
Unamortized non-compete agreements

Total goodwill and intangible assets
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September 30
2009 2008

$33,443,07. $33,948,67
9,909,70: 8,923,64!
2,170,35 1,988,05!
11,802,43  10,884,97
57,325,56°  55,745,35
10,060,01 7,347,02.

$47,265,55 $48,398,33

September 30
2009 2008
$ 36,139,69 $ 35,404,83
41,259,79 39,298,34
Amortization
Period
18 & 6 years 81,68: 99,75¢
5 years 1,006,83: 1,094,83
$ 78,488,000 $ 75,897,76
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E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets- continued

2009 2008
Licenses Goodwill Licenses Goodwill
Beginning balanc $39,298,34 $35,404,83 $12,32395 $ 7,130,31
Change in tax basis of ass - 686,50t - 10,301,17
Intangibles acquired 1,961,45: 48,35 26,974,38 17,973,34
Ending balance $41,259,79 $36,139,69 $39,298,34 $35,404,83

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization ate®eiper 30, 2009 for each of the years ir
five-year period ending September 30, 2014 andediftar is 2010 - $331,071, 2011 - $310,241, 20$249,741, 2013 - $134,976, 2014 -

$42,347, and thereafter - $20,140.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets sish of sexually oriented business licenses or gilbdvhich were obtained as part of -
acquisitions. These licenses are the result ofrgpoirdinances, thus are valid indefinitely, subjecfiling annual renewal applications, wh
are done at minimal costs to the Company. As clastsfare expected to continue indefinitely, in ademce with FASB ASC 35@;00dwill
and Other Intangible Assetghe licenses are determined to have indefiniedulidives. The discounted cash flow method of imeoapproac
was used in calculating the value of these liceirsashusiness combination.

Goodwill of $931,430 and $1,754,520 attributableligcontinued operations is not recognized in th@va amounts as of September 30, .
and 2008, respectively.
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F. Long-term Debt

Notes payable at-11%, mature August 201

Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014 ancddaf015

Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, colliderhby assets of RCI Entertainment Nc¢
Carolina, Inc

Note payable at 7.5%, matures August 2 *

Convertible note payable at 4%, matures May 20&0ateralized by assets of RCI Entertainment I
York, Inc.

Note payable at 7%, matures December Z *
Note payable at 4.9%, matures December 2010, eddliied by equipmel
Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2! *

Notes payable to related parties at 12%, maturesiidner 200¢

Notes payable at 14%, mature November 30, 201{&teadlized by stocks of Miami Gardens Sqt
One, Inc. and Stellar Management, |

Note payable at 6.15%, matures February 2028, tecélized by an aircra

Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime5%7(7.5% at September 30, 2009), matures /

2013 *
Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime5$y7(7.5% at September 30, 2009), matures
2013 *

Convertible notes payable at 10%, matured May :

Note payable at 8%, matures September :

Convertible note payable at 10%, matures Octob0 *
4% notes payable converted from put opti

10% convertible debentures

Total debi

Less current portion

Total lon¢-term debt

* Collateralized by real estate
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September 30

2009 2008
$ 196128 $ 2,070,66!
2,627,28 2,696,79
162,81! 208,52¢
874,71! 918,55:
266,42t 1,023,96!
335,73t 357,411
- 16,56(
1,903,47 2,117,66:
- 600,00(
10,000,00 10,000,00
1,497,88! 1,538,97.
3,526,091 3,606,68:
4,232,11. 4,327,16!
- 100,00(
2,894,44. 3,020,001
560,16: 954,44
279,37( -
6,690,77 -
37,812,58 33,557,40
5,855,72 2,644,54.
$ 31,956,85 $ 30,912,86
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F. Long-term Debt - continued

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcoomvertible debenture with a greater than 10%edtwdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture was convertible into 2ZDglares of the Comparsytommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitat®dnThe term was for three years and interestisate 12% per annum. The debenture
converted into 220,000 common shares in July 2068. Company also issued 50,000 detachable waraa$3.00 per share in relation to-
debenture. The warrants were exercisable at ang tithin the period beginning on July 22, 2005 axgiring on July 22, 2008 and w:
exercised in July 2008. The value of the discouninote payable was estimated to be $106,656 atldbe of grant using a Blackehole
option-pricing model with the following assumptions

Volatility 138%
Expected life 3 year:
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2008, the Compmuorded $29,627 interest expense. The debentuseseeured by the Company’
ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Holdings¢l

The Company has accounted for this transactionruRASB ASC 470. The value of the embedded benéfamaversion feature on the n
payable was estimated to be $53,856. For thegmded September 30, 2008, the Company recorde@6El 4f interest expense related ta
value of the embedded beneficial conversion feature

As a part of the purchase of the New York club, @mnpany obtained a $5.125 million promissory rizgaring simple interest at the ratt
4.0% per annum with a balloon payment at the erfivefyears.

On August 24, 2006, as part of the purchase ofia it San Antonio, Texas (formerly known as “Cefdigis”), the Company obtained thi
promissory notes: a $400,000 note bearing simpgkrést at the rate of 12% per annum and maturingcia007, a $200,000 note bea
interest at the rate of 12% per annum maturing Urlpr2007, and a $1,700,000 note bearing intetebeaate of 7.5% with a balloon paym
at end of five years. These notes payable are sgdyrthe real estate.

On November 9, 2006, the Company entered into atible=debentures with three shareholders for agyal sum of $600,000. The term is
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annunthd@ election of the holders, the holders haverigbt to convert (subject to cert
limitations) all or any portion of the principal amnt of the debentures into shares of the Compargmmon stock at a rate of $7.50 per s
which was higher than the closing price of the Camyps stock on November 9, 2006. The debenturegiggpabsent shareholdapproval
that the number of shares of the Compargdmmon stock that may be issued by the Compaigauired by the holders upon conversic
the debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of the not@ber of issued and outstanding shares of thep@oys common stock. The proceed:
the debentures were used for the acquisition df%a Bwnership interest of Playmates Gentlerae@lub LLC. The debentures were paid in
in November 2008.

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., the Compasawholly owned subsidiary ("RCI"), entered intoassignment of a certain real estate ¢
contract between the owner of the property and W.Kinc. for the purchase of the real property ledaat 7101 Calmont, Fort Worth, Te
76116 (the "Real Property") where the club is ledafor a total purchase price of $2,500,000, whiohsisted of $100,000 in cash
$2,400,000 payable in a six year promissory notiliéosellers which will accrue interest at the 1@it&.25% for the first two years, 8.25%
years three and four and 9.25% thereafter (themidsory Note"). The Promissory Note is secured lofe@d of trust and security agreem
Further, the Company entered into an assignmentaaadmption of lease agreement with sellers tonasgshe lease agreement for the |
Property.

On October 12, 2007, the Company borrowed $1,00Q0ffifim an investment company under terms of a 10%vertible debenture. Inter
only is payable quarterly until the principal plascrued interest is due in nine equal quarterlynmays beginning in October 2008. -
debenture is subject to optional redemption at ttmg after 366 days from the date of issuance 80d0f the principal face amount p
accrued interest. The debenture plus any outstgntbnvertible interest is convertible by the holdgo shares of the Compaisytommo
stock at any time prior to the maturity date ate¢baversion price of $12 per share.
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

In connection with the acquisition of Tootsie’s @adt in Miami Gardens, Florida, the Company entémegitwo Secured Promissory Notes for
a total of $10,000,000 (the "Notes"). The Notes lnei@rest at the rate of 14% per annum with thegipal payable in one lump sum payment
on November 30, 2010 (see below). The Company d¢greepay the Notes during the first twelve (12)mhs; thereafter, the Company may
prepay the Notes, in whole or in part, provided tiyaany prepayment by the Company from Decemb&008 through November 30, 2009,
shall be paid at a rate of 110% of the originahgipal amount and (ii) any prepayment by the Competer November 30, 2009, may be
prepaid without penalty at a rate of 100% of thigioal principal amount. The Notes are securedhgystock of the companies acquired unc
Pledge and Security Agreement.

On April 29, 2009, the Company entered into a miodifon to its two secured promissory notes inghavious paragraph, whereby the due
for the $5 million of principal due and payablethy Company under each note was extended by tws jreem November 2010 to Novem
2012. All other terms and conditions of the praoiy notes remain the same. The Company paidah a6t$150,000 to the holders of
notes as consideration for their agreement to extiem notes for two years through November 2012e $150,000 paid will be amortized a:
adjustment of interest expense over the remairfagf the notes. The Company accounted for fi@iegaction in accordance with FASB A
470.

Effective February 1, 2008, the Company borrowe®®0,000 from a lender. The funds were utilize@ag off certain other Company deb
the amount of $1,797,529. The new debt bears sttete9% and interest is payable monthly until Baby 1, 2013 at which time the principe
due in full. The note is collateralized by cert@iampany-owned property in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

In February 2008, the Company borrowed $1,561,56f fa lender. The funds were used to purchaserarafti The debt bears interes
6.15% with monthly principal and interest paymenft$11,323 beginning March 12, 2008. The note nestwn February 12, 2028.

In May 2008, the Company borrowed $150,000 from twoelated individuals under terms of 10% convégtitlebentures. Interest only
payable quarterly beginning in August 2008 andnbies matured and were retired in May 2009.

As part of the acquisition of the Executive ClubOrllas, the Company acquired the related Reald?tgfrom DPC Holdings, LLC, a Tex
limited liability company ("DPC"). As part of theonsideration for the purchase of the Real Propéng,Company entered into a $3,640
five year promissory note (the "Promissory Notdfhe Promissory Note bears interest at a varying aatthe greater of (i) two percent (¢
above the Prime Rate or (ii) seven and one-halgrer(7.5%), and is guaranteed by the Company aiwdLBEngan, the Company’Chie
Executive Officer, individually.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum Clubiril Dallas, the Company acquired the Real PropedinfWire Way, LLC, a Texas limit
liability company (“Wire Way”). Pursuant to a Rdadtate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “ReakEstpeement”dated May 10, 2008, t
Company paid total consideration of $6,000,000,ciwhivas paid $1,650,000 in cash and $4,350,000 gihrdiie issuance of a five (5) y
promissory note (the “Promissory NoteThe Promissory Note bears interest at a varying aathe greater of (i) two percent (2%) above
Prime Rate or (ii) seven and one-half percent (7,5%ich is guaranteed by the Company and by Eaiegan, the Company'Chief Executiv
Officer, individually.
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

On September 5, 2008, as part of the purchase ahitain Las Vegas, Nevada (formerly known as “Ssrethe Company obtained
unsecured promissory note in the amount of $3,@0KEaring simple interest at the rate of 8% peauenwith a five year amortization, w
the initial monthly payment due in April 2009 antdaloon payment of all then outstanding princigadl interest upon the expiration of two
years from the execution of the nc

On August 6, 2009, the Company completed the sk @ggregate of $7.2 million in 10% Convertibledentures (the “Debenturest
certain accredited investors (the “HoldersThe Debentures bear interest at the rate of 10%apeum and mature on August 4, 2012.

Debentures are payable with one initial paymeribifrest only due February 4, 2010, and, there#itezn equal quarterly principal payme
plus accrued interest thereon. At the option ef ttolders, the Debentures may be converted inteeshaf the Compang’ common stock
$8.75 per share. The Debentures are redeemalkes liyompany at any time if the closing price ofciéenmon stock for 20 consecutive trac
days is at least $11.50 per share. The Debenpuoadéde that an event of default occurs if: the @amy should fail to pay any principal
interest when due; the Company should fail to canaay Debenture when required; the Company shéaildto observe or perform a
covenant or agreement contained within the Debentilvere are cross defaults to other indebtedmesxéess of $1,000,000; there

reorganization, liquidation, voluntary or involuntabankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or othemkpaptcy default; or a final unsatisfi
judgment not covered by insurance aggregating aessxof $1,000,000 occurs against the Companysandtistayed, bonded or dischar
within seventy-five (75) days.

In connection with the sale of the Debentures,Goenpany also issued an aggregate of 164,569 ddtecharrants (the “Warrantstp the
Holders, on a proata basis. The Company issued each Holder a nuoibarrants equal to 20% of the number of shafesommon stoc
into which each Holdes Debenture is convertible. The Warrants havexancese price of $8.75 and expire on August 5, 20IRe Warran
provide that the Company has the right to requixer@se of the Warrants if the closing price of Bempanys common stock for :
consecutive trading days is at least $12.25.

The fair value of the warrants issued in the tratisa were estimated to be $539,178 at the datganft using a Black-Scholes optipnicing
model using the following weighted average assuongti

Volatility 90%
Expected lives 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate: 1.62%

The fair value of the warrants has been recogrézeal discount to the debt and is being amortizédtasest expense over the life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debentures andlaWa are intended to be utilized to make futweussitions, and may be utilized
working capital and general corporate purposes.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of filiowing:

2010 $ 5,855,72
2011 4,559,12!
2012 3,602,91!
2013 19,638,41
2014 422,93(
Thereafter 3,733,46!

Total maturities of lon-term debt $ 37,812,58
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The provision for income taxes on continuing operet consisted of the following for the years en8egtember 30, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
Current $ 2,561,390 $ 2,703,06
Deferred 853,33¢ 1,170,51!
Total income tax expen: $ 341473 $ 3,873,58

Income tax expense on continuing operations forydrs presented differs from the “expectéederal income tax expense computer
applying the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34%aonings before income taxes for the years endpté®ber 30, as a result of the following:

2009 2008
Computed expected tax expel $ 3414773, $ 4,248,44
State income taxe 153,28 220,99°
Stock option disqualifying dispositions and othermanent difference (126,701) (346,34
Change in deferred tax valuation allowau - (154,679
Other (26,587) (94,839
Total income tax expense $ 341473 $ 3,873,58

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying amowfitassets and liabilities for financ
reporting purposes and the amounts used for inclaxepurposes. The significant components of the @omw's deferred tax assets
liabilities at September 30 are as follows:

2009 2008
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Bad debts allowanc $ 96,81¢ $ 96,81¢
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible (14,545,20) (15,266,64)
Property and equipme (3,982,81) (1,815,89)
Other 248,01 217,70
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (18,183,18) $ (16,768,02)
The net deferred tax liabilities are recorded mltlalance sheets as follows:
2009 2008
Current assel $ 120,20¢ $ 126,23t
Long-term liabilities (18,303,39) (16,894,25)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (18,183,18) $ (16,768,02)

At September 30, 2007, the Company had net opgr&iss carryforwards related to a subsidiary noluided in the Compang’consolidate
income tax return of approximately $442,000, wheglpire in 2027 and were fully reserved with a vibraallowance due to uncertainty of
timing and amounts of future taxable income of thibsidiary. During the year ended September 308,20e remaining 49% of this subsidi
was acquired and the carryforwards were utilized.
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G. Income Taxes- continued

As of October 1, 2007, we adopted ASC 740-10 (folyneeferenced as FIN 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesa#
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1P90 account for uncertain tax positions. ASC 24D-prescribes a recognition threshold
measurement attribute for the financial statemeobgnition and measurement of a tax position takeexpected to be taken in a tax ret
This Interpretation also provides guidance on dagaition, classification, interest and penaltie;aunting in interim periods, disclosure,
transition. The evaluation of a tax position in@dance with ASC 740-10 is a two-step process.fifbestep is recognition —we determin
whether it is “more-likely-than-notthat a tax position will be sustained upon exanimatincluding resolution of any related appeal
litigation processes, based on the technical mefitthe position. In evaluating whether a tax gosithas met the “more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold, we presume that the positidhbe examined by the appropriate taxing autiyatthat would have full knowledge of
relevant information. The second step is measuremea tax position that meets the “more-likely-thast” recognition threshold is measu
to determine the amount of benefit to recognizéhnfinancial statements. The tax position is messat the largest amount of benefit thi
greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upliimate settlement.

The Company recognizes interest accrued relateshitecognized tax benefits in interest expense @malpes in operating expenses. Du
the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, thgdly recognized approximately $78,000 and $46,88&pectively, in interest a
penalties. The Company or one of its subsidiailes fncome tax returns in the U.S. federal jud§dn, and various states. The last three
remain open to tax examination.

H. Put Options and Temporary Equity

As part of certain of our acquisition transactions, have entered into Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreements with the sellers pursuant to whachol
after a contractual period after the closing ddte,seller shall have the right, but not the oltiayg to have us purchase from seller a ce
number of our shares of common stock issued idréiresactions in an amount and at a rate of not h@e a contractual number of the sh
per month (the “Monthly Shares”) calculated at meper share equal to a contractual value petestigialue of the Rick’s Shares”At our
election during any given month, we may either tuy Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy therithly Shares from the seller, then
seller shall sell the Monthly Shares in the operrketa Any deficiency between the amount which te#es receives from the sale of
Monthly Shares and the value of the shares shallaie by us within three (3) business days of thie @f sale of the Monthly Shares du
that particular month. Our obligation to purchase Monthly Shares from the Seller shall terminaid aease at such time as the sellel
received a contractual amount from the sale oRiu&’s Shares and any deficiency. Under the teritheLock-Up/LeakOut Agreements, ti
seller may not sell more than a contractual nunaberur shares per 30-day period, regardless of venghe seller “Putsthe shares to us
sells them in the open market or otherwise.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiatdf terms of certain of our long term debt ansigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumgattion that could be owed if our stock were valaédero is $13,935,020 and is recorde
our consolidated balance sheet as Temporary Equifiyer the renegotiation, the maximum obligatitiat could be owed if our stock w:
valued at zero is $11,671,000 at September 30,.2(08e are required to buy back any of theseqgntions, the buyack transaction will
purely a balance sheet transaction, affecting delyjnporary Equity or Derivative Liability and Stoakters’ Equity and will have no incon
statement effect. The only income statement effech these put options is the “mark to markedluation quarterly of the derivative liabil
as explained in Note B of Notes to ConsolidatedRaial Statements.
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H. Put Options and Temporary Equity - continued
Following is a schedule of the annual obligatiofiefathe renegotiation) we would have if our stgrice remains in the future at the clos

market price on September 30, 2009 of $8.60 peaeslo which there can be no assurance: (This deduthe derivative financial instrume
recognized in our balance sheet at September 89,20

For the Year Ended September

2010 $ 2,397,60
2011 2,820,00!
2012 1,945,81
2013 130,19(
Total $  7,293,60

Each $1.00 per share movement of our stock priseahaaggregate effect of $509,000 on the totagabitn.
I. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftilam (the “1995 Plan”jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an)
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Blé&dllectively, “the Plans”)The options granted under the Plans may be eitfo@ntive
stock options, or nogualified options. The Plans are administered lgyBbard of Directors or by a compensation committethe Board ¢
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugioever to select individuals to receive grantsstablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grargbdll be granted at an exercise price equal feast 85% of the fair market value of
common stock covered by the option on the grarg datl to make all determinations necessary or adlésinder the Plans.

Following is a summary of options for the yearsemh&eptember 30, 2009 and 2008:

Weighted Aggregate

Weighted Average Intrinsic
Average Remaining Value at
Exercise Contractual September
Price Term (Years) 30, 200¢

Outstanding at October 1, 20 545,00 $ 3.6(

Granted - -

Forfeited - -

Exercised (125,000 2.7¢

Outstanding at September 30, 2( 420,00( 3.8¢

Granted 60,00( 8.7¢

Forfeited (60,000 8.2t

Exercised (300,000 2.4¢

Outstanding at September 30, 2( 120,000 $ 7.5¢ 182 $ 153,00(

Exercisable at September 30, 2( 60,00( $ 6.32 181 $ 153,00(

As of September 30, 2009, the range of exercigegifior outstanding options was $2.80 - $9.40.

In August 2007, the Company issued 10,000 stocloaptto each Director who is a member of the ComjmAudit Committee and 5,0
options to the Company’other Directors. These options (50,000 in tdiaame exercisable on August 24, 2008, had a strike of $9.40 pt
share and expired in August 2009. On the same datefficer received 20,000 options to purchaseeshaf the Compang’common stock
an exercise price of $9.40.
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I. Stock Options- continued

The stock options, which expire on August 24, 2044t over two years with 10,000 stock options b@ng exercisable on August 24, 2!
and 10,000 stock options becoming exercisable ayusi24, 2009.

In July 2009, the Company issued 10,000 stock optto each Director who is a member of the CompaAydit Committee, 5,000 options
the Companys other Directors and 10,000 options to an employhese options (60,000 in total) become exeroésahlJuly 22, 2010, hav
strike price of $8.75 per share and expire in 200§1.

The fair value of options issued for the year enfledtember 30, 2009 were estimated to be $17611#@ aate of grant using a Bla8chole
option-pricing model using the following weightedeaage assumptions:

Volatility 90%
Expected lives 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate: 1.47%

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed fa ums estimating the fair value of traded optiongjick have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additi@ption valuation models require the input oftlygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changeshi subjective input assumptions can materialfiecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do noéssarily provide a reliable single measure offélirevalue of its employee stock optior
The expected life of awards granted representpehied of time that they are expected to be outhteyn The Company determined the in
expected life based on a simplified method in adance with ASC 718 (also formerly SAB No. 118hared-Based Paymeit giving
consideration to the contractual terms, vestingdales and pre-vesting and post-vesting forfeitures

During the years ended September 30, 2009 and 200&ompany recorded $96,171 and $157,080 of dtaskd compensation, respectiv
Total unamortized stock compensation expense aeBdyer 30, 2009 was $146,785 and will be fully ergael in fiscal year 2010.

J. Commitments and Contingencie
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and faciliieder operating leases, of which rent expense apgsoximately $3,741,000 a
$2,431,000 for the years ended September 30, 2002@08, respectively. Rent expense for the Comigamperating leases, which gener
have escalating rentals over the term of the lédagecorded using the straigitte method over the initial lease term wherebyegnal amout
of rent expense is attributed to each period duttegterm of the lease, regardless of when actaanents are made. Generally, this resul
rent expense in excess of cash payments duringdhg years of a lease and rent expense less ti&n gayments in the later years.
difference between rent expense recognized andilatatal payments is recorded as other Itargs liabilities in the consolidated bala
sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $ap&z 30, 2009 are as follows:

2010 $ 3,721,84
2011 2,744,54
2012 2,450,13
2013 2,443,16:
2014 2,238,20
Thereaftel 8,740,25!

Total future minimum lease obligations $ 22,338,14
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J.  Commitments and Contingencies- continued
Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, our Texas clubs becarjeat to a new state law requiring each club téecband pay a $5 surcharge for e\
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erthinment Association (“TEA”)an organization to which we are a member, allegfiregfes
amounts to be an unconstitutional tax. On March22®8, a State District Court Judge in Travis Qpumexas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateadfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gauling. In Texas, when cities or the State givéice of appeal, it supersedes and suspen
judgment, including the injunction. Therefore, jhdgment of the District Court cannot be enforoedil the appeals are completed. Giver
suspension of the judgment, the State has optedllect the tax pending the outcome of its app&ah. June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeals
the Third District (Austin) affirmed the District dDirt’'s judgment that the Sexually Oriented Busing$0.B.") Fee violated the Fir
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The Attorneyn@&al of Texas has asked the Texas Supreme Coratigw the case. No mandate will
issued until the Supreme Court of Texas eithersesuthe review or takes and decides the case.aftiep are waiting on the decision of
Supreme Court of Texas either to grant review dr @m August 26, 2009, the Texas Supreme Courtreddeoth sides to submit briefs on
merits, while not yet deciding whether to grant 8tate’s Petition for review. The Staddirief was filed on September 25, 2009 and thea?
Entertainment Associatiog’brief was filed on October 15, 2009. We haviel plae tax for the first five calendar quarters engrotest ar
expensed the tax in the accompanying financiaéstahts, except for two locations in Dallas whe tdxes have not been paid, but we
accruing and expensing the liability. For the ¢er@rended June 30, 2009 and September 30, 2089 easlt of the Third Coug’decision, th
Company accrued the fee, but did not pay the Stdte. Companys Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit ag#iesState to dema
repayment of the taxes. As of September 30, 2@@%ave approximately $1.16 million in accrued iliibs for this tax. We have paid m¢
than $2 million to the State of Texas since thesjion of the tax. If the State’s appeal ultimatiils, the Companyg current amount pe
under protest would be repaid or applied to fuadgmission tax and other Texas state tax liabilities

For the above legal matter, no contingent resesviahilities have been recorded in the accompanp@ance sheets as such potential I¢
are not deemed probable or estimable.

K. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordandgth FASB ASC 280Segment Reportind.he Company is engaged in adult nightcl
adult entertainment websites (“Internet”) and aduitertainment magazines and trade shows (“MedEie Company has identified st
segments based on management responsibility anghthee of the Compang’products, services and costs. There are no rdigtmctions i
geographical areas served as all operations atteeitunited States. The Company measures segmeéiitt ggancome from operations. Tc
assets are those assets controlled by each relgostdment.
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The following table sets forth certain informatiabout each segment’s financial information foryhars ended September 30:

2009 2008
Business segment sali
Night clubs $ 73,104,69 $ 56,390,75
Internet 640,66 715,75¢
Media 1,404,23! 801,21!

$ 75,149,59 $ 57,907,72
Business segment operating incot

Night clubs $ 16,611,30 $ 18,556,59
Internet 155,77: 141,89
Media (241,63) (28,01¢)
General corporat (3,113,45) (3,447,30)

$ 13,411,998 $ 15,223,16
Business segment capital expenditu

Night clubs $ 2,141,55. $ 10,956,46
Internet 5,04¢ 3,03¢
General corporat 155,77: 19,974,87

$ 2,302,377 $ 30,934,37

Business segment depreciation and amortiza

Night clubs $ 242511 $ 1,696,28
Internet 14,10: 15,53¢
Media 20,00( 10,00(
General corporate 745,99: 501,13:

$ 3,205200 $ 2,222,96!
Business segment asse

Night clubs $124,277,03 $120,763,53
Internet 204,86t 196,29(
Media 903,22: 1,128,211
General corporat 17,326,53 11,181,32
Discontinued operations 2,365,70 3,799,44.

$145,077,35 $137,068,80

General corporate expenses include corporate agldrealth insurance and social security taxesffarers, legal, accounting and informat
technology employees, corporate taxes and insuréegal and accounting fees, depreciation and atbggorate costs such as automobile
travel costs. Management considers these to balharable costs for segment purposes.

L. Common Stock

During the year ended September 30, 2008, thewiollp common stock transactions occurred:

60




Table of Content

RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

L. Common Stock- continued

Stock options totaling 125,000 shares were exatcise employees and directors for proceeds of $307,Also, 1,837,000 shares of
Companys common stock were sold in two private transastifmn $27,352,500, net of offering costs. The Comypalso sold 611,740 sha
subject to put rights for $13,448,594. The Compiasyed 552,069 shares of common stock for $2,4B9@%rincipal and interest owed
existing convertible debt. The Company also isss@@00 shares in connection with the Las Vegas#etion which were accounted for :
deduction from additional paid in capital of $10#&)3lue to the accounting for the related put opsioares.

During the year ended September 30, 2009, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 300,000 shares were exatdigeemployees and directors for proceeds of $A%7,The Company acquired 303,
shares of common stock for the treasury at a ddkt,d86,208. These shares were subsequentlgdetir

M. Related Party Transactions

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcoomvertible debenture with a greater than 10%e$tmdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture matured on August 1, 28@%aars interest at a rate of 12% per annum. Eberdure was converted to 220,
shares of common stock in July 2008. The Compasyy issued 50,000 detachable warrants at $3.00hpee & relation to this debenture.
warrants were exercised in July 2008. The valubefiscount on note payable was estimated to 86,6%6 at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following asgtions:

Volatility 138%
Expected life 3 years
Expected dividend yiel -

Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2008, the Compmuoyded $29,627 of interest expense. The debemtasesecured by the Compasy’
ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Holdings¢l, both are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Camyp The Company has accountec
this transaction under FASB ASC 4&pplication of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain Converibhhstruments The value of the embedded benef
conversion feature on the note payable was estihtatbe $53,856. For the year ended September088, 2he Company recorded $14,96
interest expense related to the value of the endzkblddneficial conversion feature.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbbkrtdebentures with three shareholders, one ofhvisi a greater than 10% shareholdel
a principal sum of $825,000. The debentures makpréd 30, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%agnnum. At the election of the hold
the holders had the right to convert (subject tdade limitations) until April 30, 2008, all or angortion of the principal amount of {
debentures into shares of the Company’s commork stba rate of $6.55 per share, which approxim#tesclosing price of the Compansy’
stock on April 28, 2006. The shares were convemedpril 2008 into 125,953 shares of common stotke shares of Common St
underlying the principal amount of the debenturad Ipiggyback registration rights and were registeséth the SEC in June 2006. 1
proceeds of the debentures were used for the atiguisf Joint Ventures, Inc.

On November 9, 2006, the Company entered into atible=debentures with three shareholders for agyal sum of $600,000. The term is
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annuithé election of the holders, the holders haverigkt to convert (subject to certi
limitations) all or any portion of the principal amnt of the debentures into shares of the Compargnmon stock at a rate of $7.50 per s
which was higher than the closing price of the Camys stock on November 9, 2006. The debentures prpaigieent shareholder appro
that the number of shares of the Compangdbmmon stock that may be issued by us or acquliyethe holders upon conversion of
debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of the totalbeurof issued and outstanding shares of the Compamynmon stock. The proceeds of
debentures were used for the acquisition of a S5t#teoship interest of Playmates Gentlense@lub LLC. These debentures matured and
paid in cash in November 2008.
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N. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amoulowald by law, with the Company making a matchingntdbution of 3% of th
employee’s salary. Expenses related to matchingibations to the Plan approximaté&ad7,000 and $44,000 for the years ended Septemk
2009 and 2008, respectively.

O. Acquisitions and Dispositions

On November 30, 2007, the Company entered intooakSPurchase Agreement for the acquisition of 1Qff%he issued and outstand
common stock of Stellar Management Corporationlogida corporation (the "Stellar Stock™) and 100%4dhe issued and outstanding comtr
stock of Miami Garden Square One, Inc., a Floridgoration (the "MGSO Stock") which owns and opesaan adult entertainment cab
known as "Tootsie’s Cabaret" ("Toots#&) located at 150 NW 183rd Street, Miami Gardéitsrida 33169 (the "Transaction"). Pursuant tc
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company acquire&tilar Stock and the MGSO Stock from Norman HickenHickmore") and Richa
Stanton ("Stanton”) for a total purchase price 26,886,000 (which includes inventory and other @3spayable to the sellers $15,486,0C
cash, $10,000,000 pursuant to two secured pronyissates in the amount of $5,000,000 each to StaatwhHickmore (the "Notes"), pl
estimated transaction costs of $175,000. The Noitbear interest at the rate of 14% per annunhulite principal payable in one lump <
payment on November 30, 2010 (extended to Noverd®e2012 in April 2009). Interest on the Notes Wil payable monthly, in arrears, v
the first payment being due thirty (30) days after closing of the Transaction. The Company capn@pay the Notes during the first twe
(12) months; thereafter, the Company may prepayNbees, in whole or in part, provided that (i) apsepayment by the Company fr
December 1, 2008 through November 30, 2009, sleafidid at a rate of 110% of the original principadount and (ii) any prepayment by
Company after November 30, 2009, may be prepaidonitpenalty at a rate of 100% of the original pipal amount. The Notes are secure
the Stellar Stock and MGSO Stock under a PledgeSamdrity Agreement. As part of the Transactioitkrhore and Stanton entered into five-
year covenants not to compete with the Company.itbeaélly, as part of the Transaction, the Compamyered into Assignment to Le:
Agreements with the landlord for the property wh&aotsies is located. The underlying lease agreementshi@rptoperty provide for
original lease term through June 30, 2014, with tyption periods which give the Company the righlease the property through June
2034. The terms and conditions of the transaatiere the result of extensive arm's length negotiatbetween the parties.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggsilet the acquisition date.

Net current asse $ 390,00(
Property and equipment and other as 4,823,02!
Non-compete agreeme 200,00(
Other asset 96,00(
Goodwill 7,044,05!
SOB license: 20,125,85
Deferred tax liability (7,044,05)
Net assets acquire $ 25,634,87

This acquisition was made to further the Compamy®nth objective of acquiring nightclubs that wdjlickly contribute to the Comparsy
earnings per share. Goodwill in the acquisitigoresents the offset to the deferred tax liabildgarded as a result of the difference in the
of the net assets for tax and financial purpoSé® results of operations of this acquired entiy imcluded in the Compars/’consolidate
results of operations since December 1, 2007.
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The following unaudited pro forma information pretsethe results of operations for the nine montided June 30, 2008 as if the acquis
had occurred as of the beginning of the immediatequling period. The pro forma information is netessarily indicative of what would hi
occurred had the acquisition been made as of seigbds, nor is it indicative of future results gfesations. The pro forma amounts give e
to appropriate adjustments for the fair value efalssets acquired, amortization of intangiblesiatedest expense.

For the Year

Ended

September

30, 2008
Revenue! $ 60,874,38
Net income $ 8,021,72
Net income per sha- basic $ 1.01
Net income per sha- diluted $ 0.9¢
Weighted average shares outstanc- basic 7,931,12.
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 8,417,18

On March 31, 2008, the Company’'s wholly owned siibsy, RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Inc. (tHeurchaser”)completed th
acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstandihgres of common stock (the “TEZ Sharesf) The End Zone, Inc., a Pennsylve
corporation (the “Corporation”) which owns and agtes “Crazy Horse Too Cabaret” (the “Cluldcated at 2908 South Columbus BI
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19148 (the “Real Prigpefrom Vincent Piazza (the “Seller”). As part the transaction, the Compasywholly
owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. (“RCI Holdiripacquired from the Piazza Family Limited Partingps(the “Partnership Seller§1% o
the issued and outstanding partnership interest ‘@artnership Interestsih TEZ Real Estate, LP, a Pennsylvania limited neenghip (th
“Partnership”) and 51% of the issued and outstapdirembership interest (the “Membership Interesie”TEZ Management, LLC,
Pennsylvania limited liability company, which isteneral partner of the Partnership (the “Gerfeaainer”). The Partnership owns the R
Property where the Club is located. At closings tbompany paid a purchase price of $3,500,000 $h ¢ar the Partnership Interests
Membership Interests, and issued 195,000 shardeedfompany'’s restricted common stock (the “Rickigares”)valued at $23 per share
the TEZ Shares.

As part of the transaction and as amended in 2909, the Company entered into a Lock-Up/L€ak-Agreement with the Seller pursuar
which, on or after one year after the closing dtite,Seller shall have the right, but not the addlion, to have Ricle purchase from Seller 1
more than 3,000 Rick’s Shares per month (the “MignBihares”), calculated at a price per share eqqu@P3.00 (“Value of the Rick's Shargs”
until March 31, 2010 and at the rate of 5,000 shaer month thereafter until the Seller has recki$d,485,000 from the sale of the shares
the Companys election during any given month, the Company mitlyer buy the Monthly Shares or, if the Compargctd not to buy tt
Monthly Shares from the Seller, then the Selletlst®dl the Monthly Shares in the open market. Algficiency between the amount which
Seller receives from the sale of the Monthly Shames the Value of the Rick’Shares shall be paid by the Company within tfBg¢dusines
days of the date of sale of the Monthly Sharesndyuitfiat particular month. The Compasghbligation to purchase the Monthly Shares froe
Seller shall terminate and cease at such time esS#iler has received a total of $4,485,000 from ghle of the Ricls’ Shares and a
deficiency. As of September 30, 2009, the 177,88@res of restricted common stock were classifiredhe consolidated balance shee
temporary equity in accordance with ASC 4&lassification and Measurement of Redeemable Saruri In April 2009, the Compal
renegotiated the terms of these put options. Utidenew terms, the Company has extended paybactednded the number of shares that
be put back to the Company. No consideration wegaired by the Company to renegotiate the terntseoput options.

The full results of operations of this entity aneluded in the Company’s results of operationsesiarch 31, 2008.
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O. Acquisitions and Dispositions- continued

Additionally, at closing, the Seller and the Parshép Seller entered into a fiyeear agreement not to compete with the Companyinwd
twenty mile radius of the Club. Finally, the Corpgtion entered into a new lease agreement with #nm&ship giving it the right to lease
Real Property for twenty years (“Original Term”)tlvian option for an additional nine years elevemths (“Option Term”)with rent payabl
at the rate of (i) $50,000 per month, subject fustchent for increases in the Consumer Price I{@#X) every five years during the Origi
Term and the Option Term, or (ii) 8% of gross salelsichever is higher. The maximum increase in@mrd for any five year period shall
15%.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggslet the acquisition date.

Property and equipment and other as $ 3,882,88!
Non-compete agreeme 100,00(
Goodwill 1,458,58.
SOB license: 4,207,771
Deferred tax liability (1,458,58)
Net assets acquire $ 8,190,65!

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offsetite deferred tax liability recorded as a resfithe difference in the basis of the net asse!
tax and financial purposes. The results of opematiof this acquired entity are included in the @any’s consolidated results of operati
since June 30, 2008. This acquisition was madartber the Companyg’ growth objective of acquiring nightclubs thatlvglickly contribut
to the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of opesatiave not been provided, as the amounts wereesshed material to t
consolidated financial statements.

On March 31, 2008, the Company'’s subsidiary, RQeEainment (Austin), Inc. (“RCI")¢ompleted the acquisition of 49% of the membe
interest of Playmates Gentlemen’s Club, LLC (“Playes”) from Behzad Bahrami (“Sellergsulting in 100% ownership by the Compan
RCI. Playmates owns an adult entertainment calbain as “Playmates” (the “Clubidpcated at 8110 Springdale Road, Austin, Texas 4
(the “Premises”).Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, RCI aadadal purchase price of $1,401,711 which wad $a01,711 in ca:
and debt forgiveness at the time of closing andigkeance of 35,000 shares of the Compamgstricted common stock valued at $20.0(
share (the “Shares”). For accounting purposesCiirapanys investment is only $751,000, due to the previoases of the minority intere
which have been expensed. This acquisition wasenadjive the Company complete control over thistenTherefore, the investment |
been assigned to goodwill as the operating liceraseacquired separately from the acquisition ofbtirginess.

Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreemenasiaghended in April 2009, on or after one yeaardfie closing date, the Seller shall t
the right, but not the obligation to have the Compaurchase from Seller not more than 2,500 Shpeesnonth (the “Monthly Shares”
calculated at a price per share equal to $20.081(1% of the Shares”)Seller shall notify the Company during any givenntoof its election t
“Put” the Monthly Shares to the Company during thatticular month. At the Comparsyélection during any given month, the Company
either buy the Monthly Shares or, if the Compargctd not to buy the Monthly Shares from the Setleen the Seller shall sell the Mont
Shares in the open market. Any deficiency betwberamount which the Seller receives from the ehllae Monthly Shares and the Value
the Shares shall be paid by the Company withinet83 business days of the date of sale of the MyprBhares during that particu
month. The Compang’ obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares from 8eller shall terminate and cease at such tinthea$eller he
received a total of $700,000 from the sale of timar8s. As of September 30, 2009, the 20,000 shdresstricted common stock wi
classified on the consolidated balance sheet apasary equity in accordance with ASC 480. In Af2@09, the Company renegotiated
terms of these and other put options. No consideravas required by the Company to renegotiateteh@s of these put options. Under
new terms, the Company has extended payback andeédhe number of shares that can be put badiet€bmpany. In the event the Se
elects not to “Put” the Shares to the Company,S&ker shall not sell more than 10,000 Shares duaimy 90day period in the open mark
provided that Seller complies with Rule 1dfithe Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in cotime with his sale of the Shares. The full res
of operations of this entity are included in then@any’s results of operations since March 31, 2008.
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In April 11, 2008, the Company'wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment (Dg)lJdnc., completed the acquisition of 100% of igsuie:
and outstanding partnership interest (the "Parmerénterest”) of Hotel Development Fexas, Ltd, a Texas limited partnership
"Partnership”) and 100% of the issued and outstendiembership interest (the "Membership Interest"HD-Texas Management, LLC
Texas limited liability company, the general partoéthe Partnership (the "General Partner") framyGolding, Kenneth Meyer, and Cha
McClure (the "Sellers"). The Partnership owns apdrates an adult entertainment cabaret known as EKecutive Club" (the "Club"), locat
at 8550 North Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas 792 "Real Property”). As part of the transactitt,e Companys wholly owne:
subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. ("RCI"), also acedrthe Real Property from DPC Holdings, LLC, a Tebaited liability company ("DPC"
At closing, the Company paid a total purchase poicg3,590,609 for the Partnership Interest and Bkenship Interest, which was paid thro
the issuance of 50,694 shares of the Comgargstricted common stock to each of Messrs. GgJdeyer and McClure, for an aggregate f
of 152,082 shares (collectively, the "Rick's Clutaf&s") to be valued at $23.30 per share ($3,59% 41id $46,490 in cash. As considere
for the purchase of the Real Property, RCI paidltodnsideration of $5,599,721, which was paid{)250,000, payable $610,000 in cash
$3,640,000 through the issuance of a five year sony note (the "Promissory Note") and (ii) theuiance of 57,918 shares of the Company’
restricted common stock (the "Rick's Real Prop8iigres”) to be valued at $23.30 per share ($1,349,The Promissory Note bears intere
a varying rate at the greater of (i) two percefitYabove the Prime Rate or (ii) seven and baképercent (7.5%), and is guaranteed by R
and Eric Langan, individually. At Closing, the Rastentered into an Amendment to Purchase Agreesodelly to provide for the Sellers to
aside 10,500 Rick's Club Shares under an Escroweigent for the offset of certain liabilities of tRartnership. The Company also incu
costs in the amount of $37,848, which was paidshc

At Closing and as amended in May 2009, the Sedletered into Lock-Up/Lealdut Agreements pursuant to which on or after orse péter th
closing date, the Sellers shall have the right,rmnttthe obligation to have Rick's purchase froie®&e not more than an aggregate of 2
Shares per month (the "Monthly Club Shares"), dated at a price per share equal to $25.00 peeghdalue of the Rick's Club Shares") fr
April 11, 2009 until April 11, 2010, at the rate {347 shares per month from April 11, 2010 unfiiR11, 2012 and thereafter at the rat
3,621 shares per month until each of the individbellers has received a total of $1,267,350 froemdhle of the Rick's Club Shares. At
Companys election during any given month, the Company mietyer buy the Monthly Club Shares or, if the Compalects not to buy tl
Monthly Club Shares from the Sellers, then thee®glshall sell the Monthly Club Shares in the opearket. Any deficiency between -
amount, which the Sellers receive from the sal¢hef Monthly Club Shares and the Value of the Ri€iisb Shares shall be paid by
Company within three (3) business days of the dasale of the Monthly Club Shares during thatipalar month. The Compang/obligatiol
to purchase the Monthly Club Shares from the Sebéll terminate and cease at such time as ther$Sbhve received an aggregate tot
$3,802,050 from the sale of the Rick's Club Sharesany deficiency.

Additionally, at Closing and as amended in May 2(DPC entered into a Lock-Up/Le&wut Agreement pursuant to which on or after one
after the closing date, DPC shall have the right,rint the obligation to have Rick's purchase fldRC not more than 828 Shares per m
(the "Monthly Real Estate Shares"), calculated atiee per share equal to $25.00 per share ("Vafube Rick's Real Estate shares") fi
April 11, 2009 until April 11, 2010, at the rate 653 shares per month from April 11, 2010 unfiiR11, 2012 and thereafter at the rat
1,379 shares per month until DPC has receivedah ¢6t$1,447,950 from the sale of the Rick's ResthEe Shares. At the Compasglectiol
during any given month, the Company may either theyMonthly Real Estate Shares or, if the Compdagte not to buy the Monthly Re
Estate Shares from DPC, then DPC shall sell thetMpriReal Estate Shares in the open market. Anicidecy between the amount wh
DPC receives from the sale of the Monthly Real tesghares and the Value of the Rick's Real EstasgeS shall be paid by the Comp
within three (3) business days of the date of eéline Monthly Real Estate Shares during that paldr month. The Comparg/obligation t
purchase the Monthly Real Estate Shares from DRE t&#iminate and cease at such tiaseDPC has received an aggregate total of $1,44
from the sale of the Rick's Real Estate Sharesaagdleficiency.
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The only consideration required by the Companyhm amendment of the terms of these put optionstiagranting of a second lien on
related club property in Dallas, Texas. The graptdf the second lien for the “Dallas sellef®it options necessitates derivative liab
accounting, as required by FASB ASC 815. Theseptions have been transferred from temporary gqaitierivative liabilities, measurec
fair value, effective as of the date of the modifions. The liabilities will continue to be recdzpd each quarter at fair value and the chan
fair value recognized in the statement of income.

Finally, at Closing each of the Sellers entered/@ year Non€ompetition Agreement with the Company pursuamnwitich they agreed not
compete with the Company in Dallas County or arjge@eht county.

The following information summarizes the allocatiofifair values assigned to the assets and liadsliat the acquisition date based ¢
preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments mayrecorded upon the completion of the valuatiod #re final determination of t
purchase price allocation.

Net current asse $ 34,44t
Property and equipment and other as 6,264,85!
Non-compete agreeme 300,00(
Goodwill 303,35¢
SOB license: 2,640,76.
Deferred tax liability (303,359
Net assets acquire $ 9,240,05!

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offsethite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The results of openatiof this entity are included in the Compangbnsolidated results of operations since
11, 2008. This acquisition was made to further @wnpanys growth objective of acquiring nightclubs that Iwglickly contribute to th
Companys earnings per share. Proforma results of ope&satimve not been provided, as the amounts weralesmed material to t
consolidated financial statements.

On June 18, 2008, the Company’s wholly owned sudgsicRCI Entertainment (Northwest Highway), Inch€t“Purchaser”completed th
acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchased A¥sef North by East Entertainment, Ltd., a Texiasited partnership (the “Seller'y anc
through its general partner, Northeast PlatinumCLha Texas limited liability company (the “GenePartner’)pursuant to an Asset Purch
Agreement dated May 10, 2008. The Seller owned getated an adult entertainment cabaret knownPésifium Club 1I” (the “Clubj,
located at 10557 Wire Way (at Northwest HighwayaJlBs, Texas 75220 (the “Real Property”).

At closing, the Company paid a total purchase poic®1,500,000 cash for the Purchased Assets. @), the principal of the Seller ente
into a fiveyear agreement not to compete with the Club byaipey an establishment with an urban theme thdt betves liquor and provic
live female nude or semi-nude adult entertainmemallas County, Tarrant County, Texas or any efdbjacent counties thereto.

As part of the transaction, the Company’s whollyned subsidiary RCI Holdings, Inc. (‘RCI8so acquired the Real Property from Wire V
LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“Wire Way")Pursuant to a Real Estate Purchase and Salemgre (the “Real Estate Agreemeént”
dated May 10, 2008, RCI paid total consideratio$®{000,000, which was paid $1,650,000 in cash$h&850,000 through the issuance
five (5) year promissory note (the “Promissory NhteThe Promissory Note bears interest at a varying aatthe greater of (i) two perc
(2%) above the Prime Rate or (ii) seven and onegmatent (7.5%), which is guaranteed by the Comiard by Eric Langan, the Compasay’
Chief Executive Officer, individually. The Compaalso incurred $77,599 in costs, which was paickish.
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The following information summarizes the allocatiofifair values assigned to the assets and liadsliat the acquisition date based ¢

preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments mayrecorded upon the completion of the valuatiod #re final determination of t
purchase price allocation.

Net current asse $ 151,78«
Property and equipment and other as 6,000,00!
Non-compete agreeme 100,00(
Goodwill 1,418,17:
Other asset 43,50(
Net assets acquire $ 7,713,45

The main factor that contributes to goodwill in thensaction is the Comparsyability to rebrand this operation as a Club Otoyproduce moil
revenues. The results of operations of this emtity included in the Comparsytonsolidated results of operations since Jun0@3. Thi
acquisition was made to further the Company’s ghoalijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quigkcontribute to the Company’earning
per share.

Proforma results of operations have not been pealids the amounts were not deemed material tootisolidated financial statements.

On September 5, 2008, the Company’s wholly ownelsigiary RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), Inc. (tHeurchaser”)completed th
acquisition of certain assets (the “Purchased A%sef DI Food & Beverage of Las Vegas, LLC, a Nevauaited liability company (th
“Seller”) pursuant to a Third Amended Asset PusghAgreement (the “Third Amendment”) between PusehaRicks Cabaret Internation
Inc. (“Rick’s”), Seller, and Harold Danzig (“DanZig Frank Lovaas (“Lovaas”) and Dennis DeGori (“D&@) who are all members
Seller. The Seller owned and operated an adudiriedtment cabaret known as “Scores” (the “Cluldiated at 3355 Procyon Street,
Vegas, Nevada 89102 (the “Real Property”).

At Closing, Purchaser paid Seller an aggregate atemifollows (the “Purchase Price”):
0] $12,000,000 payable by wire transi

(i)  $3,000,000 pursuant to a promissory nétiee( Rick's Promissory Note”), executed by and gating Ricks, bearing intere
at eight percent (8%) per annum with a five (5)ryaaortization, with monthly payments of princifgald interest, with tt
initial monthly payment due in April 2009 with allwen payment of all then outstanding principal angrest due upon t
expiration of two (2) years from the executiontoé Ricl's Promissory Note; ar

(iif) 200,000 shares of restricted common stqukr value $0.01 of Rick’s (the “Rick’s Sharess¥ued to the Seller, valuec
$13.77 per shar

As part of the transaction and as amended in 2909, the Company entered into a Lock-Up/L€&€ak-Agreement with the Seller pursuar
which, on or after seven (7) months after the dlgsiate, the Seller shall have the right, but hetdbligation, to have Ric&’purchase fro
Seller a total of 150,000 of the Rick’'s Shares €& Put Share”jn an amount and at a rate of not more than theviiig number of th
Rick’s Put Shares per month (the “Monthly Sharesilfulated at a price per share equal to $20.08hmee (“Value of the Rick’s Shares”):

from April 5, 2009 until May 4, 2009, up to a tot#l 15,000 share!

from May 5, 2009 until November 5, 2009 at a rét8,000 shares per mont
from November 5, 2009 until May 4, 2010 at a rdtd,000 shares per mont
from May 5, 2010 until November 4, 2010 at a rdt6,000 shares per month; a
from November 5, 2010 until October 4, 2011 atta od 6,000 shares per mon

OO0OO0OO0Oo

67




Table of Content

RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 AND 2008

O. Acquisitions and Dispositions- continued

At the Companys election during any given month, the Company eithyer buy the Monthly Shares or, if the Compargced not to buy tt
Monthly Shares from the Seller, then the Selleflst®dl the Monthly Shares in the open market. Algficiency between the amount which
Seller receives from the sale of the Monthly Shamd the Value of the Rick’Shares shall be paid by us within three (3) lassirdays of tt
date of sale of the Monthly Shares during thatipaldr month. The Comparg/obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares frommSkller sha
terminate and cease at such time as the Sellercha#/ed a total of $3,000,000 from the sale ofRiek’s Shares and any deficiency. Ur
the terms of the Lock-Up/Leak-Out Agreement, Seitay not sell more than 25,000 Rick’s Shares pedd&0period, regardless of whether
Seller “Puts” the Rick’s Put Shares to Rigldr sells them in the open market or otherwise.cbhsideration was required by the Compai
renegotiate the terms of these put options.

Upon closing of the transaction, the Company edtesetwo-year Non-Compete Agreement with DeGori (tBeGori NonCompet
Agreement”)pursuant to which DeGori agreed not to compete withClub by operating an establishment servingoicand providing liv
female nude or senmiude adult entertainment in Clark County, Nevadan @& radius of 25 miles of Clark County, Nevadayvided, howeve
that the Non€ompetition Agreement specifically excluded the tRense Club and the Bada Bing Club located in C@okinty, Nevada. Tl
Company agreed to pay DeGori cash consideratidg66f667 for entering into the Nddempetition Agreement. Additionally, at Closinbe
Company also entered into a 12-month ConsultingeAgrent with DeGori (the “Consulting Agreemerftj a total aggregate of $133,33:
consulting fees payable in eighteen (18) equal hiprayments of $7,407.38 per month with the fpayment due October 15, 2008. U
closing of the transaction, the Company enteredchexy@ar Non-Compete Agreement with Lovaas (the dasvNon-Compete Agreement”
pursuant to which Lovaas agreed not to compete thghClub by operating an establishment servingolicand providing live female nude
semi-nude adult entertainment in Clark County, Niaveor any of its surrounding counties; providedwaver, that this NoiGompetitior
Agreement shall specifically exclude the PenthoOkeéh and the Bada Bing Club located in Clark Coumgvada. The Company incur
$367,580 in costs in connection with the acquisitio

The following information summarizes the allocatiofifair values assigned to the assets and liadsliat the acquisition date based ¢
preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments tayrecorded upon the completion of the valuatiod #re final determination of t
purchase price allocation.

Net current asse $ 112,88
Property and equipment and other as 1,953,06!
Non-compete agreeme 100,00(
Goodwill 16,062,84
Net assets acquire $18,228,79

The main factor that contributes to goodwill in thensaction is the Company’s ability to rebranid thperation as a Rick’Cabaret to produ
more revenues. The results of operations of thiuiged entity are included in the Companyonsolidated results of operations s
September 5, 2008. This acquisition was madertbduthe Companyg growth objective of acquiring nightclubs thatlwiliickly contribute t
the Company’s earnings per share.
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The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. The pro forma infoiorais not necessarily indicative of what would @awccurred had the acquisition b
made as of such periods, nor is it indicative ¢fife results of operations. The pro forma amogiws effect to appropriate adjustments for
fair value of the assets acquired, amortizatiomtangibles and interest expense.

For the Yea
Ended
September
30, 2008
Revenue! $74,486,27
Net income $ 9,006,51
Net income per shar- basic $ 1.11
Net income per sha- diluted $ 1.0t
Weighted average shares outstanc- basic 8,131,12.
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 8,617,18

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of as if the acquisitions of Midbairdens Square One, Inc. and DI Food
Beverage of Las Vegas, LLC had occurred as of dugrniming of the immediate preceding period. Thefprma information is not necessa
indicative of what would have occurred had the

acquisition been made as of such periods, noriiglitative of future results of operations. The forma amounts give effect to appropr
adjustments for the fair value of the assets aequamortization of intangibles and interest expens

For the Yea
Ended
September
30, 2008
Revenue! $77,452,93
Net income $ 9,368,43!
Net income per sha- basic $ 1.1%
Net income per sha- diluted $ 1.1C
Weighted average shares outstanc- basic 8,131,122,
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 8,617,18
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Media Acquisitions

On April 15, 2008, the Compars/wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment (MeHialdings), Inc., a Texas corporation ("RCI Medij
acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding constamk (the "ED Stock™) of ED Publications, Inc.Texas corporation ("ED"), 100% of 1
issued and outstanding common stock (the "TEEZEKSt@f TEEZE International, Inc., a Delaware camgion (“TEEZE") and 100% of tl
issued and outstanding membership interest (thenideship Interest”) of Adult Store Buyers MagaziheC, a Georgia limited liabilit
company.

ED Publications, Inc.

Under the terms of a Purchase Agreement betweenVZaiti ("Waitt"), RCI Media and Rick's Cabaret Imtational, Inc. ("Rick's") dated Ap
15, 2008 (the "ED Purchase Agreement"), the Compamnged to pay Waitt the following considerationtfte purchase of the ED Stock:

(i) $300,000 cash at closing;

(i) $200,000 cash payable in 6 months (paid); and

(iii) The issuance of 8,696 shares of restricteghitmn stock valued at $23.00 per share (the "CloSimares"”). (See the explanation belo
the subsequent renegotiation of these terms).

Additionally, during the three (3) year period @lling the Closing Date (the "Earn Out Period"), Wahall be entitled to earn additio
consideration (the "Additional Consideration") g to $2,000,000 (the "Maximum Amount") consisting$®00,000 cash (the “Cashanc
65,217 shares of restricted common stock value®28t00 per share (the "Earn Out Shares"), based thgo earnings before income
depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") of RClI Mad RCI Media will pay the Maximum Amount of the ditional Consideration to tl
Seller if RCI Media's EBITDA during the three (3ar period following the Closing Date totals anraegate of $2,400,000. At the end of €
twelve (12) month period after the Closing Date,| RM@2dia shall determine its EBITDA and shall pay\Waitt any such portion of tl
Additional Consideration as has been earned. Thsi@ Shares and Earn Out Shares are collectieédyred to as the "Rick's Shares".

At Closing, Waitt entered into a Lock-Up/Le&ut Agreement with the Company pursuant to whictooafter one year after the closing ¢
with respect to the Closing Shares, or on or afésen (7) months from the date of issuance withe@sto the Earn Out Shares, if any, W
shall have the right, but not the obligation to éavith respect to the Earn Out Shares, if any, ¥éaill have the right, but not the obligatio
have Rick's purchase from Waitt 5,000 Rick's Shpezanonth (the "Monthly Shares"), calculated ptiae per share equal to $23.00 per s
("Value of the Rick's Shares") until Waitt has riged an aggregate of $1,700,000 (i) from the sékba® Rick's Shares sold in the open me
or in a private transaction or otherwise, andttig payment of any deficiency (as defined in the FiDchase Agreement) by Rick's. At
Companys election during any given month, the Company either buy the Monthly Shares or, if the Comparectd not to buy the Montt
Shares from Waitt, then Waitt shall sell the MontBhares in the open market. Any deficiency betwtberamount which Waitt receives fr
the sale of the Monthly Shares and the Value oRink's Shares shall be paid by the Company witmiee (3) business days of the date of
of the Monthly Shares during that particular morithe Companys obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares fromit¥\éaall terminate ar
cease at such time as Waitt has received an adgregal of $1,700,000 from the sale of the Ri&mres and any deficiency (as defined i
ED Purchase Agreement).

At Closing, Waitt also entered a three (3) year Exyipent Agreement with RCI Media (the "Employmergréement") pursuant to which
will serve as President. The Employment Agreematerels through April 15, 2011, and provides foramual base salary of $250,C
Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, Mr. Waitalso eligible to participate in all benefit plansintained by the Company for salai
employees. Under the terms of the Employment AgesgpiMr. Waitt is bound to a confidentiality prowis and cannot compete with

Company upon the expiration of the Employment Agreset.
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TEEZE/Adult Store Buyers Magazine LLC

Under the terms of a Purchase Agreement between Qanetta ("Cornetta"), Waitt, RCl Media and Ricklated April 15, 2008 (tl
"TEEZE/ASB Purchase Agreement"), the Company agteegghy the following consideration to Cornetta afditt for the purchase of t
TEEZE Stock and the Membership Interest:

0] an aggregate of $200,000 cash at closing;
(i) the issuance of 6,522 shares of restricted comiumk $0 each of Messrs. Waitt and Cornetta, foaggregate of 13,044 share:
restricted common stock to be valued at $23.0Gpare (the "Rick's TEEZE Shares

Pursuant to the TEEZE/ASB Purchase Agreement, @iter one year after the closing date, each ofskéedVaitt and Cornetta shall have
right, but not the obligation to have Rick's purmhshe Rick's TEEZE Shares calculated at a pricstmre equal to $23.00 per share ("Valu
the Rick's TEEZE Shares") until Messrs. Waitt arairiétta have each received $150,000 (i) from the afathe Rick's TEEZE Shares sold
them, regardless of whether sold to Rick's, soldhénopen market or in a private transaction oentise, and (ii) the payment of any deficie
(as defined in the TEEZE/ASB Purchase AgreementiRizk's. At the Compang’election during any given month, the Company wittyel
buy the Rick's TEEZE Shares or, if the Companyteleot to buy the Rick's TEEZE Shares, then Caanatitd/or Waitt shall sell the Ric
TEEZE Shares in the open market. Any deficiencybet the amount which Cornetta or Waitt receivesfthe sale of the Rick's TEE
Shares and the Value of the Rick's TEEZE Shardttshaaid by the Company within three (3) busingags of the date of sale of the Ri
TEEZE Shares during that particular month. The Camyfs obligation to purchase the Rick's TEEZE Shared strminate and cease at s
time as Waitt and Cornetta have each received $08Grom the sale of the Rick's TEEZE Shares anddaficiency.

In April 2009, the Company renegotiated the terrh#sopurchase agreements with the former ownerE@fPublications, Teeze and Ac
Store Buyer publications. The new agreement wighfttrmer owner of ED Publications provides for thecution of a $200,000 promiss
note payable over two years with interest at 4%apeum in lieu of the issuance of 8,696 shares.ddmapany simultaneously purchased 6
shares that had been issued in connection withT#eze transaction by means of a $150,000 promissoig payable over two years v
interest at 4% per annum.

At Closing, Cornetta entered a five year Nbampetition Agreement with the Company pursuanttich he agreed not to compete with
Company either directly or indirectly with TEEZE,SB, RCI Media, Rick's or any of their affiliates Ipyblishing any sexually orient
industry trade print publications, with the exceptdf a publication known as "Xcitement" which igmently owned and operated by Cornetta.

The following information summarizes the initialcadation of fair values assigned to the assetsliabdities at the acquisition date based «
preliminary valuation for the ED Publications, Inadult Store Buyers Magazine LLC, and TEEZE Intgional, Inc. acquisitions. Subseqt
adjustments may be recorded upon the completidineofaluation and the final determination of thechase price allocation.

Net current asse $ 469,37¢
Non-compete agreeme 100,00(
Goodwill 567,12¢
Net current liabilities (66,749
Net assets acquire $ 1,069,75

The results of operations of these entities arkded in the Compang’results of operations since April 15, 2008. Tdquisition was made
create new marketing synergies with major induptoduct suppliers and new national advertising opmities and also provides the Comp
with additional diversification of revenue and inoe streams while remaining within the Compangbre competency. The ability to cre
additional cash flows from the marketing synerggethe main factor contributing to goodwill in th@nsaction. Proforma results @feration
have not been provided, as the amounts were naietbenaterial to the consolidated financial statesien
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2009 Acquisition
On September 30, 2009, the Company’s subsidiary,B@rtainment (North FW), Inc. (the “Purchasepiirchased 100% of the outstanc
common shares of Cabaret North, Inc., a Texas catipo (“CNI”). CNI owns and operates an adultestdinment cabaret known aS&bare
North” (the “Club”), located at 5316 Superior Parkway, Fort Worth, Tés&k06. The Company paid the sellers total aggeegatsideration
$2,300,000 (the “Purchase Price”). The PurchaseRvas payable as follows:

0] $140,000 directly to CNI to be used for the paynardutstanding liabilities

(i) $2,000,000 to the Sellers; a

(i) $160,000 to be held in an escrow account to payliabyities or obligations of CNI which were inaed but unpaid as
Closing and to be held in connection with the onte®f certain pending litigatio

Also, at closing, each of the sellers entered anfive year Noncompetition Agreement, and CNI obtained a consemhfits landlord to tF
sale of the Shares of CNI by the sellers to thelpaser and entered into an addendum to the leasenagnt by and between the CNI anc
landlord of the premises where the Club is located.

The Company incurred $85,228 in costs in connedtitin the acquisition.
The following information summarizes the allocatiohfair values assigned to the assets and ligsliat the acquisition date based ¢

preliminary valuation. Subsequent adjustments teayrecorded upon the completion of the valuatiod #re final determination of t
purchase price allocation.

Net current asse $ 23,77%
Property and equipme 200,00(
Non-compete agreeme 200,00(
Goodwill 686,50¢
Deferred income tax liabilit (686,509
SOB license 1,961,45:
Net assets acquire $ 2,385,22

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offsethite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The results of openatof this acquired entity will be included in tBempanys consolidated results of operati
beginning October 1, 2009. This acquisition waslento further the Comparg/’growth objective of acquiring nightclubs that lvgjuickly
contribute to the Company’earnings per share. Proforma results of opematimve not been provided, as the amounts were egmnel
material to the consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statemesitsct the following as discontinued operationsoésind for the years ended Septer
30, 2009 and 2008.

The Rick’s Cabaret in Austin is held for sale and includediscontinued operations. A sale of the club saseduled in May 2009, but
sale was never closed. The Company recognizechpaiiment of the net assets of the club of $823#96f March 31, 2009.

The Company sold one of its nightclubs, Encourite3an Antonio, on March 1, 2009 for $40,000, iéhg $5,000 in cash and a $35,000
payable monthly for one year. The Company recaghian impairment of $221,563 for this club durihg fuarter ended December
2008. The actual loss at date of sale was $226,175

The Company closed its Divas Latinas club in Homstolate September, 2009. The Company owns tlidibg location and the location
currently held for sale. There was no gain or msshe closing of the club.

Following is summarized information regarding th&cdntinued operations:

Revenues of discontinued operations amounted 081963 and $2,021,751 for the years ended Septe36h2009 and 2009, respectively.

Year Ended
September 3(
2009 2008
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (1,089,90) $ (1,394,79)
Loss on sale of discontinued operati (1,049,26)) -
Income tax- discontinued operatior 718,66 433,60°
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (1,420,50) $ (961,18)

Major classes of assets and liabilities includedss®ets and liabilities of discontinued operatiassf:

Septembe  Septembe

30, 30,

2009 2008
Current asset $ 176,33. $ 250,90(
Property and equipme 1,181,37! 1,641,24
Other asset 1,007,99! 1,907,291
Current liabilities (129,14 (237,449
Long-term liabilities (277,95 (255,17¢)
Net assets $ 1,958,60i $ 3,306,81

Q. Subsequent Event:

We have evaluated subsequent events for poteatiagnition and/or disclosure through December 0092the date the consolidated finar
statements were issued.
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Fiscal Year 200¢
Quarters Ended

Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30

Revenue! $ 17,006,42 $ 18,360,36 $ 20,934,83 $ 18,847,98
Income from continuing operatiol $ 985,38! $ 1,50558 $ 1,894,690 $ 2,105,81
Net income $ 790,83: $ 839,47: $ 1,784,49. $ 1,793,30.
Basic income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 011 $ 0.1¢ $ 021 $ 0.2

Net income $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Diluted income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 01C $ 0.1¢ $ 02C $ 0.2:

Net income $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,366,03. 9,313,81! 9,185,75 9,197,52
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,599,95. 9,487,52 9,409,56: 9,212,54!

Fiscal Year 200€
Quarters Ended
Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30

Revenue! $ 10,569,14 $ 15,093,03 $ 15,940,00 $ 16,131,96
Income from continuing operatiol $ 194353 $ 2,854,04 $ 203595 $ 1,68353
Net income $ 1,783,27. $ 2,60538 $ 1,829,20. $ 1,442,81
Basic income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 02¢ $ 03¢ $ 02t $ 0.1¢

Net income $ 02¢ $ 03¢ % 02z $ 0.1¢
Diluted income per shar

Income from continuing operatiol $ 02t % 03 % 02: % 0.1¢

Net income $ 02: $ 03z $ 021 $ 0.1t
Basic weighted average shares outstan 6,806,23 7,561,16. 8,240,91. 9,116,17.
Diluted weighted average shares outstan: 7,635,32 8,473,49 8,860,69! 9,378,45.
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Ite m 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountés on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

There have been no changes in or disagreementagdtuntants on accounting and financial disclasure

| te m 9A(T). Controls and Procedures.

(@) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls anddedures.

Our management evaluated the effectiveness ofisalodure controls and procedures as of the erldeoperiod covered by this report. Ba
on that evaluation, our management concluded tivadlisclosure controls and procedures as of theoétite period covered by this report w
effective such that the information required todigclosed by us in reports filed under the Seasgittxchange Act of 1934 is (i) recorc
processed, summarized and reported within the pierds specified in the SE€tules and forms and (ii) accumulated and comnatiedt tc
our management, including our chief executive effiand our chief financial officer, as appropriéeallow timely decisions regardi
disclosure.

Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control over FinancRéporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingraaititaining adequate internal control over finahmgorting (as defined in Rule 13&(f)
under the Exchange Act). Our internal control ofieancial reporting is a process designed to prewvidasonable assurance regarding
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposesaécordance with accounting princif
generally accepted in the United States.

Our management, with the participation of the ghest, evaluated the effectiveness of the Commaimgernal control over financial report
as of September 30, 2009. In making this assedsim@nmanagement used the criteria set forth bydbmmittee of Sponsoring Organizati
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Colntr Integrated Framework. Based on this evaluatiom, rnanagement, with tl
participation of our president, concluded that,0dsSeptember 30, 2009, the Company maintained teféeinternal control over financi
reporting.

This annual report does not include an attestatport of the Company's registered public accognfirm regarding internal control o\
financial reporting. Management's report was nbfestt to attestation by the Company's independsgistered public accounting firm purst
to temporary rules of the SEC that permit the Camyda provide only management's report in this AairiReport on Form 10-K.

Changes in internal control over financial repogin

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the year ended Septen30e2009 that have materially affectec
are reasonably likely to materially affect our it control over financial reporting.

Certifications

Certifications with respect to disclosure contratgl procedures and internal control over finangpbrting under Rules 13a-14(a) or 168(a
of the Exchange Act are attached to this annuartem Form 10-K.

| te m 9B. Other Information.

None
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PART Il
| tem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporée Governance.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold officdil the next annual meeting of our stockholdersuatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are appointed by the Board @febtors annually and serve at the discretion efBleard of Directors (subject to any exis

employment agreements). There is no family relatigm between or among any of our directors andwikexofficers. Our Board of Directc
consists of six persons. The following table setthfour Directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langar 41 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presit
Phillip Marshall 60 Chief Financial Office

Travis Rees: 40 Director and V.F-Director of Technolog

Robert L. Watter: 58 Director

Alan Bergstrorr 64 Director

Steven Jenkin 52 Director

Luke Lirot 52 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 and’resident since March 1999. He has been invalvede adult entertainment busin
since 1989. From January 1997 through the predenhas held the position of President of XTC Cabdne. From November 1992 ur
January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of BgtBieauties, Inc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan has esedcmanagerial control over more t
a dozen adult entertainment businesses. Througie thetivities, Mr. Langan has acquired the knowdednd skills necessary to success
operate adult entertainment businesses.

Phillip Marshall has served as our Chief Finan€#icer since May 2007. He was previously contnotdé Dorado Exploration, Inc., an oil a
gas exploration and production company, from Fealyr@g@07 to May 2007. He previously served as ChRiafncial Officer of CDT Systern
Inc., a publicly held water technology companynirduly 2003 to September 2006. In 1972, Mr. Matdhedian higpublic accounting care
with the international accounting firm, KMG Main Himan. After its merger with Peat Marwick, Mr. Maadl served as an audit partne
KPMG for several years. After leaving KPMG, Mr. Mhagll was partner in charge of the audit practicdagkson & Rhodes in Dallas fri
1992 to 2003, where he specialized in small puplield companies. Mr. Marshall is also a trustedJofted Mortgage Trust and Unit
Development Funding IV, publicly held real estatedstment trusts.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been drecr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presidet aur Chief Executive Officer fra
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters loamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawléhiggn and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mitafgapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tabogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Qmww succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privadetipe of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986¢en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ¥rdity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 wiMaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law Skhaark University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Juf&. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins

Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle JenKinsssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.
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Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sin@871 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc&ffof Eagle Securities, which is
investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alsoegistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, Fitom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstr
was a Vice Presidentavestments with Principal Financial Securities;.IMr. Bergstrom holds a B.B.A. Degree in Finant@67, from th
University of Texas.

Travis Reese became our Director and \DRector of Technology in 1999. From 1997 throud®9, Mr. Reese had been a senior net
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa Rew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsaystems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasigent with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. laternet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continenfallines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was atpivith Hang On, Inc., an airli
company. Mr. Reese has an Associate’s Degree ionaeitical Science from Texas State Technical Celleg

Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mrot received his law degree from the UniversifySan Francisco in 1986. After serving
an intern in the San Francisco Public Defersl@ffice in 1986, Mr. Lirot returned to Florida apdtablished a private law practice wher
continues to practice and specializes in adultr&itenent issues. He is a past President of thet Rimendment LawyersAssociation and h
actively participated in numerous state and fedegdl matters.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee whose member&taven Jenkins, Alan Bergstrom and Luke Lirot. 3&mkins, Mr. Bergstrom a
Mr. Lirot are independent Directors. The primarygmse of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Camg[s financial reporting process
behalf of the Board of Directors. The Audit Commétmeets privately with our Chief Financial Offigard with our independent registe
public accounting firm and evaluates the respobgebe Chief Financial Officer both to the factegented and to the judgments made b
outside independent registered public accountimy. fOur Audit Committee has reviewed and discusaedaudited financial statements for
year ended September 30, 2009 with our manage@taven L. Jenkins serves as the Audit Comn’s Financial Expert.

In May 2000, our Board adopted a Charter for theliAommittee. A copy of the Audit Committee Charteas attached to our Prc
Statement as Exhibit “Afiled with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comioissn July 21, 2008. The Charter establishesridepgendenc
of our Audit Committee and sets forth the scopéefAudit Committee's duties. The Purpose of thditGommittee is to conduct continu
oversight of our financial affairs. The Audit Conttee conducts an ongoing review of our financiglrés and other financial information pi
to their being filed with the Securities and Excp@rCommission, or otherwise provided to the pulilite Audit Committee also reviews
systems, methods and procedures of internal caenirolthe areas of: financial reporting, auditsasury operations, corporate finar
managerial, financial and SEC accounting, compganith law, and ethical conduct. A majority of tiembers of the Audit Committee will
independent. The Audit Committee is objective, emdews and assesses the work of our independgisteeed public accounting firm and
internal audit department.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed theemattequired by SAS 61 and our audited financitestents for the fiscal year en
September 30, 2009 with management and our indepémdgistered public accounting firm. The Auditn@uittee has received the writ
disclosures and the letter from our independenistexggd public accounting firm required by Indepemece Standards Board No. 1, and
Audit Committee has discussed with the independegistered public accounting firm the independeistered public accounting firr
independence. The Audit Committee recommendeded@tard of Directors that the Company's auditedrfaial statements for the fiscal y
September 30, 2009 be included in our Annual Repoform 10-K for the fiscal year ended SeptemiBe2809.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nominating Committee whose mesmdwer Steven Jenkins, Alan Bergstrom and Luke Lirotuly 2004, the Boa
unanimously adopted a Charter with regard to thecess to be used for identifying and evaluating iness for director. The Char
establishes the independence of our Nominating Gteenand sets forth the scope of the Nominatingh@dtee's duties. A majority of t
members of the Nominating Committee will be indegemt. A copy of the Nominating Committee’s Chatan be found on the Compasy’
website at www.ricks.com
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COMPENSATION COMMITEE

The Company has a Compensation Committee whose arsnalpe Steven Jenkins, Alan Bergstrom and Luket.LDecisions concernil
executive officer compensation for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2009 were made by the Compmn&ammittee. Eric S. Langan ¢
Travis Reese are the only directors of the Compamy are also officers of the Company. The primarmppse of the Compensation Commi
is to evaluate and review the compensation of ekecofficers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418fjuires our directors and executive officersl parsons who own beneficially more t

ten percent of our common stock, to file report®whership and changes of ownership with the Seesirand Exchange Commission. Be

solely on the reports we have received and onewritepresentations from certain reporting persaespelieve that the directors, execu

officers, and greater than ten percent beneficiahars have complied with all applicable filing régments during the fiscal year en

September 30, 2009, with the exception of an dkigfon Form 5 which we believe is due for thedistof Ralph McElroy.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindfx&lcutive and Senior Financial Officers, whichttmehed as Exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K.

It em 11. Executive Compensation.

The following table reflects all forms of compensatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt@nber 30, 2009 and 2008 of cet
executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal Year Salary Bonus Stock Option | Non-Equity | Nonqualified| All other Total
Paosition (%) (6] Awards | Awards |Incentive Plaj Deferred |compensatio (6)]
(%) (%) Compensatiol] Compensatio %)
%) Earnings
®)

(@) (b) (€) (d) (e) (f) (9) (h) (i) ()
Eric S. Langan, 2009 623,077 -0- -0-| 2,446(1) -0- -0- 11,6371 637,16(
President/CEO 2008 494,713 -0- -0-| 4,727(1) -0- -0- 10,474 509,91¢
Phillip Marshall, CFO 2009 189,424 20,000(4) -0-|47,273(2) -0- -0- 2,441 259,137
2008 175,00 20,000(4) -0-|45,870(2) -0- -0- 6,059 246,92¢
Travis Reese, VP/Chieff 2009 194,204 -0- -0-| 2,446(3) -0- -0- 5,753 202,403
Technology Officer 2008 193,226 -0- -0-| 4,727(3) -0- -0- 5,328 203,281
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1 Mr. Langan received 5,000 options to purchase shafeour common stock at an exercise price of $&g®irector compensation
August 2007. Mr. Langan also received 5,000 optimnpurchase shares of our common stock at acisgeprice of $8.75 in July 200
2 Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to purchasaresh of our common stock at an exercise price ofdb8s a performance bonu:

August 2007

3 Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase slfu@s common stock at an exercise price of $@gDirector compensation in Aug
2007. Mr. Reese also received 5,000 options toh@se shares of our common stock at an exercise @fi$8.75 in July 200!
4  Mr. Marshall received a bonus of $20,000 each j@aoutstanding performanc

| te m 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficialDwners and Management and Related Stockholder Matts.

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 3, 2009, with respect to the benefiialership of shares of Common Stocl
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficiallyrenthan 5% of the outstanding shares of Commonok${@) each of our directors, (i
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of axecutive officers and directors as a group. Unt#kerwise indicated, each stockholder
sole voting and investment power with respect ® ghares shown. As of December 3, 2009, there %8¢1,325 shares of common st

outstanding.

Name/Address

Number of shares

Title of class

Percent of Class (7)

Eric S. Langan
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

1,213,429 (1)

Common stock

13.0%

Phillip K. Marshall
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

23,800 (2)

Common stock

<1%

Robert L. Watters
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

41,500 (3)

Common stock

<1%

Steven L. Jenkins
16815 Royal Crest Drive
Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

Common stock

Travis Reese
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

32,830 (4)

Common stock

<1%

Alan Bergstrom
904 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

1,150 (5)

Common stock

<1%

Luke Lirot
2240 Belleair Road, Suite 190
Clearwater, GL 33764

Common stock

All of our Directors and Officer
as a Group of seven (7) persons

1,312,709 (6)

Common stock

14.0%

E. S. Langan. L.P.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

578,632 (1)

Common stock

6.2%

Diane McElroy
P. O. Box 27244
Austin, Texas 78755

527,459

Common Stock

5.6%
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(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment powebf3#,797 shares of common stock he owns directty.Llsingan has shared vot
and investment power for 578,632 shares that hesomdirectly through E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langathe general partner of E.
Langan, L.P. This amount also includes optionsuiecipase up to 10,000 shares of common stock thgirasently exercisabl

(2) Includes 3,800 shares of common stock he owns tirand options to purchase up to 20,000 sharesoaimon stock that a
presently exercisabl

(3) Includes 21,500 shares of common stock he owngthirand options to purchase up to 20,000 sharesonfmon stock that
presently exercisabl

(}}

(4) Includes 22,830 shares of common stock he owngthirand options to purchase up to 10,000 sharesonfmon stock that
presently exercisabl

(}}

(5) Includes 1,150 shares of common stock he ownsttyire
(6) Includes options to purchase up to 60,000 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise
(7) These percentages exclude treasury shares inlthéaten of percentage of clas

We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtiiesa change in control of the Company.

The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of Reguta®eK is set forth in Item 5 herein.

| te m 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaions, and Director Independence.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thathusiness affairs will be conducted in all respdnt standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anyufa transactions and/or loans between us and fficers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coeldltained from independent, third parties and @l approved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. The Cagngarrently has three independent directors, $telankins, Alan Bergstrom and Lt
Lirot. In our view, all of the transactions debed below meet this standard.

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertildbebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder, for the principal sum
$660,000. The debenture matured on August 1, 268&ears interest at a rate of 12% per annum. Uth@eterms of the Debenture, we w
required to make monthly interest payments begm@ieptember 1, 2005. The debenture was convertie@2®,000 shares of common stoc
July 2008. Additionally, we issued Mr. McElroy wants to purchase 50,000 shares of our common atoak exercise price of $3.00 per s
until July 22, 2008. These warrants were exercisellly 2008. The shares of Common Stock underlyfiegprincipal amount of the Debent
and the Warrants had piggyback registration riginig became registered with the SEC on Septemi20Qb. Mr. McElroy passed away
June 2007 and his estate is currently under settiem

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible debees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, fc
principal sum of $825,000. The debentures matundl 80, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%apeum. At the election of the holders,
holders had the right to convert (subject to cartmnitations) until April 30, 2008, all or any p@yn of the principal amount of the debenti
into shares of our common stock at a rate of $@&i5share, which approximates the closing priceuwsfstock on April 28, 2006. The she
were converted in April 2008 into 125,954 sharexaimon stock. The shares of Common Stock underltfie principal amount of t
debentures had piggyback registration rights ane negistered with the SEC in June 2006.
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On November 9, 2006, we entered into convertibleedures with three shareholders for a principal sfi$600,000. The term is for two ye
and the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieleof the holders, the holders have the rightdavert (subject to certain limitations) all
any portion of the principal amount of the debeesuinto shares of our common stock at a rate &$@er share, which was higher than
closing price of our stock on November 9, 2006. @hbentures provide, absent shareholder apprdaliiie number of shares of our comi
stock that may be issued by us or acquired by théehs upon conversion of the debentures shalleroted 19.99% of the total numbe
issued and outstanding shares of our common stdwse debentures matured and were paid in casbviarhber 2008.

It e m 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the aggregate fe@s jpr accrued for professional services rendesetVhitley Penn LLP for the audit of ¢
annual financial statements for fiscal year 2008 2008 and the aggregate fees paid or accruedutbr-@lated services and all other serv
rendered by Whitley Penn LLP for fiscal year 2008 &scal year 2008.

2009 2008
Audit fees $ 289,270 $ 268,46¢
Audit-related fee! 22,75¢ 13,36¢
Tax fees 60,53( 62,54(
All other fees - 1,03t
Total $ 37256 $ 34541
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The category of “Audit feesihcludes fees for our annual audit, quarterly rexgieand services rendered in connection with regoydilings
with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortrietiad consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes enygle benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related serviced &@x services were papproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio

of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was compatiite the maintenance of that firmindependence in the conduct of its auditing fions

The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independepaiécy provides for pre-approval of all servicesfpemed by the outside auditors.
PART IV

| te m 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

Exhibit 14- Code of Ethics

Exhibit 21 - Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit 31.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation requivgdRule 13a-14(1) or Rule 15d
- 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adapted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2- Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Rick’'Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation requivgdRule 13a-14(1) or Rule 15d -
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ayptetl pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Gxiepf 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’'Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation purst@ar8ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

Exhibit 32.2- Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Rick'Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation purstiar@ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.
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S IG NATURES
In accordance with the requirements of Sectionfl%B¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant haseduthis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 17, 2009.
Rick's Cabaret International, Ir
/sl Eric S. Langal

By: Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal

By: Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer an
Principal Accounting Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aigt,report has been signed below by the followiegspns in the capacities anc
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Eric S. Langa

Eric S. Langan Director, Chief Executive Officand December 17, 2009
Presiden

/sl Travis Rees
Travis Rees: Director and V.F-Director of Technolog December 17, 200

/s/ Robert L. Watter
Robert L. Watter: Director December 17, 200

/s/ Alan Bergstron
Alan Bergstrormr Director December 17, 200

/s/ Steven Jenkir
Steven Jenkin Director December 17, 200

/s/ Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot Director December 17, 200
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Exhibit 14 Code of Ethics
RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Fhancial Officers

l. I ntroduction and Purpose

This Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and i8efrinancial Officers (hereinafter referred toths “Code”)helps maintain Ric}
Cabaret International, Inc.’s (hereinafter refertedas the “Company”ytandards of business conduct and ensures comgliaith lega
requirements, specifically, but not limited to, e 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and $HEs promulgated thereunder.

In addition to securing compliance with legal requients, the purpose of the Code is to deter wrmingdand promote ethic
conduct, and full, fair, accurate, timely, and wstiendable disclosure of financial information e tperiodic reports of the Company.
matters covered in this Code are of the utmost napce to the Company, our stockholders and ounbss partners, and are essential tc
ability to conduct our business in accordance withstated values.

Financial executives hold an important and elevatdel in corporate governance and are uniquely ldapand empowered to ens
that stockholders' interests are appropriatelyrusdd, protected and preserved. Accordingly, thideCprovides principles to which financ
executives are expected to adhere and advocats. Thde embodies rules regarding individual and pesponsibilities, as well
responsibilities to the company, the public ancecgh
. Application

This Code is applicable to the following personsréinafter referred to as the “Officers”):

1. The Company’s principal executive officers;
2. The Company’s principal financial officers;
3. The Company'’s principal accounting officercontroller; and
4. Persons performing similar functions.
. Code of Ethics:
Each Officer shall adhere to and advocate theviatg principles and responsibilities governing gsxfional and ethical conduct:

1. Actwith honesty and integrity, avoiding ator apparent conflicts of interest in personal professional relationships.

2. Provide information that is full, fair, acete, complete, objective, relevant, timely, andarsthndable to the ComparyBoard ¢
Directors, the Securities and Exchange CommissimnCompany’s stockholders, and the public.

3.  Comply with applicable governmental lawsesjland regulations.




4. Act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, catgmce and diligence, without misrepresenting nadtéacts or allowing yot
independent judgment to be subordinated.

5. Take all reasonable measures to protectahidentiality of nonpublic information about the Company acquired i& tburse of yol
work except when authorized or otherwise legallfigalted to disclose such information and to not siseh confidential informatic
for personal advantage.

6. Assure responsible use of and control oveasslets and resources employed or entrusted to you
7. Promptly report to the Chairman of the A@dmmittee:
a. any information you may have regarding amjation of this Code;

b. any actual or apparent conflict of interest betwpersonal and/or professional relationships invavinanagement or a
other employee with a role in financial reportingalosures or internal controls;

c. any information you might have concerning evideota material violation of the securities or othaws, rules or regulatio
applicable to the Company and its operations;

d. significant deficiencies in the design or @gtien of internal controls that could adverseljeef the Company ability tc
record, process, summarize or report financial;data

e. any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanaiggement or other employees who have a significéein the Company
financial reporting, disclosures or internal colgro

V. Reporting Procedure, Process and Accountability
As discussed above, Officers shall promptly repast violation of this Code to the Chairman of trenfpany’s Audit Committee.

Reports of violations under this Code receivedhey €Chairman of the Audit Committee shall be invgzged by the Audit Committe
If the Audit Committee finds a violation of this @e, it shall refer the matter to the full BoardDifectors.

In the event of a finding that a violation of tf@ede has occurred, appropriate action shall benttie is reasonably designed to d
wrongdoing and to promote accountability for adheeeto this Code, and may include written noticeghe individual involved of tt
determination that there has been a violation, wenby the Board, demotion or assignment of the individual involved, suspensiatinar
without pay or benefits, and up to and includirfgappropriate, termination of the individual's emphent. In determining what action
appropriate in a particular case, the Board of @ies (or the independent directors of the Boarthascase may be) shall take into accoul
relevant information, including the nature and siyef the violation, whether the violation wassengle occurrence or repeated occurret
whether the violation appears to have been inteatior inadvertent, whether the individuals in disshad been advised prior to the viola
as to the proper course of action and whether btheoindividual in question had committed otheylations in the past.




V. Anonymous Reporting

Any violation of this Code and any violation by tBempany or its directors or officers of the seibesilaws, rules, or regulations,
other laws, rules, or regulations applicable toGloenpany may be reported to the Chairman of thetACmmmittee anonymously.

VI. No Retaliation

It is against the Company’s policy to retaliatexity way against an Officer for good faith reportafgiolations of this Code.
VII. Waiver and Amendment

The Company is committed to continuously reviewargl updating its policies and procedures. Therefiis Code is subject
modification. Any amendment or waiver of any prémisof this Code must be approved in writing by @empanys Board of Directors al
promptly disclosed pursuant to applicable laws eaglilations.
VIIl.  Acknowledgment Of Receipt Of Code Of Ethics For Principal Executive And Senior Financial Officers

| have received and read the Company's Code of&fbr Principal Executive and Senior Financiali€ffs (the “Code”)l understan
the standards and policies contained in the Codeuaderstand that there may be additional poliorews applicable to my job. | agree
comply with the Code in all respects.

If I have questions concerning the meaning or apfibn of the Code, any Company policies, or tlgall@and regulatory requireme
applicable to my job, | know that | can consultlwthe Chairman of the Audit Committee, knowing thmat questions or reports will rem:

confidential to the fullest extent possible.

I understand that my agreement to comply with @osle does not constitute a contract of employment.

Officer Name

Signature

Date

Please sign and return this form to the Companiai@an of the Audit Committee.




Exhibit 21
Name

Adult Store Buyer Magazine LL
Bobby's Novelty, Inc

Broadstreets Cabaret, Ir

Cabaret North, Inc

Citation Land LLC

ED Publications, Inc

HD Texas Management, LL

Hotel Development Texas, Lt

Joint Ventures, Inc

Miami Gardens Square One, It

New Spiros, LLC

Peregrine Enterprises, i

Playmates Gentlem’s Club LLC
RCI Billing, Inc.

RCI Dating Services, In

RCI Debit Services, Inc

RCI Entertainment (Austin), In

RCI Entertainment (Fort Worth), In
RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), It
RCI Entertainment (Media Holdings), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Ir
RCI Entertainment (New York), In
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Ir
RCI Entertainment (North Fort Worth), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Northwest Highway), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Ir
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Texas), In

RCI Holdings, Inc

RCI Internet Holding, Inc

RCI Internet Services, In

RCI Leasing LLC

Spiros Partners Ltc

SRD Vending Compan

Stellar Management, In

Tantra Dance, Inc

Tantra Parking, Inc

Teeze International, In

Texas S&l, Inc

TEZ Real Estate LI

Top Shelf Entertainment LL:
Trumps Inc.

W.K.C., Inc.

XTC Cabaret, Inc

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

State of Organizatio

Georgia
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Texas
New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Nevada
Texas
Minnesots
New York
North Caroline
Texas
Texas
Philadelphie
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Texas
Philadelphie
North Caroling
Texas
Texas
Texas




Exhibit 31.:
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of RiskCabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick’s Cabaret International, In¢
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsit&de a material fact necessan

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the small business issuef,ad for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The small business issr's other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contaoid

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the small business issuer and h

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under 1
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatiieg to the small business issuer, includingcdssolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entitiestipularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing preparec

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaramgarding the reliability of financial reportimgd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataroece with generally accepted accounting princjj

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the small businesser's disclosure controls and procedures aneérmiegsin this report o
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsuontrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this repc
based on such evaluation; &

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the smadlitess issuer's internal control over financiabrépg that occurred durit
the small business issuer's most recent fiscal yedrhas materially affected, or is reasonablgliiko materially affect, tt
small business issuer's internal control over famreporting; anc

5. The small business issuer’s other certifyirfgcef and | have disclosed, based on our most tenaiuation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the small business issuadependent registered public accounting firm gredaudit committee of the small
business issuer's board of directors (or persorisrp@ang the equivalent functions

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controeofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect simeall business issuer's ability to record, procesmmarize and rep:
financial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the sma
business issuer's internal control over finan@gbrting.

Date: December 17, 2009 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal

Eric S. Langar
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer arférincipal Accounting Officer of Rick’s Cabaret énhational, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick’s Cabaret International, In¢
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsit&de a material fact necessan

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the small business issuef,ad for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The small business issr's other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contaoid

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the small business issuer and h

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under 1
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatiieg to the small business issuer, includingcdssolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entitiestipularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing preparec

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaramgarding the reliability of financial reportimgd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataroece with generally accepted accounting princjj

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the small businesser's disclosure controls and procedures aneérmiegsin this report o
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsuontrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this repc
based on such evaluation; &

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the smadlitess issuer's internal control over financiabrépg that occurred durit
the small business issuer's most recent fiscal yedrhas materially affected, or is reasonablgliiko materially affect, tt
small business issuer's internal control over famreporting; anc

5. The small business issuer’s other certifyirfgcef and | have disclosed, based on our most tenaiuation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the small business issuadependent registered public accounting firm gredaudit committee of the small
business issuer's board of directors (or persorisrp@ang the equivalent functions

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controeofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect simeall business issuer's ability to record, procesmmarize and rep:
financial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the sma
business issuer's internal control over finan@gbrting.

Date: December 17, 2009 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




Exhibit 32.]

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Cegtdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormHK@er the year ended September
30, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), i¢ Bt Langan, Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Se®135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of
operations of the Compan
Date: December 17, 2009 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langar

Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Cegtdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormHK@er the year ended September
30, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), llliBiK. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer of the Companyitife, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350, as adoptedyant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gress, in all material respects, the financial ctiadi and results «
operations of the Compan

Date: December 17, 20( By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshal

Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




